DIFFERENTIAL EFFECTS OF ANTI-TNF THERAPIES FOR INFLAMMATORY ARTHRITIDES ON IMMUNE RESPONSES TO MYCOBACTERIUM TUBERCULOSIS

Dr Rachel Byng-Maddick

Division of Infection and Immunity

University College London

This thesis is submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

2018

DECLARATION

I, Rachel Byng-Maddick, confirm that the work presented in this thesis is my own. Where information has been derived from other sources, I confirm that this has been indicated in the thesis.

Signed:

Date:

ABSTRACT

Tumour necrosis factor (TNF) antagonists have revolutionised the management of rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and other inflammatory diseases. This success is partly tempered by substantially increased risk of granulomatous infectious diseases, particularly tuberculosis (TB). In this thesis I sought new insights into the mechanisms by which TNF blockade leads to an increased incidence of TB.

In a new analysis of data collected by the British Society of Rheumatology Biologics Registry, I confirmed that anti-TNF therapy leads to reactivation of latent TB infection, rather than increasing the risk of new TB infection, consistent with published literature.

I derived and validated four separate context-specific transcriptional modules representing TNF-inducible gene expression in macrophages, keratinocytes and whole blood. I used these modules to quantify TNF bioactivity in clinical samples from RA patients responding to anti-TNF therapies or treated with methotrexate only. As expected, anti-TNF therapy was associated with attenuated expression of the TNF modules in whole blood following ex vivo stimulation. However, anti-TNF therapy had no effect on TNF module expression and therefore TNF function, at the site of acute cell mediated immune responses in vivo, modelled by the tuberculin skin test. These data are consistent with a model in which anti-TNF therapies do not reach sufficient concentration within tissues to block TNF responses in an acute inflammatory challenge. Rather, my data suggest that anti-TNF therapies mediate their therapeutic and adverse effects by regulating TNF activity at foci of chronic inflammation or by alternative non-canonical pathways.

Finally I tested the hypothesis that anti-TNF therapy may inhibit cellular restriction of mycobacteria in human macrophage cultures. Using an in vitro model of human monocyte-derived macrophages, I established a new method to quantify fluorescent mycobacterial load both inside and outside cells, and showed that TNF blockade in this model did not have a significant impact on mycobacterial growth.

3

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisors Dr Mahdad Noursadeghi and Professor Michael Ehrenstein for all of their help and support throughout the course of this project.

In addition, I would like to thank the original members of "Team TB" – Elspeth Potton, Gabriele Pollara and Lucy Bell for their endless knowledge, patience and encouragement both in and out of the laboratory. Carolin Turner (nee Haas), Jen Roe and Gabriele have all been an enormous help with the transcriptomics and teaching me all the bioinformatics I now know. Of course, I'd also like to thank all the other members of the Noursadeghi, Chain and Ehrenstein groups over the last five years for their assistance, help and advice.

I would also like to thank Naomi Guppy, UCL Advanced Diagnostics, who performed the immunostaining of my histology slides and Matt Ellis, Institute of Neurology, who quantified the histology staining.

Lastly a huge thanks to my family – particularly to my husband Andy, and my daughter Maisie (who arrived half way through the project!) for all of their encouragement, inspiration and support over the last five years.

Signed:

CONTENTS

<u>1</u> <u>A</u>	BBREVIATIONS	11
<u>2</u> E	UBLICATIONS	15
<u>3 I</u>	NTRODUCTION	16
3.1	TUMOUR NECROSIS FACTOR	16
3.1.1	THE STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION OF TNF	16
3.1.2	THE REGULATION OF TNF EXPRESSION	19
3.2	RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS	23
3.2.1	NATURAL HISTORY OF RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS	23
3.2.2	IMMUNOPATHOGENESIS OF RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS	24
3.2.3	IMMUNE DYSREGULATION IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS	25
3.2.4	THE ROLE OF TNF IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS	28
3.2.5	DISEASE MODIFYING TREATMENT IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS	32
3.2.6	THE DEVELOPMENT OF ANTI-TNF THERAPY AND ITS CLINICAL APPLICATIONS	33
3.2.7	The use of gene expression profiling to assess response to therapy in ${ m RA}$	38
3.2.8	The increased risk of infection associated with anti-TNF therapy	39
3.3	TUBERCULOSIS	43
3.3.1	THE NATURAL HISTORY OF TB	43
3.3.2	THE PATHOGENESIS OF TB	45
3.3.3	THE ROLE OF IMMUNE RESPONSES IN PROTECTION AGAINST TB	48
3.3.4	THE ROLE OF TNF IN TB	52
3.3.5	The effect of anti-TNF therapy on cell mediated immunity in the immune re	SPONSE
то ТЕ	3 54	
3.4	WHAT ARE THE GAPS IN OUR KNOWLEDGE?	56
<u>4</u> <u>H</u>	IYPOTHESES	58
<u>5</u> <u>A</u>	IMS OF THE PROJECT	60
<u>6 N</u>	AATERIALS AND METHODS	61
6.1	BRITISH SOCIETY OF RHEUMATOLOGY BIOLOGICS REGISTRY DATA ANALYSIS	61
6.2	STUDY SUBJECTS	61

6.3	INVESTIGATION OF PERIPHERAL BLOOD RESPONSES TO TB ANTIGENS - INTERFERON GAMMA			
Rele	ASE ASSAYS	61		
6.3.1	ΙFNγ ELISpot	61		
6.4	TUBERCULIN SKIN TESTS	62		
6.4.1	TUBERCULIN SKIN TESTS (TST) AND BIOPSY COLLECTION	62		
6.4.2	HISTOLOGICAL ASSESSMENT OF TST BIOPSY SAMPLES	63		
6.4.3	GENOME WIDE TRANSCRIPTIONAL PROFILING OF TST BIOPSY SAMPLES	64		
6.4.4	WHOLE GENOME TRANSCRIPTIONAL PROFILING ANALYSIS SOFTWARE	64		
6.4.5	DERIVATION OF CELL TYPE SPECIFIC GENE MODULES	65		
6.4.6	INTEGRATED TST SIGNATURE	66		
6.4.7	DERIVATION OF TNF ACTIVITY GENE MODULES	66		
6.4.8	INTEGRATED TST SIGNATURE	70		
6.4.9	QUANTIFICATION OF MODULE EXPRESSION	70		
6.5	WHOLE BLOOD TRANSCRIPTIONAL RESPONSE TO RECOBINANT HUMAN TNF STIMULATION	71		
6.5.1	GENOME WIDE TRANSCRIPTIONAL PROFILING OF WHOLE BLOOD	71		
6.5.2	LABELLING, HYBRIDIZATION, SCANNING AND FEATURE EXTRACTION	71		
6.5.3	STATISTICAL ANALYSES	72		
6.6	PREPARATION OF HUMAN MONOCYTE DERIVED MACROPHAGES AND AUTOLOGOUS			
Peri	PHERAL BLOOD LYMPHOCYTES	72		
6.6.1	MONOCYTE DERIVED MACROPHAGES (MDM)	72		
6.7	CULTURE OF MYCOBATERIUM TUBERCULOSIS	73		
6.8	MYCOBACTERIAL INFECTION OF MDM	73		
6.8.1	FLOW CYTOMETRY ANALYSIS OF H37RV MCHERRY	74		
6.8.2	MICROSCOPY OF H37RV MCHERRY-INFECTED MDM	74		
6.9	ADDITION OF ANTI-TNF THERAPY TO H37RV INFECTED MDM	75		
<u>7</u> <u>F</u>	EVALUATING THE RISK OF NEW INFECTION VERSUS REACTIVATION OF LATE	<u>NT</u>		
<u>TUB</u>	ERCULOSIS IN PATIENTS ON ANTI-TNF THERAPY	76		
7.1	INTRODUCTION	76		
7.2	Objectives	79		
7.3	RESULTS	80		
7.3.1	ANTI-TNF THERAPY INCURS A LONG-TERM RISK OF ACTIVE TB	80		
7.3.2	REACTIVATION OF LATENT TB INFECTION IS THE SOLE CAUSE OF ACTIVE TB FOLLOWING AN	TI-		
THER	APY	84		

7.3.3	THE MAJORITY OF CASES OF ACTIVE TB DURING ANTI-TNF THERAPY OCCURRED IN UK-B	ORN
RESID	DENTS	86
7.4	DISCUSSION	88
7.5	Conclusions	91
8 I	N VIVO ASSESSMENT OF THE IMMUNE RESPONSE TO THE TUBERCULIN SKI	N
TEST	Γ IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS	<u>.</u> 92
8.1		92
8.2	OBJECTIVES	96
8.3	RESULTS	97
8.3.1	DERIVATION OF TINF-INDUCIBLE TRANSCRIPTIONAL MODULES	97
8.3.2	ANTI-TNF THERAPY ATTENUATES TNF-INDUCIBLE GENE EXPRESSION IN BLOOD	102
8.3.3	QUANTITATION OF TNF ACTIVITY IN THE TUBERCULIN SKIN TEST (TST) IN HEALTHY	
PART	ICIPANTS	107
8.3.4	FUNCTIONAL TNF ACTIVITY IS PRESERVED AT THE SITE OF AN IMMUNOLOGICAL CHALLEN	GE IN
VIVO	DESPITE ANTI-TNF THERAPY.	111
8.4	DISCUSSION	118
8.5	CONCLUSION	122
9]	THE EFFECT OF ANTI-TNF THERAPY ON MYCOBACTERIAL GROWTH IN	
MON	OCYTE-DERIVED MACROPHAGES	123
9.1	INTRODUCTION	123
9.2	Objectives	126
9.3	RESULTS	127
9.3.1	DEVELOPMENT OF METHODOLOGY TO USE FLUORESCENT MYCOBACTERIA TO QUANTITATI	Ξ
INTRA	ACELLULAR AND EXTRACELLULAR MYCOBACTERIA	127
9.3.2	MONOCYTE-DERIVED MACROPHAGES FROM RA PATIENTS ARE NOT MORE PERMISSIVE TO	Мтв
INFEC	TION COMPARED TO HEALTHY CONTROLS	131
9.3.3	ANTI-TNF THERAPY REDUCES NUMBER OF IN VITRO MTB-INFECTED MONOCYTE-DERIVEI)
MACR	OPHAGES	134
9.3.4	IN VITRO ANTI-TNF THERAPY ENABLES GREATER MTB GROWTH IN RA MONOCYTE-DERIV	/ED
MACR	OPHAGES COMPARED TO HEALTHY SUBJECTS	136
9.4	DISCUSSION	140
9.5	Conclusions	144
0		
10	GENERAL DISCUSSION	145

10.1	EPIDEMIOLOGY AND ACQUISITION OF TB IN RA PATIENTS ON ANTI-TNF THERAPY	145
10.2	ASSESSING A GENOME WIDE APPROACH TO INDUCIBLE TNF ACTIVITY	146
10.3	THE EFFECT OF ANTI-TNF THERAPY ON IN VIVO PPD RESPONSES IN THE SKIN	148
10.4	THE EFFECT OF TNF BLOCKADE ON IN VITRO MYCOBACTERIAL GROWTH	150
<u>11</u>	CONCLUSIONS	153
<u>12</u>	FUTURE WORK	<u> 154</u>
12.1	INVESTIGATING INDUCIBLE TNF ACTIVITY IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS PATIENTS TR	EATED
WITH	ANTI-TNF THERAPY	154
12.2	INVESTIGATING THE EFFECT OF ANTI-TNF THERAPY ON THE IMMUNE RESPONSE TO 7	ſ B in
VITRO	154	
13	REFERENCES	156

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 3.1 BIOLOGY OF TRANSMEMBRANE TNF AND SOLUBLE TNF	17
FIGURE 3.2 THE ROLE OF TNF IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS	30
FIGURE 3.3 PATHOGENESIS OF MYCOBACTERIUM TUBERCULOSIS	46
FIGURE 6.1 CASES OF ACTIVE TB OCCURRING AFTER STARTING ANTI-TNF THERAPY	83
FIGURE 6.2 TIME TO ACTIVE TB FROM START OF ANTI-TNF THERAPY, DETERMINED BY SITE	OF
INFECTION	85
FIGURE 6.3 ETHNICITIES AND COUNTRY OF BIRTH OF ACTIVE TB PATIENTS FROM THE BSRE	3R 87
FIGURE 7.1 DERIVATION OF TRANSCRIPTIONAL MODULES TO MEASURE TNF ACTIVITY	99
FIGURE 7.2 VALIDATION OF TRANSCRIPTIONAL TNF-INDUCIBLE ACTIVITY MODULES	100
FIGURE 7.3 ANTI-TNF THERAPY ATTENUATED TNF INDUCIBLE GENE EXPRESSION IN BLOOD	104
FIGURE 7.4 TRANSCRIPTIONAL TNF ACTIVITY DERIVED FROM HEALTHY OR RA SUBJECTS IS	
EQUIVALENT	106
FIGURE 7.5 THE TRANSCRIPTIONAL TST RESPONSE OF HEALTHY VOLUNTEERS	109
FIGURE 7.6 QUANTITATION OF TNF ACTIVITY IN THE TUBERCULIN SKIN TEST (TST) OF	
HEALTHY VOLUNTEERS	110
FIGURE 7.7 THE TRANSCRIPTIONAL TST RESPONSE OF RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS PATIENTS	113
FIGURE 7.8 THE TRANSCRIPTIONAL TST RESPONSE IN PATIENTS WITH RHEUMATOID	
ARTHRITIS	114
FIGURE 7.9 TNF GENE EXPRESSION AND TNF MODULE EXPRESSION IN SKIN BIOPSY	
TRANSCRIPTOMES FROM THE SITE OF TST OR SALINE INJECTIONS IN RHEUMATOID	
ARTHRITIS PATIENTS	116
FIGURE 7.10 INDUCIBLE TNF ACTIVITY IS PRESERVED IN THE TST OF RHEUMATOID ARTHRI	TIS
PATIENTS DESPITE ANTI-TNF THERAPY	117
FIGURE 8.1 GROWING AND QUANTIFYING MTB - H37RV MCHERRY	128
FIGURE 8.2 IMAGING OF H37RV MCHERRY INFECTED MONOCYTE-DERIVED MACROPHAGES	130
FIGURE 8.3 MONOCYTE-DERIVED MACROPHAGES FROM RA PATIENTS ARE NOT MORE	
PERMISSIVE TO MTB INFECTION COMPARED TO HV	133
FIGURE 8.4 ANTI-TNF THERAPY AND MTB INFECTION REDUCE NUMBER OF ADHERENT MDM	1 IN
RA, BUT NOT HV AT 120 HOURS	135
FIGURE 8.5 IN VITRO ADDITION OF ANTI-TNF THERAPY DOES NOT AFFECT MYCOBACTERIAI	_
GROWTH IN MDM FROM HEALTHY SUBJECTS	137
FIGURE 8.6 IN VITRO ADDITION OF ANTI-TNF THERAPY DOES NOT SIGNIFICANTLY INCREAS	E
MYCOBACTERIAL GROWTH IN MDM FROM RA PATIENTS	138

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 3.1 INDUCERS OF TNF TRANSCRIPTION	22
TABLE 3.2 STRUCTURE AND PROPERTIES OF ANTI-TNF THERAPIES	35
TABLE 3.3 REGISTRIES REPORTING TB RISK IN PATIENTS WITH RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS	41
TABLE 3.4 REGISTRIES NOT REPORTING ON TB RISK IN PATIENTS WITH RHEUMATOID	
ARTHRITIS	41
TABLE 6.1 ANTIBODIES USED FOR IMMUNOHISTOCHEMISTRY	64
TABLE 6.2 TNF MODULES - GENE LISTS	69
TABLE 7.1 DEMOGRAPHICS OF PATIENTS WITH ACTIVE TB FROM THE BSRBR	82
TABLE 8.1 GENE LISTS OF TNF-INDUCIBLE ACTIVITY MODULES	101
TABLE 8.2 SUMMARY OF DEMOGRAPHICS, CHARACTERISTICS AND LABORATORY DATA OF	THE
TST STUDY POPULATION	103

ABBREVIATIONS

ABS	AB serum		
ADA	Adalimumab		
ALP	Alkaline phosphatase		
AM	Alveolar macrophages		
Anti-CCP	Anti-Cyclic citrullinated peptide		
APC	Antigen presenting cell		
AS	Autologous serum		
BCG	Bacillus Calmette-Guérin		
BSA	Bovine serum albumin		
BSRBR	British Society of Rheumatology Biologics Registry		
CCL	Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand		
CD	Cluster of differentiation		
CFA	Complete Freund's adjuvant		
CFP10	Culture Filtrate Antigen 10		
CFU	Colony forming units		
CIA	Collagen induced arthritis		
CTLA4	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen		
CXCL	Chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand		
DAPI	4', 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole		
DMARD	Disease modifying anti-rheumatic drug		
DMSO	Dimethyl sulphoxide		
ELISpot	Enzyme-linked immunospot assay		
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay		
ESAT6	Early secretory antigenic target 6		

ESX-1 ESAT6 secretion system ETN Etanercept FACS Fluoresence-activated flow cytometry FcR Fc gamma receptors FCS Foetal calf serum FITC Fluorescein isothiocyanate FoxP3 Forkhead box P3 GAPDH Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase **GM-CSF** Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor H&E Haemotoxylin and eosin HIV Human immunodeficiency virus HV Healthy volunteers Interferon gamma IFNγ IFX Infliximab Immunoglobulin Ig IGRA Interferon gamma release assay IKK Inhibitor of NFκB complex IL Interleukin INH Isoniazid iNOS inducible Nitric Oxide Synthetase IQR Interquartile range LPS Lipopolysaccharide LT Lymphotoxin Latent TB infection LTBI

- MabMonoclonal antibody refers to anti-TNF antibody therapies(Adalimumab and Infliximab)
- MAP Mitogen activated protein
- M-CSF Macrophage-colony stimulating factor
- MDM Monocyte derived macrophage
- MHC Major histocompatibility complex
- MMP Matrix metalloproteinase
- MOI Multiplicity of infection
- Mtb Mycobacterium tuberculosis
- MTX Methotrexate
- NF-κB Nuclear factor kappa light chain enhancer of activated B cells
- NHP Non-human primates
- NOD Nucleotide oligomerisation domain
- NPH Northwick Park Hospital
- NTM Non-tuberculous mycobacteria
- OD Optical density
- PBMC Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
- PBL Peripheral blood lymphocytes
- PBS Phosphate buffered saline
- PFA Paraformaldehyde
- PHE Public Health England
- PPD Purified protein derivative
- PRR Pattern recognition receptors
- QFT Quantiferon Gold in tube test
- RA Rheumatoid arthritis

RANKL	Receptor activator of NFkB ligand			
RD	Region of difference			
RF	Rheumatoid factor			
RNS	Reactive nitrogen species			
ROS	Reactive oxygen species			
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute			
RT	Room temperature			
SD	Standard deviation			
SLE	Systemic Lupus Erythematosus			
SPPL	Signal peptide peptidase-like protease			
STAT1	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 1			
sTNF	Soluble tumour necrosis factor			
TACE	TNF converting enzyme			
ТВ	Tuberculosis			
Th	T helper cell			
TLR	Toll-like receptor			
tmTNF	Transmembrane tumour necrosis factor			
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor			
TNFR	Tumour necrosis factor receptor			
TRADD	TNFR-associated death domain			
Treg	Regulatory T cell			
TST	Tuberculin skin test			
ТТ	Tetanus toxoid			
UCL	University College London			
UCLH	University College London Hospital			

2 PUBLICATIONS

Oakes, T., Heather, J.M., Best, K., <u>Byng-Maddick, R</u>., Husovsky, C., Ismail, M., Joshi, K., Maxwell, G., Noursadeghi, M., Roddell, N., Ruehl, T., Turner, C.T., Uddin, I., Chain, B.

Quantitative Characterization of the T Cell Receptor Repertoire of Naïve and Memory Subsets Using an Integrated Experimental and Computational Pipeline Which Is Robust, Economical and Versatile

Front Immunol 2017; 8:1267

<u>Byng-Maddick, R.</u>, Turner, C.T., Pollara, G., Ellis, M., Guppy, N., Bell, L.C., Ehrenstein, M. R., Noursadeghi, M.

Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF) Bioactivity at the Site of an Acute Cell-Mediated Immune Response Is Preserved in Rheumatoid Arthritis Patients Responding to Anti-TNF Therapy

Front Immunol 2017; 8:932

Pollara, G., Murray, M.J., Heather, J.M., <u>Byng-Maddick, R.,</u> Guppy, N., Ellis, M., Haas, C.T., Chain, B.M., Noursadeghi, M.

Validation of immune cell modules in multicellular transcriptomic data

PLoS One 2017 Jan 3;12(1):e0169271. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0169271.

<u>Byng-Maddick, R</u>., Walker-Bone, K.

Options for taking time out of specialty training Clin Med 2016; 16: 315-319

<u>Byng-Maddick, R</u>., Noursadeghi, M. Does tuberculosis threaten our ageing populations? BMC Infect Dis 2016; 16:119

<u>Byng-Maddick, R.</u>, Ehrenstein, M.R. The impact of biological therapy on regulatory T cells in rheumatoid arthritis Rheumatology (Oxford) 2015; 54 (5): 768-75

<u>Byng-Maddick, R.,</u> Ehrenstein, M.R. Infections in biological agents used in rheumatic disease Br J Hosp Med (Lond) 2012; 73 (9):517-20

3 INTRODUCTION

3.1 TUMOUR NECROSIS FACTOR

Tumour necrosis factor (TNF) is a multifunctional cytokine that plays important roles in diverse cellular events; together with the TNF receptor (TNFR) superfamily they are important regulators of immune cell proliferation, survival, differentiation and apoptosis [1-4]. TNF is mostly produced by activated macrophages, monocytes and dendritic cells, but also expressed by neutrophils, natural killer cells, endothelial cells, fibroblasts and activated lymphocytes [5, 6]. Activation of the toll-like receptor (TLR) and other innate sensors by viral, bacterial and fungal products can initiate TNF synthesis. However it is also constitutively transcribed at low levels in the secondary lymphoid organs such as lymph nodes, gut and synovium and produced following antigen recognition by T and B cells [7].

3.1.1 The structure and function of TNF

TNF is a 26kDa protein in monomeric form. It is generated as a transmembrane precursor protein – transmembrane TNF (tmTNF), which is arranged in stable homotrimers. It is proteolytically cleaved by metalloproteinases such as TNF-converting enzyme (TACE), also known as A Disintegrin And Metalloproteinase 17 (ADAM17), to its 17kDa trimeric soluble form (sTNF). The remaining membrane-spanning portion of tmTNF subsequently undergoes intramembrane proteolysis, which promotes the liberation of the intracellular domain for signalling to the nucleus [8]. Intramembrane-cleaving proteases include the signal peptide peptidase-like proteases (SPPLs) – SPP, SPL2a, SPPL2b, SPPL2c and SPPL3. It is likely that the function of these homologues may be to catalyse similar reactions in different cellular compartments [8] (see Figure 3.1).



Apoptosis, cell proliferation, cytokine proliferation

Figure 3.1 Biology of transmembrane TNF and soluble TNF

Transmembrane TNF (tmTNF) is a precursor form of soluble TNF (sTNF) that is expressed on TNF-producing cells as a homotrimer. After processing by TNF converting enzyme (TACE), sTNF is generated and binds to TNFR1 or TNFR2. tmTNF also binds to TNFR1 or TNFR2. Upon binding to TNF receptors, both tmTNF and sTNF mediate pleiotropic effects (apoptosis, cell proliferation and cytokine production). The remaining tmTNF (after cleavage with TACE) is further processed by signal peptide peptidase-like protease 2b (SPPL2b) and the intracellular domain is translocated into the nucleus where it mediates cytokine production.

This figure is adapted from "Transmembrane TNF α : structure, function and interaction with anti-TNF agents" Horiuchi, T *et al* Rheumatology 2010; 49:1215-1228 [9]

Both tmTNF and sTNF are biologically active, exerting their effects via two structurally distinct transmembrane glycoprotein receptors on target cells – TNFR1 (also known as p55) expressed on almost all nucleated cells and TNFR2 (also known as p75), which has a restricted expression to cells of the immune system [10]. Following binding of these receptors, intracellular signalling pathways are initiated leading to gene transcription, which regulates cell proliferation, up-regulation of pro-inflammatory mediators, or apoptosis [1, 6, 11]. sTNF and tmTNF bind both receptors, although TNFR2 can only be fully activated by tmTNF [12]; thus sTNF preferentially binds TNFR1, whereas tmTNF binds to either TNFR1 or TNFR2 [10]. There is some degree of overlapping function and receptor crosstalk, depending on the activation state of the cell, among a host of other factors [13]. Although these receptors are specific for TNF, they are also able to bind lymphotoxin (LT) [7], which is another member of the TNF superfamily that plays an important role in lymphoid organogenesis and may also contribute to effector immune responses [14].

When TNF binds to the extracellular domain of TNFR1, a protein silencer which is bound to the intracellular portion of the receptor, is released [15]. This allows for binding of TNFR-associated death domain (TRADD) and other adaptor proteins on to TNFR1, which then activate key down-stream signalling pathways; Mitogenactivated protein (MAP) kinase signalling transduces a variety of cellular responses including proliferation, differentiation and cell death via the extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK), p38 MAP kinases and the cJun NH₂terminal kinases (INK) [16]. In addition, Nuclear Factor-κB (NF-κB), a family of transcription factors, is released following degradation of the IkB complex (IKK). NF-KB translocates to the nucleus to induce gene transcription for several pathways [15], including inflammation, cell survival, proliferation and differentiation and is the central mediator of the pro-inflammatory effects of TNF [17]. Following binding of TNF to TNFR1, the "classical pathway" of NF-κB activation occurs, with the p65-p50 heterodimer subunits being most important for transcription. Target genes include cytokines, chemokines, receptors regulating adhesion and migration of cells as well as angiogenesis [18]. TNFR1 activation is also involved in pro-apoptotic signalling via the Fas-associated death domain (FADD) and caspase pathway. This assembles in the cytoplasm and initiates apoptosis, if the NF- κ B signalling does not induce anti-apoptotic proteins [15]. Therefore binding to TNFR1 initiates signalling pathways involved in apoptosis, cell proliferation and activation, and production of pro-inflammatory mediators.

By contrast, TNFR2 signalling involves the activation of NF- κ B via TNF-associated factors (TRAF) 1 and 2 and mediates MAP kinase activation to promote cell survival, proliferation and activation [10, 15]. TNFR2 may activate the "non-canonical pathway" of NF- κ B, which triggers the p100 subunit to be processed and the generation of p52-containing heterodimers of this transcription factor [19]. The signalling pathways following binding to TNFR2 are less well characterised than TNFR1.

Analogous to the cytokine, both receptors can also be cleaved off the cell surface by the same metalloproteinase that cleaves tmTNF, TACE, and circulate in soluble forms [20]. When in circulation, TNFR are able to control TNF bioavailability and can act as 'decoy' (i.e. non-signalling) receptors for TNF [7, 21, 22].

In addition to binding to different TNFR, sTNF and tmTNF appear to have distinct biological properties. One important characteristic of tmTNF is its ability to act as a receptor that transmits outside-to-inside (reverse) signals back into the tmTNFbearing cells. Binding of tmTNF to a TNFR or to anti-TNF antibodies, may induce anergy or apoptosis, or act as a costimulatory molecule to induce proinflammatory mediators in the tmTNF-bearing cell, depending on the cell type and conditions [23, 24].

3.1.2 The regulation of TNF expression

TNF clearly plays a critical role in inflammation and is a potent modulator of the early inflammatory response to a variety of physical, environmental, infectious and immunological stimuli. Multiple complex regulatory mechanisms control different stages of the TNF pathway, including gene transcription, mRNA turnover, translation and intracellular signalling [25]. The expression of TNF is highly regulated at the transcriptional level by a network of transcription factors, coregulators and chromatin modifications [26]. The TNF gene promoter, third intron

and enhancer located immediately after the gene contain multiple transcriptionfactor binding sites that regulate transcription through binding with transcription factor families such as nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT), NF κ B, E26 transformation-specific (Ets) transcription factor, interferon-regulating factor and CCAAT/enhancer-bing protein [25]. DNA methylation and covalent modification of histones (e.g. phosphorylation, ubiquitination and methylation) influence the chromatin conformation, representing the epigenetic level of the TNF locus regulation [27]. Negative regulation of TNF gene expression also occurs through induction of I κ B, which can inhibit transcription of different genes including TNF in a gene-specific manner [28]. Post-transcriptional regulation of TNF activity may also occur via microRNAs (miRNA) binding to cytokine-encoding mRNA, which may trigger translational suppression or activation, or mRNA degradation, thereby influencing TNF production [29].

The TNF gene is activated in response to many stimuli that are characteristic of cellular activation, inflammation, infection and stress. Among these are pattern recognition receptor (PRR) ligands, such as TLR, ligands for antigen receptors (such as the T cell receptor or B cell receptor) and receptors for cytokines, including TNF itself [30] – for a full list, see

Table 3.1.

Controlling TNFR expression and activation may also regulate TNF. Receptor expression (at the mRNA and protein level) is influenced by a number of stimuli including TNF itself and IL1. Other factors, such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS), may regulate receptor levels by stimulating rapid internalisation of TNFRs.

In addition to controlling gene expression of TNF and TNFR, post-translational modification of TNF and TNFR by proteases such as TACE may alter bioavailability and activity. TACE is a transmembrane protein that is constitutively expressed, and its mRNA is found in most tissues [31]. The catalytic activity of TACE is induced by LPS, and downregulated by IL10 or tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-3, although the exact mechanism of TACE activation is still poorly understood [31].

Tight control of TNF expression in specific cell types and after specific stimuli is essential for cellular homeostasis and normal physiology in humans, as dysregulated TNF levels are found in multiple disease states including rheumatoid arthritis, Crohn's disease, psoriasis, cardiovascular disease, multiple sclerosis, septic shock and several different forms of cancer [32, 33].

Table 3.1 Inducers of TNF transcription

	Stimuli				
PRR ligands					
TLR2 Peptidoglycan (gram positive bacteria), Atypical LPS (<i>P. gingivalis</i>) Lipoteichoic acid (gram positive bacteria), Diacylated lipoproteins e.g. M					
TLR2/TLR6	2, Zymosan				
TLR3	Double-stranded RNA e.g. poly (I:C)				
TLR4	LPS (gram negative bacteria), Synthetic lipid A, Taxol				
TLR7	Loxoribine				
TLR7/TLR8	Single-stranded RNA e.g. poly I, poly C, Imidazoquinoline compounds e.g. imiquimod				
TLR9	Bacterial CpG-DNA				
NOD2	Muramyl dipeptide				
Antigen recentor ligands					
T cell recentor	Anti-CD3 Phytobaemagglutinin (PHA)				
B cell receptor	Anti-IgG				
Deenreceptor					
Fc receptor ligands Mast cell					
receptor	IgE + antigen				
NK cell receptor	Anti-CD16, immune complexes				
Other stimuli					
Cytokines	IL1, IL2, IFNγ, GM-CSF, TNF				
Mitogens	Concanavalin A, Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) Staphylococcocal toxic shock syndrome toxin-1, Staphylococcoal enterotoxin				
Superantigens Phosphatase	В				
inhibitors Okadaic acid, Calyculin A Calcium					
ionophore	Ionomycin				
Radiation	UV light, X rays				
Osmotic stress	Raffinose				
High glucose					
Silica particles					
Bacteria	Mycobacterium tuberculosis, Listeria monocytogenes, Staphylococcus aureus, Salmonella typhimurium, Escherichia coli Sendai virus, Human cytomegalovirus, Vesicular stomatitis virus, Herpes				
Viruses	simplex virus type II				
Protozoans Plasmodium falciparum, Trypanosoma cruzi, Schistosoma mansoni					

Adapted from "Transcriptional Control of the TNF Gene" Falvo, J.V. et al Curr Dir Autoimmun 2010; 11: 27-60 [34]

3.2 RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is the most common autoimmune inflammatory arthritis; UK prevalence is approximately 0.5-1% [35] and women are affected three times more commonly than men [36]. It is characterised by florid inflammation of the synovial membrane (synovitis) that leads to tissue destruction and joint damage through cartilage degradation and formation of subchondral bone erosions [37].

Patients with RA display characteristic signs and symptoms, including pain, stiffness and swelling of synovial joints, which are often associated with constitutional symptoms of fatigue, weight loss and low grade fever. Joint disease is usually symmetrical and involves small joints of the hands and feet. The natural progression of RA is typically a destructive deforming arthropathy ending with severe physical disability and multiple co-morbidities, which can be halted or prevented by disease modifying treatment. Diagnosis is classified according to the 2010 American College of Rheumatology / European League Against Rheumatism classification criteria [38]. Disease activity can be measured using the number of painful and swollen joints, the patient's perception of global pain (using a visual analogue score) and a measure of systemic inflammation (using the Erythrocyte Sedimentation Rate or C-Reactive Protein from a blood test).

Current treatment algorithms recommend methotrexate (MTX) as first line or standard therapy. Patients who have continued active inflammatory disease despite MTX are subsequently treated with other non-biological disease modifying drugs (including sulphasalazine, hydroxychloroquine or leflunomide), or biologic therapies such as anti- TNF therapy.

3.2.1 Natural history of rheumatoid arthritis

In RA, the synovial membrane on the inner surface of the joint is characterised by a chronic infiltration of inflammatory cells and hypertrophy leading to synovitis. During the inflammatory process activated mononuclear cells (including T cells, B cells, plasma cells, dendritic cells, macrophages and mast cells) infiltrate the synovium, normally only a few cells thick, and proliferation of synovial fibroblasts

and angiogenesis occur [39, 40]. The synovial lining becomes hyperplastic, and the synovial membrane expands to form villi. Subsequently cartilage and bone destruction occur due to enhanced actions of prostaglandins, leukotrienes and matrix-degrading metalloproteinases (MMPs). The osteoclast-rich portion of the synovial membrane, or pannus, destroys bone, whereas enzymes secreted by neutrophils, synoviocytes and chondrocytes degrade cartilage [39].

RA synovial fluid has been shown to contain a wide range of effector molecules including pro-inflammatory cytokines (such as IL1 β , IL6, TNF and IL18), chemokines (such as IL8, CXCL10, CCL2, CCL3 and CCL5), MMPs (such as MMP1, - 3, -9 and -13) and metabolic proteins (such as Cox-1, Cox-2 and iNOS). These interact with one another in a complex manner that is thought to cause an escalating cycle of pro-inflammatory signals resulting in chronic and persistent inflammation [41, 42]. TNF is known to stimulate IL1 and IL6 production in synovial tissue, which further enhances the migration of inflammatory cells into the joint and stimulates MMP production in synovial fibroblasts and chondrocytes [43].

3.2.2 Immunopathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis

Although the precise pathogenesis of RA remains unclear, T cells, B cells, macrophages, neutrophils and synovial fibroblasts are central to the mechanisms of joint inflammation and disease progression [39]. Overexpression of many inflammatory cytokines, including TNF, interleukins and proteinases play an important role in the inflammatory cascade of RA. This results in the formation and perpetuation of a chronic inflammatory synovitis leading to cartilage and bone destruction within the first year of disease.

RA is a heterogeneous disease with aetiology linked to genetic, environmental and stochastic triggers, leading to the loss of the immunological tolerance to selfantigens which is the first step towards developing autoimmune phenomena [44]. It is estimated that genetic factors (heritability) account for approximately 60% of the pathogenesis in studies from Northern Europe, which include class II major histocompatibility antigens/human leukocyte antigens (HLA-DR) and non-HLA genes including several single nucleotide polymorphisms [45]. The contribution of HLA to heritability of RA has been estimated at 11-37% [45]. These are likely to increase susceptibility to RA, and may have some relevance to disease outcome and prognosis.

In genetically susceptible individuals, specific environmental factors may activate potentially pathogenic immune reactions, including antibody formation. Environmental factors that have been associated with the pathogenesis of RA include smoking [46, 47] and infections [48, 49] including Epstein-Barr virus, cytomegalovirus, proteus species, *Escherichia coli* and even *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* heat shock protein [50]. Other pathogenic bacteria such as *Porphyromonas gingivalis*, caused by periodontal disease [51, 52] and changes to the microbiome are also thought to contribute to disease pathogenesis and formation of antibodies [53, 54].

Approximately 50-70% of RA patients are seropositive for rheumatoid factor (RF), an autoantibody against the Fc portion of an immunoglobulin G (IgG) [55]. This is regarded as the classic autoantibody in RA, which is either immunoglobulin M (IgM) or less commonly an immunoglobulin A (IgA). Another group of autoantibodies specifically associated with RA bind the citrullinated isoform of proteins, and are known as anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide (anti-CCP) antibodies. The role of these antibodies is not entirely understood, but anti-CCP antibodies are thought to bind to citrullinated vimentin on the surface of osteoclasts and induce osteoclast differentiation via autocrine stimulation of TNF, leading to bone destruction [56]. It has been shown that patients with RA and high autoantibody titres have a notably worse prognosis with accelerated joint destruction, comorbidities such as cardiovascular disease and other extra-articular manifestations, although their direct pathogenic role in humans is not yet clearly identified [57-59].

3.2.3 Immune dysregulation in rheumatoid arthritis

Disturbances of immune pathways, including macrophages, mast cells and natural killer cells contribute to the pathogenesis of RA [49]. Monocyte-derived cells massively infiltrate the synovial membrane where they are responsible for release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines that contribute to the destruction

of cartilage, bone and tissue within the joint [60-63]. A strong correlation has been seen with the number of macrophages in the synovium, disease activity and degree of erosion [64, 65]. These cells are highly activated, particularly during active inflammatory disease, and display a higher propensity towards the CD14^{low}CD16^{high} phenotype [66, 67]. Moreover elevated levels of TNF and IL1 promote production of macrophage-colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) from synovial fibroblasts and chondrocytes [68], which in turn influence the differentiation of macrophages. Indeed blockade of GM-CSF or M-CSF may inhibit the development of arthritis [69].

Circulating CD14⁺ monocytes in RA patients also show signs of activation, with increased expression of CD14, Fcγ receptors (including CD16), CD54 and CD11b [66, 70, 71] and express increased levels of tmTNF [72]. These are thought to contribute to the pathogenesis of RA by producing potent amounts of TNF, IL6, IL1 and MMPs, leading to endothelial cell activation, acute phase reactions and cartilage damage.

It is thought that initially dendritic cells, macrophages and activated B cells act as antigen presenting cells to present autologous antigens to T cells [73]. This leads to the expansion of autoantigen-specific T cells in the joints and lymph nodes which secrete IL2 and IFN γ [74].

B cells also contribute to pathogenesis through the production of autoantibodies and cytokines which may further stimulate the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines including TNF through Fc receptors and complement activation [74]. Activation of B and T cells further stimulate macrophages to produce proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF, IL1 and IL6.

Although classically RA was thought to be a Th1 mediated disease, with IFN γ - and TNF-secreting cells acting in the synovium, potential plasticity of T cells and newer T helper subsets such as regulatory T cells and Th17, these are all now thought to play a vital role in disease pathogenesis [75].

There appears to be a relative lymphopaenia in RA, characterised by a reduction in number and function of naïve CD4⁺ T cells, including repertoire contraction and

hyporesponsiveness to stimulation [76]. Phenotypically RA T cells in the synovium are predominantly effector memory cells with expression of specific chemokine receptors and integrins, suggesting that T cell subsets migrate to the area of inflammation [77].

Regulatory T cells (Treg) have been implicated in the pathogenesis of many autoimmune diseases including RA, systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and ANCA-associated vasculitis [78-80]. They are essential for self-tolerance, thus lack or dysfunction of these cells results in a breakdown of immunological tolerance and abnormal immune responses to self-antigens [81]. Treg are characterised by the stable expression of the lineage-specific transcription factor Forkhead Box P3 (FoxP3), which is pivotal for their function and homeostasis [82]. CD4+ Treg are generated both in the thymus and periphery, the latter are typically known as induced Treg. They exert suppressive effects on CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, and also have some control of B cells, natural killer cells, dendritic cells and other antigen presenting cells. The exact mechanism of their regulatory effects is not known, although it is thought to be via regulatory cytokines IL10 and TGF β , and cell-to-cell contact via cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA4) and the membrane glycoprotein LAG3 [83, 84]. It has also been shown Treg can control B cell responses via a Fas dependent mechanism [85].

In active RA, Treg are unable to suppress Th1 responses including the production of IFN γ [86]. In addition Treg do not effectively suppress B cells in RA [85]. Moreover, B cells (unlike T cells) are resistant to the effects of Treg in RA indicating that restoration of Treg function may not be sufficient to restore tolerance. Potential mechanisms for defective Treg in RA include reduced CTLA4 expression [87, 88], as CTLA4-expressing Treg are able to reduce CD80 and CD86 expression on antigen presenting cells which may in turn inhibit T cell costimulation.

It is unclear whether the relative number of Treg in peripheral blood of RA patients is altered. Increased numbers of Treg are seen in RA synovium although they are greatly outnumbered by effector T cells [89, 90]. In animal models of

inflammatory disease, re-establishing the T effector to Treg cell ratio can control autoimmune responses.

T helper 17 (Th17) cells have also been implicated in the pathogenesis of RA, due to their expression of a number of pro-inflammatory cytokines including IL17. IL17 acts in synergy with TNF to induce chemokine and cytokine production from synovial fibroblasts, resulting in destruction of cartilage [91]. Treg and Th17 cells may develop from the same precursors under distinct cytokine conditions [92] and a subset of IL17-producing CD4+FoxP3+ Treg cells can be generated upon polarisation by cytokines such as IL6 [93]. In RA the balance between Th17 cells and Treg is shifted towards an increased number of Th17 cells with less functional Treg [94]. Both rely on TGF β for their induction, but in the presence of other pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL6, a Th17 response is favoured.

Treg are likely to play a significant role in preventing and/or reducing the proinflammatory state. Restoring the balance and efficacy of Treg may be important in the treatment of diseases such as RA.

3.2.4 The role of TNF in rheumatoid arthritis

Various immune modulators (cytokines and effector cells) and signalling pathways are involved in the pathophysiology of RA. However one key inflammatory cascade involves the overproduction and overexpression of TNF [95], leading to production of other pro-inflammatory cytokines including IL6 which drives persistent inflammation and tissue destruction [73]. TNF is a pleiotrophic proinflammatory cytokine that possesses multiple activities including the induction of other pro-inflammatory molecules, such as IL1, IL6, IL8 and the activation of macrophages, neutrophils and eosinophils [96].

TNF is found in high concentrations in synovial fluid and on the synovial membrane of affected joints where it is produced by activated monocytes and macrophages [95, 97-99]. TNFR expression also appears to be upregulated on the synovial membrane of RA joints, especially in areas adjacent to erosions and increased concentrations of shed receptors appears to correlate with disease activity [100, 101]. Activated NFκB transcription factors have also been found in

cultured synovial fibroblasts, human arthritic joints and the joints of animals with experimentally induced RA [17]. Raised levels of circulating TNF are also found in patients with RA [102, 103], although this may not correlate with clinical disease activity due to the transient nature of TNF expression [104].

The role of TNF in inflammatory disease, such as RA is summarised in Figure 3.2.



Figure 3.2 The role of TNF in rheumatoid arthritis

Tumour necrosis factor (TNF) plays a central role in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. It is produced by activated synovial macrophages, as part of the inflammatory cascade and in turn leads to activation of other cells including monocytes, macrophages, T cells, synovial fibroblasts and endothelial cells.

This figure is adapted from Guzman, F. Mechanism of action, indications and adverse effects of: etanercept, infliximab and adalimumab. http://pharmacologycorner.com; Braun T, Zwerina J. Positive regulators of osteoclastogenesis and bone resorption in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Res Ther 2011; 13:235 [105] and Fox, D.A. Cytokine blockade as a new strategy to treat rheumatoid arthritis: inhibition of tumor necrosis factor. Arch Intern Med. 2000;160:437-444 [106].

In the joint, TNF promotes the activation of synovial fibroblasts and consequently production of connective tissue growth factor. This promotes aberrant activation of osteoclasts and disturbs the homeostasis of the cartilage, ultimately resulting in destruction of the joint [5]. TNF primes for, or directly mediates, leucocyte activation, adhesion and migration, endothelial activation and angiogenesis, nociception, chemokine expression, stromal-cell activation, chrondrocyte activation and with receptor activator of NF κ B ligand (RANKL), and contributes to the activation and effector function of osteoclasts [107]. It also increases endothelial layer permeability and expression of adhesion molecules and induces acute phase reactants and tissue-degrading enzymes produced by synoviocytes and chondrocytes in the joint [1].

Evidence for a pivotal role of TNF in the pathogenesis of inflammatory arthritis came from mice that had been genetically engineered to over-express human TNF, who developed a spontaneous inflammatory arthritis with synovial hyperplasia and destruction of cartilage and bone [108]. In humans, increased expression of TNF is found in many inflammatory diseases such as psoriasis, ankylosing spondylitis, juvenile idiopathic arthritis and inflammatory bowel disease. Inhibiting TNF in these diseases has substantially improved the outcome and clinical course of the disease [109].

Mouse models of collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) have been studied to further understand the autoimmune model and pathogenesis of RA. Immunisation of genetically susceptible strains of mice with an emulsion of complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA) and type II collagen induces an inflammatory arthritis with synovitis and erosions, histologically resembling RA [110]. Both T and B cell activation is important in this model of CIA. Cytokines of both Th1 (IFN γ secreting) and Th2 cells (IL4 secreting) are produced, and at disease onset a Th1 profile predominates. Passive addition of TNF, IL1 or transforming growth factor β (TGF β) can enhance the expression of this autoimmune arthritis [111, 112]. Furthermore in this CIA model, neutralising TNF with a monoclonal antibody can ameliorate the inflammatory arthritis [112, 113]. It has been shown that early treatment with anti-TNF antibodies reduced cartilage destruction, consistent with its anti-inflammatory effect, but at later stages with more established disease, no protection could be seen [114].

In addition, transgenic mice overexpressing human TNF rapidly and spontaneously develop severe chronic inflammatory polyarthritis, which is independent of effects from B or T cells [108, 115]. Subsequent treatment of these mice with anti-TNF antibody completely prevents disease, suggesting direct involvement of TNF in the pathogenesis of arthritis [108]. Furthermore in adult mice, sustained exposure to repeated injections of recombinant murine TNF led to attenuated T cell recall responses to specific antigens, including cytokine responses and proliferation [116]. This suggests prolonged TNF exposure alters signalling thresholds over time, leading to attenuated T cell receptor signalling [116]. This effect was particularly striking with respect to IL2 production, but suppressive effects for T cells differentiating in vivo or in vitro along with either Th1 or Th2 pathway were also noted [117].

3.2.5 Disease modifying treatment in rheumatoid arthritis

The objective of RA treatment is to control the clinical symptoms and slow or stop the radiographic progression and structural damage to improve function and quality of life. Traditional disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs), such as methotrexate (MTX), remain the basis of RA therapy, and should be initiated early in the course of the disease [118].

The DMARD era began in 1929 when gold compounds were used for the treatment of RA, after they had been used in the treatment of TB, based on the notion that RA and TB were linked [119] Robert Koch used gold cyanide to successfully kill mycobacteria in vitro, but results were not as promising in vivo. MTX – now first line therapy, was first used in the 1940s for the treatment of cancer, however in 1998 the Food and Drug Administration approved its use in the treatment of RA. The precise mechanism of MTX in inflammatory arthritis is unclear. It inhibits dihydrofolate reductase, which prevents de novo pyrimidine and purine synthesis, required for DNA and RNA syntheses. Consequently, there is inhibition of cellular proliferation of lymphocytes which are involved in the inflammatory process [120]. T-cell activation and apoptosis are inhibited and expression of T-cell cytokines and adhesion molecules are altered [121].

In the last few decades, advances in the understanding of the pathogenesis of RA and the inflammatory cascade has led to the introduction of biologic DMARDs, a class of drugs that further improve clinical outcomes. These agents work by selective blockade of certain molecules of the inflammatory cascade, resulting in a significant reduction of inflammation. They are mostly used in patients who fail, or are unable to tolerate, traditional DMARDs, however MTX co-prescription is recommended when using most biological DMARDS [122, 123].

Available biologic therapies include TNF inhibitors (infliximab, etanercept, adalimumab, golimumab and certolizumab), which are currently the most commonly used biologic agents. Other licenced biologic therapies include anakinra (IL-1 receptor antagonist), abatacept (cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 immunoglobulin), rituximab (chimaeric anti-CD20 antibody) and tocilizumab (humanised IL-6 receptor antagonist).

Newer therapeutic targets for RA include small molecule inhibitors to janus kinase (broadly inhibits cytokine activity) and Syk (blocks activation of TNF-induced cytokine and MMP production from synoviocytes), and activation of regulatory T cells (BT-061) to restore immune homeostasis with quantitative and qualitative impairment described in autoimmune diseases [124-128].

Other less successful immune specific targets in the treatment of RA have included blockade of IL17A [129], B-lymphocyte stimulator (BLyS) and A PRoliferation-Inducing Ligand (APRIL) inhibitors – cytokines involved in regulation of B-cell maturation, proliferation, function and survival [130], and inhibition of p38 MAP Kinase – thought to play a key role in the regulation of pro-inflammatory cytokine production [131].

3.2.6 The development of anti-TNF therapy and its clinical applications

Anti-TNF agents have been successfully introduced for the treatment of several chronic inflammatory diseases, including RA, psoriasis, ankylosing spondylitis and inflammatory bowel disease. There are currently five licensed TNF inhibitors, which have differences in their structure, function and administration routes (see Table 3.2). However they all share a common molecular mechanism – to competitively inhibit the binding of TNF to its cognate receptors.

The chimeric antibody infliximab (Remicade; Centocor Ortho Biotech) was the first TNF-directed drug to be approved in August 1998. This was followed by the approval of the TNFR2 Fc fusion protein etanercept (Enbrel; Amgen/Pfizer) in November 1998. The first fully human antibody, adalimumab (Humira; Abbott), was approved in December 2002, certolizumab pegol (Cimzia; UCB), a pegylated Fab fragment, was approved in April 2008 and another fully human antibody, golimumab (Simponi; Centocor Ortho Biotech), was approved in April 2009. Studies have shown that they are all highly effective in reducing joint damage and disability, and improving quality of life, especially when used in combination with methotrexate [132-134].

Interestingly a fusion protein formed with the TNFR1 (Onercept; Serono) was not shown to be as effective as etanercept (TNFR2 fusion protein) in psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis or RA and was associated with several cases of Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome (SIRS) during phase III trials [135]. No infectious aetiology was identified in these cases, suggesting that onercept had caused the SIRS reaction. It was therefore withdrawn from further clinical use.

Although all anti-TNF therapies are effective against RA, not all are efficacious in granulomatous diseases such as Crohn's disease, Granulomatosis with polyangiitis or sarcoidosis suggesting different structures confer different mechanisms of action [6, 41, 136]. It is likely that each drug binds to similar, but not identical epitopes on the TNF molecule, although these have not been clearly identified yet [137]. Etanercept occupies the receptor binding site on TNF preventing TNF-TNFR interaction [138]. Monoclonal antibodies adalimumab and infliximab also bind the TNF-TNFR interface – adalimumab binds extensively, whereas infliximab only partially binds to this site (although sterically hindering the ability of TNFR to form stable complexes with TNF) [139].

Etanercept also binds lymphotoxin, in addition to TNF, although it is not clear if the additional binding of lymphotoxin confers any therapeutic advantage [140].

	Structure	Half- life	Administratio n	Properties
Infliximab	Chimaeric IgG1 monoclonal antibody (human Fc and mouse Fab)	8-10 days	Intravenous injection every 4-8 weeks	Each infliximab molecule can bind 2 TNF molecules, and up to 3 infliximab molecules can bind to each TNF homotrimer Able to induce apoptosis via complement dependent lysis and antibody dependent cytotoxicity Binds monomer and trimer forms of sTNF Forms stable complexes with sTNF, can also bind tmTNF
Adalimumab	Fully humanised IgG1 monoclonal antibody	10-14 days	Subcutaneous injection every fortnight	Able to induce apoptosis via complement dependent lysis and antibody dependent cytotoxicity Binds sTNF and tmTNF Derived by phage display, that is specific for human TNF
Etanercept	Recombinant human fusion protein of 2 TNFR2 and Fc portion of human IgG1	3.5 days	Subcutaneous injection every week	Forms relatively unstable complexes with sTNF (with low affinity) Unclear whether can induce apoptosis Only able to bind trimer form of sTNF (not monomers) Forms a 1:1 complex with the TNF trimer Binds mainly sTNF and LT
Golimumab	Fully humanised IgG1 monoclonal antibody	12-15 days	Intravenous or subcutaneous injection monthly	Derived from TNF-immunised transgenic mice, engineered to express human IgG Able to induce apoptosis via complement dependent lysis and antibody dependent cytotoxicity Binds sTNF and tmTNF – binds sTNF more avidly than other monoclonal antibodies
Certolizumab	Fully humanised Fab fragment conjugated to polyethylene glycol (PEG)	14 days	Injected subcutaneously every fortnight	Because of absence of Fc portion, unable to induce complement dependent lysis or antibody dependent cytotoxicity

Table 3.2 Structure and	properties	of anti-TNF	therapies
--------------------------------	------------	-------------	-----------

The exact mechanism of the anti-TNF therapies and modulation of immune regulation has not been clearly delineated. In patients with Crohn's disease, treatment with infliximab induces apoptosis of monocytes and activated T cells in vivo and in vitro, which is not seen with etanercept or certolizumab [141-143]. However both etanercept and infliximab induce apoptosis in monocytes and macrophages in synovial fluid and of monocytes in peripheral blood in vivo [144]. Moreover anti-TNF antibody therapy also reduces the number of infiltrating synovial granulocytes and macrophages in the joint as well as reduced expression of chemokines, IL8 and CCL2 [145]. In addition tmTNF is able to transmit signals back into the monocyte or macrophage, which may be activated by binding to its receptor or anti-TNF antibody therapy [146].

Infliximab also readily binds tmTNF; in vitro this may lead to cell lysis via complement-dependent cytolysis and antibody dependent cell-meditated cytotoxicity [147], whereas etanercept forms less stable complexes with tmTNF. This effect can be associated with transient leucopaenia, and could have more profound effects on cellular subsets. In a study of RA patients treated with adalimumab, peripheral blood showed a significant reduction in CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ producing IFNγ cells, four months after starting treatment [148]. However, this finding differs from previous studies, which have suggested that attenuated Th1 responses are restored by anti-TNF therapy [149]. Infliximab is also able to restore CD28 expression on activated CD4⁺ T cells, which may lead to dampened sensitivity of co-stimulatory signals in T cell responses [150].

In RA, CD4+CD25^{hi} FoxP3+ Treg which usually comprise 5-10% of the CD4+ T cell population, have impaired function and are outnumbered by pathogenic effector cells [86]. Following treatment with infliximab a novel population of Treg cells expressing low levels of CD62L were identified [151], mediating suppression of T effector cells via TGF β and IL10, resulting in reduced IFN γ production [151]. In patients clinically responding to adalimumab, a higher percentage of FoxP3⁺ cells have been seen, with restored regulatory function. These cells are able to suppress and resist conversion to Th17 cells by control of monocyte-derived IL6 production
[94]. However in patients responding to etanercept, Treg cell number and function remain similar to patients with active RA. A recent study has also demonstrated that when anti-TNF antibody therapy binds to tmTNF on monocytes, it leads to enhanced expression of tmTNF [152, 153], which subsequently drives expansion of regulatory T cells by binding to TNFR2 on their cell surface [153].

Anti-TNF therapy may also have an effect on T effector cells. It is thought that protein kinase B (PKB)/c-Akt hyperactivation in inflammatory T cells contributes to T effector unresponsiveness to suppression in juvenile idiopathic arthritis [154]. PKB/c-Akt activation positively regulates pro-inflammatory cytokine production such as TNF and IL6 [155], and in addition TNF can induce PKB/c-Akt activation [154]. Therefore using anti-TNF therapy to block this positive feedback loop may explain why etanercept is able to reverse the resistance of T effector cells to suppression, thereby re-establishing Treg mediated control of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells [156]. In addition, another study showed that 4-8 weeks after anti-TNF therapy, Th1 prevalence was higher than baseline in patients treated with etanercept and infliximab, whilst it was stable in the adalimumab group [157]. Th2 prevalence was higher in the anti-TNF antibody therapy groups, but remained stable in the etanercept group. Similarly Treg numbers increased, but Th17 cells remained unchanged [157]. This alteration in T cell subsets may lead to a more favourable balance of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines following anti-TNF therapy.

Despite their clinical success and limited understanding of the mechanisms of action, variable levels of soluble TNF receptor, serum or synovial TNF levels have been seen in patients subsequent to anti-TNF therapy [158-161], which do not necessarily correlate to a clinical response to treatment. This may be due to inadequate dosing of the drug or the presence of neutralising antibodies directed against anti-TNF antibody therapy [158]. However infliximab and etanercept have been shown to reduce circulating levels of other pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL6 [162, 163].

Increased vascularity and angiogenesis in the synovium of rheumatoid joints is associated with a large mononuclear cell infiltration and is thought to promote delivery of cells and nutrients to the invading pannus [164]. TNF is known to increase vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression, and increase adhesion molecule expression on endothelial cells thus promoting angiogenesis, and stimulating the proliferation and migration of endothelial cells [145, 165]. However another role of anti-TNF therapy may be to reduce neovascularity within the joint, as infliximab is able to reduce inflammatory cell migration into RA joints [145], and certolizumab inhibits TNF dependent leucocyte adhesion and angiogenesis via inhibition of chemokine secretion and angiogenic adhesion molecule expression [165].

This suggests that TNF inhibition at the site of inflammation leads to the interruption of the cascade of inflammatory cytokines, which in turn is associated with the improvement in clinical status of these patients.

3.2.7 The use of gene expression profiling to assess response to therapy in RA

Gene expression profiling has been used extensively in RA. Initially it demonstrated that the transcriptome of synovial tissue could differentiate between RA and other diseases including SLE, ankylosing spondylitis or psoriatic arthritis and healthy controls [166, 167]. Groups of genes associated with RA have identified adaptive inflammatory response-related genes, bone and cartilage degradation enzymes and transcription factors, particularly the signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 (STAT1) pathway [168] and can differentiate between the high and low inflammation in the synovium [169].

As approximately a third of patients do not have a clinical response to anti-TNF therapy, various groups have used gene expression profiling to predict those who will respond to treatment, using either monocytes [170], peripheral blood [171-174] or synovial tissue [175-178]. In responders to etanercept treatment one study identified a set of genes involved in NF κ B and cAMP signalling after 72 hours (including NFKB1A, IL1B and TNFAIP3) [174]. Changes to the peripheral blood transcriptome were also seen four weeks after treatment with infliximab, with a downregulation of genes involved in inflammation, angiogenesis, T- and B-cell activation, which is thought to represent a dampening of TNF-associated genes

[172]. This was observed in all patients irrespective of clinical response to treatment [172], suggesting that rheumatoid disease may be heterogeneous, with some patients having a TNF-dependent disease and thus responding to anti-TNF therapy, whilst others may have disease driven by TNF-independent pathways. This is supported by evidence that RA patients not responding to two months of infliximab treatment may have increased Type I IFN responses [179], echoing alternative disease pathways.

Thus although we have some understanding of the mechanism of anti-TNF therapy and its effects on the immune system, further studies are required to understand why these drugs have different effects, but similar clinical efficacy in RA, and which of these effects are relevant to the pathogenesis of the disease.

3.2.8 The increased risk of infection associated with anti-TNF therapy

Clinical trials proved the efficacy of anti-TNF therapy for inflammatory arthritis [180-182], compared to standard disease modifying treatment, and showed they were relatively safe with minimal observed side-effects. However following more general use of TNF inhibitors on a wider population, concerns arose regarding potentially serious infections including tuberculosis (TB) [183], reports of multiple sclerosis [184], and malignancy [185].

TB was first recognised to be associated with anti-TNF therapy after identification from the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) Adverse Event Reporting System in the first year after the drug's approval [183]. Infliximab therapy was shown to have a tendency to cause reactivation of latent TB within 12 weeks of therapy, with the infection following an atypical course of more extra-pulmonary (50%) and disseminated disease (10%), compared to 15% and 1% in immunocompetent people. Other serious opportunistic infections included *Pneumocystis carinii* pneumonia, histoplasmosis, aspergillosis and severe Candida infections [183].

Although clinical trials are essential for demonstrating the efficacy of drugs and identifying more common adverse events, relatively small numbers of recruits and often a short duration of follow up limit their power to identify the full repertoire of adverse effects. Therefore national registries were established to monitor longterm safety of patients starting biologic therapies. A number of registries for patients with RA have been established in Europe, the United States and Asia. Some registries have specifically looked at risk of TB in their cohort (see Table 3.3) and some have not (see Table 3.4).

Registry name	Number patients treated with anti-TNF therapy	Recruitment started	Biologic-exposed cohort	DMARD cohort	General population
ARTIS (Sweden)	10800	1999	n = 18 IR 39.4/100 000 patient years (p.y.)	n = 32 IR 14.3/100 000 p.y.	n = 43 IR 3.5/100 000 p.y.
			95% CI 23.7-61.5	95% CI 9.8-20.2	95% CI 2.5-4.7
BIODASER	5493	2000	IR 1113-1893/100 000 p.y.	IR 95/100 000 patients	IR 21/100 000 population
(Spain)			not included	not included	not included
BSRBR (UK)	11757	2001	n = 40 IR 39-144/100 000 p.y. 95% CI 1.4-12.4	n = 0 IR 0	not compared
LORHEN (Italy)	1114	1999	n = 5 IR 1.9-3.7/100 000 p.y. 95% CI 0.00-7.34	not compared	not compared
RATIO (France)	1571	1997	n = 69 IR 116.7 / 100 000 p.y. 95% CI 10.6-222.9	not compared	not compared
SCQM (Switzerland)	2364	1997	n = 2 IR not assessed	not compared	not compared

Table 3.3 Registries reporting TB risk in patients with rheumatoid arthritis

Table 3.4 Registries not reporting on TB risk in patients with rheumatoid arthritis

Registry		Number of patients treated with anti-TNF	Recruitment
name	Country	therapy	dates
	Czech		
ATTRA	Republic	> 2000	2001
CORRONA	USA	8755	2002
DANBIO	Denmark	3056	2000
DREAM	Netherlands	546	2003
HRBT	Greece	715	2004
NOR-DMARD	Norway	4683	2000
RABBIT	Germany	5279	2001
REAL	Japan	1144	2005

Anti-TNF therapy was approved for use in RA in the UK in 2001, after which a national registry – the British Society for Rheumatology Biologics Registry (BSRBR) was established with the main aim of safety monitoring and observing potential toxicities during treatment with biologic therapies, particularly with regard to infection (including active TB), malignancy and other severe comorbidity. These rates were compared to the observed rates in a contemporary cohort of RA patients treated with traditional, non-biologic DMARDs. The aim was to recruit all patients starting on anti-TNF therapy in the UK, thereby encompassing a broader range of patients both by age and co-morbidity than those recruited in clinical trials, thus more reflective of the UK RA population.

The registries have been useful in confirming the link between anti-TNF therapy and TB and have also shown that the risk of TB continues after stopping anti-TNF therapy [186, 187], there is a higher burden of extrapulmonary and disseminated TB [186-188] and that the risk of active TB is higher with infliximab and adalimumab (monoclonal antibodies) compared to etanercept (soluble TNF receptor) [186, 187, 189, 190].

In addition, reports from USA, Canada and Europe have estimated the risk of developing active TB in RA patients not receiving anti-TNF therapy is 2-4 fold higher than the general population [189, 191-194] and they also have a higher risk of malignancy [195]. However the risk of TB during anti-TNF therapy is 2.5-fold higher than biological-naïve RA patients and 7-17 fold higher than the general population [187, 191]. Most cases of TB in patients receiving immunosuppressive therapy have been attributed to reactivation of latent infection, rather than de novo infection with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* [190, 196].

3.3 TUBERCULOSIS

TB is a global health problem with nine million cases of active TB per annum and one and a half million deaths occurring worldwide [197]. Infection with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (Mtb) may also result in latent TB infection (LTBI), which is estimated to have affected two billion people worldwide.

Mycobacteria are non-motile, non-sporulating, weakly gram-positive, acid-fast bacilli that appear microscopically as straight or slightly curved rods, 1-4µm in length and 0.3-0.6µm wide [198]. These bacteria express a unique long chain fatty acid structure that plays a critical role in structure and function of the cell wall [199].

3.3.1 The natural history of TB

Before the advent of anti-tuberculous therapy, TB was a major cause of death in both developing and developed countries. Although effective treatment has been available since the 1950s, more recently there has been an increase in multi-drug resistant and extensively drug-resistant mycobacteria. Diagnosis can be challenging and therefore some cases may not receive appropriate therapy in a timely manner, leading to deterioration of the clinical disease. It is estimated that if active pulmonary TB is untreated in otherwise immunocompetent individuals, the case fatality rate is approximately 70% for both males and females [200], although treatment significantly reduces this mortality rate. Increased risk of mortality is associated with HIV-1 infection, age more than 50 years, and diabetes mellitus [200].

After initial infection with Mtb, it is thought that there are four possible outcomes: immediate clearance of the organism, primary disease (immediate onset of active disease – thought to affect around 5% of individuals), latent infection or reactivation of disease (onset of active disease, many years following a period of latent infection).

It is not known what proportion of infected people successfully clear the infection. However the majority of people infected will develop LTBI defined as having immunological evidence of Mtb infection by tuberculin skin test or immune gamma release assay, but with no clinical signs or symptoms and a normal chest x-ray [201].

Studies in individuals who are TST positive indicate a 10% lifetime risk of developing active disease, assumed to result from reactivation of the primary infection [202]. Risk of reactivation of LTBI is increased in people with HIV-1 co-infection and other causes of immunosuppression including age and corticosteroid therapy, as well as anti-TNF therapy. This indicates that an intact immune response is required to control latent infection.

Shaped by long-term co-evolution with its host, Mtb can survive in macrophages for years without being cleared by the host immune system [203]. Inside the hostile environment of the macrophage, Mtb co-ordinates its global gene expression patterns in a way that suits its intracellular survival [204]. The hypoxic environment produced by chronic persistent granuloma induces dormancy, where the mycobacteria undergo a non-replicative or low-replicative dormant stage [204, 205]. It is likely that replicating Mtb becomes dormant within infected macrophages having subverted their antimicrobial and antigen-presentation potential. Mtb in the dormant phase are unable to interfere with phagosomal pH, have a lower expression of proteins required for blocking phagosomal maturation, and do not inhibit the proteolytic efficiency of macrophages [206]. Dormant Mtb is unlikely to be able to infect tissue macrophages, and therefore resides within cells as an Mtb reservoir, although the exact physical location of bacilli during LTBI remains unclear [206].

Using ¹⁸fluorodeoxyglucose (¹⁸FDG) positron emission tomography in conjunction with computed tomography (PET-CT) imaging of granuloma in non-human primates, it has been possible to see the dynamic nature of each granuloma, which appear to function autonomously, even within the same host, presumably as a result of stochastic local events [207]. Within these models, mycobacterial killing efficiency has emerged as the key determinant of progressive disease or control [207].

3.3.2 The pathogenesis of TB

Mtb is a slow growing species, characterised by a 12-24 hour doubling period and prolonged culture on agar which can take up to 21 days. Mycobacteria are able to survive and multiply within host phagocytic cells (typically macrophages), suggesting they are able to modulate the normal progression of host immune responses [208].

Mtb is transmitted from an individual with active TB coughing up fine aerosol droplets containing Mtb, to a recipient host. For an overview of the pathogenesis of TB, see Figure 3.3. Essentially inhaled mycobacteria penetrate the lower part of the lungs, which is well ventilated [209]. Here, they encounter resident alveolar macrophages (AM), pneumocytes and dendritic cells in the alveolar passages. Mtb is phagocytosed by macrophages and retained within a membrane-enclosed endocytic vesicles (phagosome) [210], which are programmed to degrade internalised material through rapid acidification and fusion with lysosomes, rich in proteolytic and lipolytic enzymes [211]. Further macrophages are recruited to the site of infected cells, forming a granuloma, which comprises an organised aggregate of differentiated macrophages and other immune cells, including T cells, B cells, dendritic cells, neutrophils, fibroblasts and extracellular matrix components [212, 213]. This initial granuloma, also known as a Ghon focus, may heal. In 90% of Mtb-exposed patients Mtb is subsequently controlled and active disease never develops [214].

Mycobacteria may be able to spread to the newly arriving macrophages, but as further cells arrive and the granuloma forms to contain bacteria, they develop a central area of necrosis that supports bacterial growth [212].

However pulmonary TB develops in the lung apices, thus the mycobacteria are able to translocate from the lung bases and lodge at the lung apex driving lung matrix destruction and cavitation [209]. Why and how the mycobacteria translocate is unknown, but cavitation leads to very high infectivity, thereby allowing it to propagate and spread to more individuals.

45



Figure 3.3 Pathogenesis of Mycobacterium tuberculosis

Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Mtb) is inhaled via aerosol droplets into the lung bases, where they encounter and are internalised through phagocytosis by alveolar macrophages (AM). Infected macrophages cluster and recruit other immune cells including T cells, B cells, activated macrophages and other leukocytes to form a granuloma with the Mtb-infected macrophages contained at the centre. The majority of infected individuals will remain in a 'latent' stage of infection, in which no clinical symptoms are present. A small of infected individuals will progress to active disease, where Mtb is released from granulomas eroded into the airways and translocates to the lung apex where further tissue destruction and cavitation may occur. When an individual with active TB coughs, they generate infectious droplets which propagate infection.

This figure is adapted from "In search of a new paradigm for protective immunity to TB. Nunes-Alves, C. et al. Nat Rev Micro 2014; 12: 289" [215] and "Tuberculosis: Time for a new Perspetive? Elkington, P.T. et al. J. Infect 2013; 66 (4): 299-302 [209].

The entry of Mtb into macrophages may occur via a variety of different receptors including complement receptors (CR1, CR3, CR4), mannose receptors (MR), the dendritic cell-specific intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-3-grabbing nonintergrin (DC-SIGN), surfactant protein receptors (SPR), scavenger receptors (SR) and Fc receptors (FcR) [216]. The ability of multiple receptor molecules to internalise Mtb is likely related to its complex cell surface structure [217], and the precise receptor involved in phagocytic entry into the cell may have an impact on the fate of Mtb once inside the macrophage [216]. For example ingestion of Mtb via FcR occurs by binding to IgG-coated targets, whereas complement receptors such as CR3 bind complement-opsonised targets, resulting in different mechanisms of uptake [218]. Subsequently different intracellular mechanisms occur – FcR ligation is accompanied by the activation of the respiratory burst (production of reactive oxygen species) and production of arachidonic acid metabolites and cytokines, such as TNF. However following binding to CR3 there is an absence of any of these pro-inflammatory signals [218].

Mtb also activates several PRRs: the TLR-2, -4 and -9, nucleotide oligomerisation domain (NOD)-like receptors and Dectin-1 on macrophages [219-221]. Binding of Mtb to these PRR leads to activation of the NF κ B pathway via the MyD88 signalling pathway, resulting in the production of inflammatory cytokines and direct antimicrobial activity [222]. In addition, the NOD2 receptor may also activate the inflammasome [223]. Thus the NF κ B signalling pathway can regulate innate immunity by controlling the expression of various immunomodulatory molecules (e.g. TNF, IL1 β and IL12), and thus modulate the intracellular survival of invading bacteria [224]. Dectin-1 mediated recognition of Mtb induces Th1 and Th17 responses, and subsequent secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines that promote bacterial killing and in addition promotes IL12p40 production by dendritic cells in response to Mtb infection [221].

Upon entry of Mtb into the macrophages, initial inflammatory responses are triggered which comprises secretion of various cytokines (including TNF, IL1 β , IL6, IL12, IL18 and IL23) and chemokines. Subsequent phagosome acidification and fusion with lysosomes to form the phagolyosome, results in the killing of most

47

pathogens [225]. Activated macrophages also produce reactive nitrogen species (RNS) and reactive oxygen species (ROS), through activity of inducible nitric oxide synthetase (iNOS), which may promote effective killing of ingested bacteria in acidified compartments [226]. iNOS is a key enzyme required for nitric oxide production and Mtb control during infection of mouse macrophages, however the role of nitric oxide during infection of human macrophages remains unclear. Mtb may prevent phagosome-lyosome fusion thus preventing acidification and recruitment of lyosomal hydrolases [227], with a small proportion of bacteria breaking out of the phagosome to live in the cytosol [228], thereby subverting intracellular death and allowing for bacterial survival and growth.

3.3.3 The role of immune responses in protection against TB

Macrophages play a unique role in host response to mycobacterial infections, acting as both the primary effector cell for mycobacterial death and providing optimal conditions for intracellular mycobacterial growth and replication. However their role remains unclear as depletion of AM in mice, resulted in increased survival with lower mycobacterial growth compared to non-AM depleted mice, but fewer and more disorganised granulomas, suggesting that macrophages do not control mycobacterial growth alone [229, 230].

Another host defence mechanism used by macrophages is autophagy – the homeostatic process by which a cell degrades its own intracellular compartments, characterised by the emergence of an autophagosome. This captures defective organelles and large macromolecular aggregates and intracellular pathogens including Mtb, delivering them for lysosomal degradation and ultimately killing the ingested bacteria [231]. Autophagy limits bacterial growth, but also may dampen the host inflammatory response. Stimulation of mouse macrophages results in IFN γ production and induces autophagy, which is necessary for antimicrobial activity against Mtb [232]. Many of the autophagy-associated proteins are also involved in phagosome-lysosome fusion [233]. Induction of autophagy during mycobacterial infection increases acidification and subsequent maturation of mycobacteria-containing phagosomes, resulting in intracellular killing of Mtb [233]. However mycobacteria have also developed several strategies to subvert

48

autophagic killing – including ectopic production of the secretory proteins – early secretory antigenic target 6 (ESAT6) and culture filtrate antigen 10 (CFP10), secreted by the ESAT6 secretion system (ESX-1) system which inhibit autophagosome formation [234] and in addition, ESX-1 plays a direct role on inhibition of autophagy in dendritic cells [235]. ESAT6 and CFP10 are also thought to play a role in preventing phago-lysosomal fusion [236], although their main role is in Mtb virulence potentially via apoptosis inhibition and preventing IL12 and TNF production from Mtb-infected macrophages [237].

The adaptive immune response is activated after mycobacteria are engulfed, and pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines recruit CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, natural killer cells and neutrophils to the site of infection. The recruited cells produce further cytokines and chemokines to recruit and activate more cells. Induction of the adaptive immune responses against Mtb is thought to be slow – around 3-8 weeks in humans and non-human primates, and infection may already be well established before a full response has been activated [238, 239]. This may be partly due to Mtb's ability to actively inhibit, subvert or otherwise modulate antigen presentation by major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I, class II and CD1 molecules, thus avoiding immune recognition by T cells [240].

Cell-mediated immunity, the immune response involving activation of phagocytes, antigen-specific T cells and the release of various cytokines in response to antigen, is critical for control of Mtb infection. The importance of T cell immunity in the control of Mtb infection has been demonstrated in a number of animal studies; in mice, CD4⁺ T cells play an important role in immunity against Mtb infection [241-244] and Mtb infection following depletion of CD4⁺ T cells in Cynomolgus macaques resulted in severe exacerbation of primary TB with increased extrapulmonary spread and mycobacterial burden [245], although CD8⁺ T cells were able to compensate and rapidly differentiate into Th17-like/Th1-like cytotoxic effector cells [246]. In humans, co-infection of TB with HIV-1 is more likely to occur when CD4 numbers are reduced, although other altered inflammatory responses may also contribute to this.

Mtb-specific CD8⁺ T cells are induced in response to Mtb infection, and subsequently recognise Mtb-infected macrophages [247, 248]. Cytotoxic activity of CD8⁺ T cells includes at least two separate mechanisms: apoptosis via the Fas-FasL pathway and killing via perforin and granulysin [249]. In humans, CD8⁺ T cells can kill intracellular mycobacteria via the release of the antimicrobial peptide granulysin [250], however this molecule is not present in the mouse. The fact that no mouse analogue of granulysin exists, may in part explain why mice deficient in MHC Class I molecules (thus deficient in CD8⁺ T cells) have a higher burden of Mtb in the lungs and a modest decrease in survival [242], in contrast to CD4⁺ T cell-deficient or MHC Class II-deficient mice, who display more rapidly progressive bacterial growth and a sharp decline in survival [242].

The cytotoxic potential of CD8⁺ T cells to kill infected macrophages in vivo has been shown to be dependent on CD4⁺ T cells in the mouse models, suggesting that the susceptibility of CD4⁺ T cell knock-out mice to Mtb infection might be due in part to impaired CTL activity [251]. Mtb-specific CD8⁺ T cells are also involved in cytokine production, particularly IFN γ and TNF. Mechanisms that regulate relative cytokine or cytolytic activity of CD8⁺ T cells during Mtb infection are not fully understood.

When Th1 CD4⁺ T cells are presented with antigens in the context of MHC Class II, they produce pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IFN γ , TNF and IL2, which help to restrict mycobacterial growth [252]. In contrast Th2 CD4⁺ T cells induce an alternative immune response including production of IL4, IL5 and IL10. These together with Treg may dampen the host response and favour persistence of Mtb [253]. CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells which simultaneously produce two or more cytokines, such as IFN γ , TNF and IL2 are generally considered to be superior effectors, compared to those only producing one cytokine, as they indicate a capacity for effector and proliferative functions [254]. Mtb-specific CD4⁺ T cells which produce IFN γ , TNF and IL2 are more commonly seen in LTBI than active disease, suggesting a protective immune function [255-257].

Production of IL12 by antigen presenting cells and IFN γ in a classical Th1 type response is important for mycobacterial control generally. This is reflected in

50

Mendelian susceptibility to mycobacterial disease in humans with genetic deficiencies affecting various parts of the IL12/IFN γ signalling axis [258-260]. In addition, IFN γ knockout models in mice show uncontrolled Mtb growth [261]. Indeed IFN γ is considered to be a key effector molecule because it directly augments intracellular killing of Mtb within macrophages via a nitric oxide-dependent mechanism [262]. Individuals with mutations in the IFN γ receptor and its key downstream signalling molecule (STAT1) are extremely susceptible to mycobacterial infections [263-265]. This infers a role for CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells that generate antigen-specific IFN γ responses. Indeed mice deficient in TLR-2 or TLR-9 with high levels of IFN γ and TNF, with high infiltration of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in lungs still succumb to Mtb infections indicating that the innate immune response has a more profound role than simply assisting adaptive immunity [266]. However when the acquired response is absent, bacteria may grow rapidly [267], indicating that both the innate and adaptive responses are both required for a robust host immune response to Mtb.

In addition, IL10 is a potent immunoregulatory cytokine in the host response to Mtb, produced by Th1, Th2 and Th17 cells, B cells, neutrophils, macrophages and some DC subsets [268]. Its role in Mtb infection may be viewed as aiding immune evasion or immune protective, as the absence of IL10 can enhance the immune response and early clearance of Mtb [269]. However IL10 may antagonise the development of Th1 responses through antigen presentation suppression and reduced IL12 production [270], and inhibit ROS / RNS-mediated Mtb killing [271-273], in addition to blocking antigen presentation via downregulation of the major histocompatibility molecules [271]. IL10 also blocks phagosome maturation and phagosome-lysosome fusion by a STAT3-dependent, p38 dependent mechanism, which facilitates Mtb survival and outgrowth [274]. Nonetheless it has been predicted through computational modelling that low levels of IL10 from activated macrophages is required for an efficient anti-microbial response, control of bacterial growth and for prevention of lung damage [275].

3.3.4 The role of TNF in TB

As outlined above, the immune response to Mtb is triggered by direct interactions of mycobacterial proteins and lipoproteins with TLR of alveolar macrophages leading to release of cytokines and chemokines including TNF and IL12 [222, 276].

TNF plays a role in macrophage activation and differentiation [277], apoptosis [278], chemokine expression [279, 280] and adhesion molecule expression [281]. TNF is assumed to be important in controlling both early and latent infection in non-human primates (NHP), given that NHP who received anti-TNF antibody therapy had uncontrolled and disseminated by eight weeks after Mtb infection, and a high rate of reactivation of active disease in NHP with LTBI [282].

The granuloma is a dynamic structure containing a variety of cell types. However there are thought to be unique migrational behaviours of cells, in particular effector T cells, which are highly motile, but tend to remain localised on the borders of the granuloma rather than entering or exiting the structure [283]. TNF is thought to be essential for the formation and maintenance of granulomas, by regulating the tight apposition of macrophages and lymphocytes [284].

Animal models have demonstrated that TNF deficiency increases susceptibility to granulomatous infections [277, 285]. Rabbits with active TB and receiving etanercept, displayed increased bacilliary load and larger granuloma with more extensive necrosis and cavity formation [286]. In TNF deficient mice, and mice treated with anti-TNF antibody, the absence or neutralisation of TNF decreases both the recruitment of inflammatory cells and disrupts the normal architecture of granuloma [284, 287, 288]; Presumed to be because TNF usually induces chemokines including CCL3, CCL4, CXCL2 and CCL2 and CCL5 and subsequent leucocyte recruitment to infected organs [284]. Blockade of TNF signalling by anti-TNF antibody in mice with established BCG granulomas, resulted in a loss of granuloma cellularity and protective function, leading to an increased bacillary load [287, 288]. Mice infected with Mtb, and treated with anti-TNF antibody before [277] and after infection [289] had disorganised granuloma, whereas latently-infected NHP treated with anti-TNF antibody had normal granuloma structure, although the granuloma were larger than those of wild-type NHP [282]. Moreover,

NHP treated with anti-TNF antibody did have increased bacterial burden, disease and extrapulmonary spread in keeping with reactivation of LTBI. This is similar to the zebrafish model of *Mycobacterium marinum* infection, in which normal and accelerated granuloma formation was observed in the absence of TNF, despite increased bacterial growth [290]. These data suggest that early granuloma formation is independent of TNF signalling, at least in NHP and zebrafish. Interestingly, no differences were seen in T cell number or cellular phenotype of the granuloma, or mycobacteria-induced production of IFN γ in NHP with acute infection, despite those being treated with anti-TNF therapy having more disseminated TB disease [282]. In addition, NHP with latent TB infection had a higher bacterial load and disease burden if treated with anti-TNF therapy, compared to control NHP [282]. Anti-TNF therapy in Mtb-infected NHP was associated with increased levels of IL12, reduced levels of CCL4 and increased chemokine receptor expression [282], suggesting that TNF plays a role in regulation of IL12 expression and regulation of critical cytokines and chemotactic factors that ultimately contribute to disseminated disease. Therefore in the NHP model, TNF affects the localisation of cells, and the integrity of cellular interactions within the granuloma, rather than the overall granuloma structure.

Mtb-infected murine bone-marrow derived macrophages treated with anti-TNF antibody therapy or from TNFR1 knockout mice, demonstrated that chemokines involved in chemotaxis of cells to the site of infection, including CXCL9, CXCL10, CXCL11, CCL5 and CCL2 were dependent on TNF [291]. However the lack of TNF did not completely stop chemokine expression, indicating that other cells or environmental factors may stimulate chemokine production [291]. TNF blockade in Mtb-infected NHP also lead to altered chemokine expression, impaired cellular recruitment and resulted in a higher proportion of extrapulmonary disease than is usually seen in these animals [282].

Human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) stimulated with Mtb antigens, and treated with anti-TNF antibody, demonstrated reduced T cell activation, IFN γ production [292] and proliferative responses [293]. Depletion of Mtb reactive CD8⁺ T cells by antibody binding to membrane TNF has also been described [294]. In humans receiving anti-TNF therapy, there is an increased risk of disseminated mycobacterial disease [186, 187], which may be due to disrupted granuloma formation, contributing to reactivation of LTBI. An in vitro model of a human TB granuloma using human primary leucocytes and Mtb-infected macrophages, shows that addition anti-TNF antibody therapy leads to resuscitation of dormant bacilli [295]. Although the mycobacteria become more metabolically active following TNF blockade, it is not clear from this experimental model whether TNF has effect on the cellular structure of the microgranuloma.

TNF is also important in the production of ROS and RNS, which activate macrophages and contribute to killing of intracellular Mtb in animal models. Defects in production of ROS and / or RNS in animal models are associated with increased susceptibility to mycobacterial infection [226, 277, 296-298], and levels of ROS and RNS have been shown to be downregulated by etanercept in Mtb-infected rabbits [286].

Indeed excessive TNF production is also associated with higher susceptibility to TB. This has been shown in zebrafish and other animal models, as well as in TB meningitis patients, where a polymorphism at the LTA4H locus that causes increased TNF production, has been linked with more progressive disease symptoms [299, 300]. Elevated levels of TNF are associated with immunopathological responses in human pulmonary TB, with increased destruction of pulmonary tissue [301] and excessive inflammation associated with cell necrosis and cachexia [302, 303]. These data suggest that the role of TNF in Mtb is finely balanced as it is required for macrophage activation, apoptosis and cell recruitment, but if overproduced may cause excess injury to the host.

3.3.5 The effect of anti-TNF therapy on cell mediated immunity in the immune response to TB

Cell mediated immunity plays a vital role in controlling mycobacterial infection. Following in vitro addition of anti-TNF antibody therapy to whole blood stimulated with mycobacterial antigens, activation of CD4⁺ T cells is inhibited with reduced production of IFN γ and IL10 [292, 293]. In whole blood sampled shortly after infliximab infusion and stimulated with BCG, significant reduction is seen in chemokines CXCL8, CCL2, CCL3 and CCL4 [304]. Similarly macrophage production

of chemokines is reduced in response to Mtb infection by anti-TNF antibody added in vitro [279, 291], suggesting that TNF controls chemokine expression in response to mycobacterial antigens.

Infliximab also depletes a major subset of anti-mycobacterial CD8 effector memory cells, which may contribute to reactivation of LTBI [294], suggesting that anti-TNF antibody therapy has a major impact on T cell responses. Etanercept has not been shown to inhibit or deplete these cell types.

The restoration of Treg function with anti-TNF antibody therapy but not etanercept may also help to explain the differential risk of granulomatous disease, particularly reactivation of LTBI during and after anti-TNF therapy. Although both mechanisms of TNF blockade confer similar clinical efficacy in inflammatory arthritis, anti-TNF antibody therapy increases risk of active mycobacterial infection by 7-17 fold compared to etanercept [187].

3.4 WHAT ARE THE GAPS IN OUR KNOWLEDGE?

The biologics registries have established unequivocally that anti-TNF therapies increase the risk of active TB [186-189]. Because the incident rate of disease in the short term, typically within months of starting anti-TNF therapy, was perceived to exceed the likely rate of transmission of new infections, anti-TNF therapy is thought to increase reactivation of active TB [305]. Clinical practice has therefore focused on identifying LTBI before starting anti-TNF therapy [306]. The registries have not provided long-term data follow up on patients receiving anti-TNF therapy. Therefore, whether these drugs increase risk of active TB due to new infections remains unknown. This question has become increasingly important because a rising number of patients have now been established on long-term anti-TNF therapy. Subsequently the need for ongoing TB surveillance during anti-TNF therapy is not known.

The mechanism by which anti-TNF therapy leads to active TB also remains elusive. In part this is because the immune correlates of host protection and pathogenicity in active are also incompletely understood. In this context, the effects of anti-TNF therapies may offer novel insights into immune correlates of clinical outcome on TB infection. TNF activity is clearly evident in the host response to TB infection [307]. The available experimental data derived from animal models or in vitro cellular immunology, suggest that anti-TNF therapies may inhibit T cell reactivity [292-294], leucocyte recruitment [279, 291, 304] or TNF mediated pathways for intracellular Mtb restriction [286]. Remarkably, there are no in vivo human data to show that anti-TNF therapies block biological TNF activity within cell mediated immune responses and consequently no such in vivo data on the differential effects of anti-TNF antibodies and ETN, which exhibit differential risk of active TB. Moreover there is a dearth of experimental data that anti-TNF therapies affect Mtb growth in human macrophages, thought to represent the principal unit of infection.

These gaps in our knowledge are significant hurdles to being able to manage the risk of active TB in patients in anti-TNF therapies, to refine biological therapies in

56

order to minimise risk of infections and to obtain greater insights into the immune correlates of outcomes in TB.

4 HYPOTHESES

- **1.** I hypothesised that anti-TNF therapy leads to reactivation of LTBI and also increases the risk of newly acquired TB infection. In order to test this hypothesis, I sought to identify all cases of active TB reported to the BSRBR and categorised cases according to the site of infection and time to infection, after starting anti-TNF therapy. By focusing on extrapulmonary infection, a time course of reactivation of LTBI can be established. If the incidence of pulmonary infections follow this trajectory, then I infer that all incident TB is due to reactivation, but if pulmonary disease continues to occur after extrapulmonary disease stops then I infer that acquisition of new infection also contributes to risk of TB.
- 2. Genome wide transcriptional processing has been used in RA previously, before and after anti-TNF treatment, to identify potential biomarkers that can stratify patients' response to treatment. Given that TNF-associated genes are downregulated following anti-TNF therapy, I hypothesised that TNF activity would be suppressed in the TST of RA patients receiving anti-TNF therapy, compared to healthy volunteers and RA patients only treated with methotrexate. I sought to test this hypothesis by assessing TNF-dependent transcriptional responses in vivo, responses at the site of the TST, and consequently evaluate the role of TNF in genome-wide assessments of cell-mediated immune responses.
- 3. The risk of active TB increases significantly to 7-17 times higher than the general population, when patients are treated with anti-TNF therapy. Although it has been shown that anti-TNF therapy may increase bacillary burden, and is likely to reactivate LTBI by resuscitating dormant intracellular mycobacteria, it has not been clearly demonstrated that anti-TNF therapy has a direct effect on intracellular mycobacterial growth in macrophages. Given these findings, I hypothesised that anti-TNF therapy is

also able to abrogate intracellular mycobacterial killing, thus leading to an increased total Mtb burden. In order to investigate this I treated Mtb-infected MDM with anti-TNF therapy and quantified mycobacterial growth inside and outside of MDM.

5 AIMS OF THE PROJECT

The aim of this thesis is to further understand the mechanism by which anti-TNF therapy increases the risk of active TB.

Specifically, this thesis will aim to understand:

- 1. Whether the risk of active TB during anti-TNF therapy is due to reactivation of latent TB infection, or also increases the risk of de novo TB infection
- 2. What impact anti-TNF therapy has at the site of the TST in vivo, and its effect on TNF inducible activity
- 3. What effect anti-TNF therapy has on growth of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in monocyte-derived macrophages in vitro

6 MATERIALS AND METHODS

6.1 BRITISH SOCIETY OF RHEUMATOLOGY BIOLOGICS REGISTRY DATA ANALYSIS

Patients who developed active tuberculosis (TB) who were registered in the British Society of Rheumatology Biologics Registry (BSRBR) database were identified using searched terms "tuberculosis" and "mycobacteria". The database search included patients registered from 2001 until December 2013.

64 cases were identified from the database and demographic, pharmacologic and disease data was collected on these patients.

6.2 STUDY SUBJECTS

This study was approved by the local research ethics committee (REC number 11/LO/1863); written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

Human blood and skin samples were obtained from patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA) recruited from University College London Hospital (UCLH) and Northwick Park Hospital (NPH). Healthy subjects were recruited from University College London (UCL), NPH and UCLH.

6.3 INVESTIGATION OF PERIPHERAL BLOOD RESPONSES TO TB ANTIGENS -INTERFERON GAMMA RELEASE ASSAYS

6.3.1 IFNy ELISpot

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) were obtained by density gradient centrifugation of heparinised whole blood with Ficoll-PaqueTM PLUS (GE Healthcare Biosciences) at 800 x g for 20 minutes according to the manufacturer's instructions. After repeated washing with PBS without calcium (GIBCO, Invitrogen). PBMC were cryopreserved in foetal calf serum (FCS) (Biosera) containing 10% DMSO (Sigma Aldrich) and stored at -80°C at a concentration of 2 x 10⁷ cells/ml.

Sterile, clear 96-well filter plate with 0.45 μ m pore size and a PVDF base membrane (Merck Millipore) were coated with 100 μ l 1 μ g/ml Anti-Human IFN γ

antibody (eBioscience) overnight at 4°C. Plates were washed with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and blocked with Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI) 1640 with L-glutamine (GIBCO, Invitrogen) with 5% foetal calf serum (FCS) for 30 minutes. The plate was then washed and blotted dry. PBMC were thawed, washed in PBS and resuspended in X-VIVO15 media (Lonza) and plated at 2 x 10^5 cells/well. Antigens were added to each well in duplicate – PPD 10μ g/ml (SSI, Denmark), TB antigen (ESAT6/CFP10 fusion protein – courtesy of Professor Tom Ottenhoff, University of Leiden) 10μ g/ml, TT 10μ g/ml (NIBSC), heat-killed *Candida albicans* 10^6 /ml cells (Invivogen) and soluble anti-CD3 (HIT 3a) (eBioscience).

Plates were incubated for 48 hours at 37°C in the dark. The cell suspension was then removed and the plate was washed with PBS. 1µg/ml of biotinylated secondary detection antibody (eBioscience) was applied in 0.5% FCS/PBS and incubated for 60 minutes at room temperature (RT), flicked out and washed. 1µg/ml of streptavidin alkaline phosphatase (ALP) (Calbiochem) conjugate was applied in 0.5% FCS/PBS for 30 minutes at RT, flicked out and washed. The ALP substrate BCIP/NBT (Merck) was applied and reaction was allowed to develop in the dark for 8 minutes. The substrate was removed and the reaction stopped by addition of distilled water.

Plates were dried in the dark and analysed using AID ELISpot Software version 5.0 on the AID ELISpot Reader. Duplicate wells were averaged and the negative control was subtracted from the mean to normalise results.

6.4 TUBERCULIN SKIN TESTS

6.4.1 Tuberculin skin tests (TST) and biopsy collection

Research nurses recruited patients with RA from UCLH, under my supervision, and I recruited RA patients from NPH. I recruited healthy subjects from UCL, NPH and UCLH.

Participants were identified following a positive response to the PPD ELISpot (> 10 spots / 200 000 cells). An intradermal injection of 2TU tuberculin (Serum Statens Institute, Denmark) was performed into the left forearm and the injection site was

marked with a permanent marker. After 72 hours, the skin was infiltrated with 0.5ml 2% lignocaine and two 3mm punch skin biopsies were taken. Biopsies were collected into RNAlater (Qiagen) for RNA extraction, or snap frozen in OCT Compound (Tissue-Tek) for histological analysis. Samples were stored at -80°C. Details of clinical induration and erythema were noted at 72 hours.

I performed the TST and biopsies for 36 participants, a further 14 TST and biopsies were performed by the research nurses Jo Williams and Vicky Howard. I performed all of the RNA extraction and tissue processing.

6.4.2 Histological assessment of TST biopsy samples

Frozen sections were carefully thawed and fixed in 4% neutral buffered formalin, then embedded in paraffin wax (Sakura) by the UCL Pathology Core Facility. 3 μ m sections were cut and stained using the Leica Bond III automated immunostaining platform, with the Leica Bond Polymer Refine detection kit (Leica DS9800) and a 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) chromogen. Immunostaining was performed by Dr Naomi Guppy, at UCL Advanced Diagnostics. Details of the antibodies used are seen in Table 6.1.

Whole slide images of the histology sections were acquired with an Axio-Scan microscope using Zen 2 core software at 20x magnification and are presented without any subsequent processing. Digital image analysis was performed using Definiens AG (Munich) Tissue Studio 4.3, by Dr Matthew Ellis, Institute of Neurology. Tissue detection automatically identified all the tissue within each image, then a machine learning method was used to separate the sample from background and non-tissue regions, and segment the sample into dermis and epidermis; manual correction was used to ensure valid separation of these regions of interest (ROI). A fixed threshold was then applied to each ROI to identify the chromogen positive areas (μ m²), which is represented as a percentage of the total tissue/ROI area. For MMP9 stained sections an alternative method was used to identify chromogen positive regions; due to variation in the stain properties between samples a dynamic threshold, based on the overall intensity of chromogen positive tissue.

63

Target	Clone	Catalogue number	Dilution
CD3	LN10	Leica NCL-L-CD3-565	1:100
CD14	7	Leica NCL-L-CD14-223	1:25
CD19	BT51E	Leica PA0843	1:1
CD163	10D6	Leica NCL-L-CD163	1:100
MMP9	56-2A4	Millipore MAB3309	1:2000
Neutrophil Elastase	NP57	Dako M0752	1:10

Table 6.1 Antibodies used for immunohistochemistry

6.4.3 Genome wide transcriptional profiling of TST biopsy samples

Skin biopsy samples were thawed and transferred to 1ml Qiazol (Qiagen). Tissues were disrupted using a homogenisor (Omni International), and RNA was obtained following a chloroform extraction and RNEasy Mini kit (Qiagen) according to manufacturer's instructions. RNA samples were subjected to DNase treatment using the TURBO DNA-free kit (Ambion), as per the manufacturer's instructions to remove contaminating genomic DNA. RNA quality and integrity were measured electrophorectically (Agilent 2100 Bioanalyser).

RNA Samples were labelled in preparation for hybridisation and scanning of microarrays with the Agilent Low RNA Input Linear Amplification Kit according to manufacturer's instructions.

Total RNA was amplified, reverse transcribed into cDNA and then to cRNA and labelled with Cy5 or Cy3 using the Agilent Low RNA Input Linear Amplification Kit. Purification, labeling intensity and RNA concentration were verified used in a NanoDrop ND-1000 UV-VIS Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific). Equal concentrations of Cy3 and Cy5 labelled samples were mixed and hybridised to Agilent 8x60k SurePrint G3 Human Gene Expression arrays as per manufacturer's instructions.

6.4.4 Whole genome transcriptional profiling analysis software

Array images were acquired with Agilent's dual-laser microarray scanner G2565BA and raw signal data were collected with Agilent Feature Extraction software (v10.7.1.1). The R package agilp was used to extract and log₂-transform raw data from scanner files, remove probe duplicates, and apply Loess normalization [308]. All array data are deposited on ArrayExpress (https://www.ebi.ac.uk/arrayexpress/) under accession numbers E-MTAB-5095

(LPS MDM module), E-MTAB-5094 (whole blood stimulation), and E-MTAB-5093 (skin biopsies).

Differential gene expression was assessed in MultiExperiment Viewer v4.9.0 (http://www.tm4.org/mev.html), using a p value cut-off of 0.05 in t tests with Welch's approximation (paired where appropriate) to derive TNF modules from ex vivo and cell culture experiments, or in Wilcoxon tests to compare saline- and tuberculin-injected skin. The overlap of gene lists was visualized in Venn diagrams, using the web application Venny 2.1 (http://bioinfogp.cnb.csic.es/tools/venny/) (Oliveros 2007-2015). Upstream regulators were predicted with the upstream analysis tool within QIAGEN's Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA®, QIAGEN Redwood City, www.qiagen.com/ingeuity). Over-represented pathways were identified in InnateDB (http://www.innatedb.com), using default analysis parameters, and were visualised as network diagram in Gephi v0.8.2 beta (https://gephi.org/). Principal component analysis was performed using the prcomp function in R.

6.4.5 Derivation of cell type specific gene modules

Cell type specific modules were created by members of our group – specific thanks to Lucy Bell, Gabriele Pollara and Carolin Haas who have described the methods in a published paper [309].

In brief, a gene expression matrix of purified cells was derived from the processed dataset E-GEOD- 22886 available on ArrayExpress repository. The extracted data were not processed further aside from adding gene symbol annotations to probe names. Cell type specific modules were generated by identifying three to five gene probes, corresponding to validated markers that identify each cell type of interest. The markers were each used to identify co-correlated genes amongst all other gene probes in the expression data matrix. The top 1% of probes that were most co-correlated with the expression of each marker were identified using the Pearson correlation coefficient function in R, and cell type specific modules were then derived from the highly co-correlated probes that were common to all markers for each cell type. The specificity of these modules was validated by comparison of the geometric mean expression level for each module within

genome-wide data from each cell type in E-GEOD-22886 (from where the modules were derived) and also in E-GEOD-28490, an independent dataset of purified cell types. Furthermore, the sensitivity of cell type specific modules to detect changes for specific cell populations in tissue specimens was evaluated in published datasets, which described changes to cell composition confirmed by histological assessments.

In addition, a macrophage specific gene module was identified by overlapping module content in two data matrices comprising purified monocyte derived macrophages and other cell types. We have previously demonstrated that this approach results in modules more specific than those generated from single datasets [310]. For every gene, the expression difference between macrophages and all other cell types in the first data matrix was computed (ArrayExpress accession number: E-GEOD-22886). Genes that were two-fold or greater upregulated in macrophages compared to at least 90 % of the other cell types in that matrix were selected. This process was then repeated for the second data matrix (generated based on datasets E-TABM-759, E-TABM-998, E-MEXP-2032, E-TABM-1163 and E-TABM-1206), and genes identified in both analyses were selected to comprise the final macrophage module.

6.4.6 Integrated TST signature

Differential gene expression between TST and saline-injected skin samples was assessed with the Wilcoxon test in MultiExperiment Viewer v4.9.0 (http://www.tm4.org/mev.html). Only probes with a log₂ signal intensity above the detection limit of six and a valid NM_RefSeq annotation were considered for this analysis. For each patient group, genes with a p value < 0.05 and a median expression \geq two-fold higher in the TST compared to saline were defined as this group's TST signature. The group-specific TST signatures were then combined to form the integrated TST signature, which consequently consisted of 595 genes that were significantly up-regulated in the TST in at least one of the patient groups.

6.4.7 Derivation of TNF activity gene modules

TNF activity gene modules were developed by Lucy Bell (TNF (MDM)), Carolin Haas (Endogenous TNF and TNF (KC)) and myself (TNF – whole blood modules).

The TNF (MDM) module has previously been published and represents genes induced significantly and at least four-fold in human monocyte-derived macrophages after 24 hour stimulation with 10 ng/ml of recombinant human TNF [309]. Specificity of this module has been achieved through removal of genes that were also up-regulated at least two-fold in response to stimulation with other cytokines [309].

The TNF (KC) module was obtained from published transcriptomic data of primary human keratinocytes stimulated with different cytokines [311, 312]. Adapting the approach taken by Bell et al. to derive the TNF (MDM) module above, significant transcriptional responses to TNF (24 hours, 10 ng/ml) in comparison to unstimulated keratinocytes were identified by t test with Welch's approximation (p < 0.05) and a fold change of at least four-fold. Genes that were additionally upregulated at least two-fold by IFN- γ , IL-17 or IL-22 were excluded, and the remaining genes formed the TNF (KC) module.

To generate the Endogenous TNF (MDM) module, human blood monocyte-derived macrophages were generated as previously described [313]. Differentiated MDM were pre-stimulated for 1 hr with 10 μ g/ml etanercept (Pfizer) or medium control before ultra-pure LPS (100 ng/ml; Invivogen) was added for 24 hr (n=3 per group). Transcriptional profiling of stimulated MDM was then performed as previously reported [309]. LPS-inducible genes were defined through comparison with transcriptional data from unstimulated MDM (n=18), using a t test with Welch's approximation (p < 0.05) and a fold change cut-off of two-fold. Amongst these LPS response genes, those that were attenuated significantly (p < 0.05) and at least two-fold in the presence of etanercept were summarised as the Endogenous TNF (MDM) module.

The TNF (HV whole blood) module was generated using whole peripheral blood from four healthy volunteers incubated at 37 °C for three hours with or without 10ng/ml recombinant human TNF (Life Technologies). TNF-inducible genes were defined through comparison of the transcriptional data from TNF-stimulated and unstimulated whole blood, using a t test with Welch's approximation (p < 0.05) and a fold change cut-off of two-fold. All genes which were up-regulated by at least two-fold were included in the TNF (HV WB) module.

In addition TNF modules were developed from patients with RA on specific therapies (Methotrexate or anti-TNF therapy) or amalgamated to make the "RA whole blood" module. These modules were developed in the same manner as the TNF (HV whole blood) module. The gene lists that make up each TNF module are summarised in Table 6.2.

Table 6.2 TNF modules - gene lists

Module	Constituent genes
TNF (MDM)	EBI3, SLC2A6, LAD1, LOC440896, IL8, PLEKHG3, SLC7A11, NFKBIA, BIRC3, MARCKS, LOC389634, ZNF205, KCTD19, SGPP2, MSC, NKG7
Endogenous TNF (MDM)	MYH11, IL2RA, EBI3, ORM1, TNFAIP6, NNMT, NKG7, ORM2, TMEM120A, ADAM19, IL32, SGPP2, SLC39A8, CFB, SIX5, CCL19, MAP1LC3A, CCM2L, ABTB2, SOCS3, PPA1, LIMK2, TMEM173, MCOLN2, ITGB8, BATF, CHI3L2, G0S2, RRAD, SIGLEC10, CAMK1G, ID01, PNRC1, LAMB3, RHOH, ADORA2A, C1S, CCL20, CLEC4D, LAMP3, MAOA, CCL23, STXBP6, TNFRSF4, CCL14, LAD1, TNIP1, PDE4B, DUSP8, IL15RA, PKN3, JMJD7, STAP2, HAPLN3, ULK2, PSTPIP2, ZNF445, CD274, CRABP1, SAA2, NAMPT, APOL3, PFKFB3, CCL5, TSPAN33, NFKBIA, GRAMD1A, PTPN2, VEGFA, SOCS2, PTGIR, KRTAP10-10, JMJD7-PLA2G4B, C1orf122, PLEKHM3, CD82
TNF (KC)	CSF2, MMP9, IGFBP3, NRCAM, SEMA3C, INHBA, TMEFF1, SQSTM1, CD83, NFKB2
TNF (HV whole blood)	KCNJ2-AS1, ATP6AP1, NDUFV2, CCL16, ANP32A, LIMK2, PTAFR, PLEKHM3, PI4K2B, INSIG1, PTGES, PDLIM5, RASGEF1B, VAV1, ZHX2, MTF1, DMXL2, FAS, ANP32D, ECE1, CCL19, IL36G, IGSF6, ZC3H12C, TNFAIP3, WTAP, DNAJB9, BAZ1A, BCL2A1, PIM2, AK2, AZIN1, IL4I1, NFKB1, HIF1A, TTL, ALCAM, TRIP10, C3, KCNJ2, XBP1, NBN, SLC15A3, VILL, NFKB2, MIR155HG, RHOV, IVNS1ABP, PLK3, CFLAR, CD82, UPB1, SLC39A8, AQP9, SLC7A5, MCTP1, SERPINB9, TNIP1, CCL4L2, IRAK3, SAMSN1, BATF3, TCFL5, PLEKHF2, ADORA2A, SOD2, MAFF, CLEC4E, RILPL2, SH2D3A, IRAK2, GCH1, EMR1, ACSL1, SLC43A3, RAB21, CCM2L, RNF144B, PDE4DIP, CD83, MAP3K8, PIK3AP1, ANKRD33B, IRG1, IL1RN, TNFAIP6, NCR3LG1, CLEC4D, PI3, DRAM1, SLAMF7, TRAF1, FMNL3, CCL3L3, KRTAP5-11, FSCN1, CLIC4, MFSD2A, GPR84, SGPP2, EBI3, CCL20, ORM2, ORM1 AGAP3, SERPINB9, NCF1, MIR146A, SKIL, BCL3, SLC11A2, PTGIR, LIMK2, EYA3,
TNF (RA whole blood)	HCAR3, CCL19, TTL, PTAFR, ARHGAP31, BID, SNN, CD58, CFLAR, IVNS1ABP, NCR3LG1, ADM, TNFAIP2, NCF1B, NFKBID, GADD45B, EMR1, NFE2L3, SLC15A3, DLEC1, WTAP, TLR2, CLEC4D, SIRPA, IGSF6, RELA, NR6A1, PLEKHF2, MAP1LC3A, HIVEP1, BMF, PIM2, IFIH1, PLEKHM3, TFEC, BCL2A1, MAP3K8, IER3, FAS, ATF5, ADORA2A, ZSWIM4, RIPK2, BTG3, C3, GBP1, LOC644090, FNDC3B, GPR35, DENND5A, EHD1, ZC3H12A, TICAM1, EDN1, RELB, ATG7, SLPI, IER5, SLC1A3, CCRL2, KYNU, IFNGR2, KMO, PIK3AP1, AQP9, NFKB1, LOC441268, RAB21, FFAR3, GRAMD1A, SCARF1, PSTPIP2, CD274, PLAGL2, MCTP1, SH2D3A, CDC42EP2, CXCL10, DDIT4, MTF1, SIX5, CD82, CLEC4E, MAFF, CCM2L, B4GALT5, LINC01268, PLEK, C1orf122, CXCL2, SOD2, FFAR2, CKAP4, PLAU, ACSL1, CCL4L2, RILPL2, LAMP3, NBN, FEZ1, TNIP1, KRTAP5-11, TNFAIP3, PLK3, NFKBIE, TNF, NFKB2, IRAK3, PDE4DIP, FMNL3, NFKBIA, GCH1, TCFL5, HILPDA, VILL, IL1B, CD83, AK4, LAMB3, UPB1, SAMSN1, KCNJ2, SLC39A8, TRAF1, SLC2A6, ICAM1, SGPP2, RNF144B, ANKRD33B, IL411, SLAMF7, CXCL8, CCL23, MARCKS, PI3, EBI3, DRAM1, CLIC4, MFSD2A, ORM2, IRAK2, CCL3L3, IL1RN, G0S2, ORM1, FSCN1, CCL3, TNFAIP6, GPR84, C15orf48
TNF (MTX whole blood)	ADA, ADORA2A. AK4, AMPD3, ANXA2, ANXA7, BIRC3, FAS, AQP9, ATF3, ATP6AP1, BCL2A1, BCL3, BID, C3, PTTG1IP, CD40, CD44, CD58, PLK3, MAP3K8, DMPK, EIF5A, EZH2, ACSL1, FCER1G, FKBP2, LRRC32, GBP3, GCH1, GPR35, FFAR3, HDAC2, HDGF, HIVEP2, HNRNPC, ICAM1, IL1B, IL1RN, IRAK2, CD82, KCNJ2, LAIR1, LIMK2, LIMS1, MARCKS, MLH1, MTF1, GADD45B, NDUFV2, NFKB1, NFKB2, NFKBIA, NFKBIE, ORM1, ORM2, P2RX4, PLAGL2, PLAU, PLEK, PSEN1, PSMA6, PSMD4, PTGER2, PTGER4, RELA, RELB, RGS16, RLF, SAT1, CCL3, CCL18, CCL20, CCL23, SDC4, SLC1A3, FSCN1, SOD2, SQLE, ADAM17, TLR2, TNF, TNFAIP3, TNFAIP6, TRAF1, TNFRSF4, UBE2H, UGP2, VDR, XBP1, PLA2G7, SNN, KM0, KCNK5, MARCO, RIPK2, TNFRSF18, CFLAR, HCAR3, IER3, KYNU, SOCS3, CCRL2, PSTPIP2, CD83, TRIP10, SEC22B, CCL4L2, WTAP, NFE2L3, FEZ1, PDE4DIP, DOCK4, DLEC1, OXSR1, HS3ST3B1, TANK, TOM1, SH2D3A, EBI3, LHFPL2, IGSF6, TNIP1, BTN2A2, ATG7, SSSCA1, DNPH1, PDLIM5, IVNS1ABP, TCFL5, EHD1, BTG3, PNRC1, CKAP4, CACFD1,

	BAZ1A, SLC2A6, IRAK3, MGLL, TFEC, ZHX2, RAB21, RGL1, DENND5A, NUP62, MAFF, TNFAIP8, CLIC4, CLEC4E, LAMP3, SLC43A3, CD274, REPIN1, DNTTIP2, VILL, IER5, SIRT6, UFM1, ACSL5, UPB1, GPR84, FTHL17, GSAP, GNG2, DRAM1, BATF3, MYDGF, SMG9, C15orf39, GPR108, GRAMD1A, SLAMF7, RAP2C, SAMSN1, SLC39A8, FNDC3B, MRPL14, MRPS24, RHBDF2, MCTP1, ZC3H12A, ITPKC, DNAJC5, VOPP1, ZMIZ2, C15orf48, NFKBID, MFSD2A, SPPL2A, PPP1R15B, ZC3H12C, FMNL3, DNAJA1P5, GTF3C6, TMEM106A, CARD16, AGAP3, PIK3AP1, DCUN1D3, C17orf49, C1orf122, SGPP2, TPRA1, NOL4L, CCM2L, DACT3, SIX5, TICAM1, MOB3C, MEI1, RASGEF1B, RILPL2, CRTC2, RNF144B, IL4I1, LINC01268, TMEM205, C11orf96, PLEKHM3, MIR146A, CCL3L3, PIM3, KRTAP5-11, CARD17, TIFAB, LOC644090, ANKRD33B, LINC0113, LOC730257, PFN1P2
TNF (anti-TNF therapy whole blood)	SQSTM1, IFIH1, PLAGL2, BID, BCL3, TNFAIP3, EHD1, CCRL2, HCAR3, GCH1, NFKB2, PLK3, PLEK, IER5, GCH1, IL1B, SNN, PLAGL2, VILL, B4GALT5, UPB1, SAMSN1, CLIC4, RELB, NFKBIA, NFKBIE, DRAM1, KCNJ2, ANKRD33B, CLIC4, ICAM1, CCL3L3, FFAR3, FSCN1, CCL4L2, MARCKS, IRAK2, CCL4L2, CCL3, C15orf48, TNFAIP6, GPR84

6.4.8 Integrated TST signature

Differential gene expression between TST and saline-injected skin samples was assessed with the Wilcoxon test in MultiExperiment Viewer v4.9.0 (http://www.tm4.org/mev.html). Only probes with a log_2 signal intensity above the detection limit of six and a valid NM_RefSeq annotation were considered for this analysis. For each patient group, genes with a p value < 0.05 and a median expression \geq two-fold higher in the TST compared to saline were defined as this group's TST signature. The group-specific TST signatures were then combined to form the integrated TST signature, which consequently consisted of 595 genes that were significantly up-regulated in the TST in at least one of the patient groups.

6.4.9 Quantification of module expression

To summarise the overall gene expression of each module with one single value, the geometric mean log₂ expression of all contributing genes was computed in Microsoft Excel 2010, and referred to as module score. Relative enrichment of a particular module in the TST compared to saline was determined as the module score difference between individual TST samples and the respective saline pool, and referred to as module enrichment score.

6.5 WHOLE BLOOD TRANSCRIPTIONAL RESPONSE TO RECOBINANT HUMAN TNF STIMULATION

6.5.1 Genome wide transcriptional profiling of whole blood

Whole blood was taken from participants in each of the four study groups described above, and kept at 37°C for 3 hours, either unstimulated or stimulated ex vivo with TNF 10ng/ml (Life Technologies).

Samples were stored in RNALater and frozen (-80°C). RNA was isolated and DNA removed from the using RiboPure RNA Purification Kit Blood (Ambion, Life Technologies), according to manufacturer's instructions. Further purification of the RNA was performed using the RNeasy MinElute Cleanup Kit (Qiagen) and GLOBINclear kit (Ambion, Life Technologies), according to manufacturer's instructions. RNA quality and integrity were measured electrophorectically (Agilent 2100 Bioanalyser).

6.5.2 Labelling, hybridization, scanning and feature extraction

RNA Samples were labelled in preparation for hybridization and scanning of microarrays with the Agilent Low RNA Input Linear Amplification Kit according to manufacturer's instructions.

Total RNA was amplified, reverse transcribed into cDNA and then to cRNA and labelled with Cy5 or Cy3 using the Agilent Low RNA Input Linear Amplification Kit. Purification, labeling intensity and RNA concentration were verified used in a NanoDrop ND-1000 UV-VIS Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific). Equal concentrations of Cy3 and Cy5 labelled samples were mixed and hybridised to Agilent 8x60k SurePrint G3 Human Gene Expression arrays as per manufacturer's instructions. Array images were acquired with Agilent's dual-laser microarray scanner G2565BA and raw signal data were collected with Agilent Feature Extraction software (v10.7.1.1).

Median Cy3 and Cy5 signal intensity was Log transformed and normalised using LOESS local linear regression against the mean signal of all the samples using the R package agilp

(http://www.bioconductor.org/packages/release/bioc/html/agilp.html).

Principal component analysis (PCA) was performed using the prcomp function in R. Significant gene expression differences between data sets were identified using t-tests for non-parametric data (Mann Whitney tests) in MultiExperiment Viewer v4.9 (http://www.tm4.org/mev.html) and a filter for >two-fold difference in mean or median normalised expression values.

6.5.3 Statistical analyses

Statistical tests as specified in figure legends were performed using GraphPad Prism version 6.05 for Windows (GraphPad Software, La Jolla California USA, www.graphpad.com). P values < 0.05 were considered significant.

6.6 PREPARATION OF HUMAN MONOCYTE DERIVED MACROPHAGES AND AUTOLOGOUS PERIPHERAL BLOOD LYMPHOCYTES

6.6.1 Monocyte Derived Macrophages (MDM)

PBMC were obtained by density gradient centrifugation of heparinised whole blood with Ficoll-PaqueTM PLUS (GE Healthcare Biosciences) at 800 x g for 20 minutes according to the manufacturer's instructions. After repeated washing with PBS without calcium (GIBCO, Invitrogen), PBMC were resuspended at 1 x 10⁷ cells/ml in RPMI 1640 with L-glutamine (GIBCO, Invitrogen) containing 5% heat inactivated (56°C for 45 minutes) pooled type AB human serum (ABS) (Sigma Aldrich) and seeded onto 96 well tissue culture plates (TPP) at a volume of 100µl per well.

After one hour at 37°C, non-adherent cells (peripheral blood lymphocytes [PBL]) were removed by sequential washes with PBS supplemented with calcium and magnesium. Adherent cells (predominantly monocytes) were incubated in RPMI 1640 with L-glutamine containing 10% autologous serum (AS) and 20ng/ml M-CSF (R&D Systems) for three days at 37°C. On day 3, any remaining non-adherent cells and the media was refreshed with RPMI 1640 with L-glutamine (GIBCO, Invitrogen) supplemented with 5% ABS (Sigma Aldrich).

MDM have been widely used as in vitro models to study host-pathogen interactions. I adopted this protocol using M-CSF differentiated MDM from other
members of our groups, which has been extensively characterised and validated [309, 314].

6.7 CULTURE OF MYCOBATERIUM TUBERCULOSIS

All experiments used a Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Mtb) H37Rv strain constitutively expressing a fluorescent reporter (mCherry) (courtesy of Tanya Parish, Queen Mary University of London, United Kingdom) cultured in Middlebrook 7H9 medium (BD Bioscience) supplemented with 10% ADC enrichment medium, 0.2% glycerol and 0.05% Tween 20 and agitated at 100 rpm at 37°C. For infection experiments, Mtb at mid log growth at an optical density (OD) of 0.6 was used, corresponding to 10⁸ colony forming units per millilitre (CFU/ml) [315].

Growth curves of H37Rv mCherry were compared to wild type H37Rv, grown in log phase liquid culture and measured by optical density.

6.8 MYCOBACTERIAL INFECTION OF MDM

MDM were prepared as described above. Following six days of culture, cells were infected with H37Rv mCherry at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) 1 for 4 hours at 37°C. Supernatants were then removed and cells were washed vigorously with PBS supplemented with calcium and magnesium to remove extracellular mycobacteria.

For the four-hour time-point, cells were lysed with 200µl of distilled water and fixed with final concentration 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) (Sigma) for flow cytometry. Plates for microscopy were fixed with 8% PFA.

For the later timepoints, cells were replenished with RPMI 1640 with L-Glutamine with 5% AB serum and incubated at 37°C for a further 24 or 120 hours.

At time points 24 or 120 hours, supernatants were removed and wells were washed with PBS again. MDM were lysed with 200µl of distilled water and fixed with final concentration 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) (Sigma) for flow cytometry. Plates for microscopy were fixed with 8% PFA.

6.8.1 Flow cytometry analysis of H37Rv mCherry

Fluorescence of the mCherry reporter was measured by flow cytometry using the BD Fortessa. Results were recorded in BD FACSDiva Software v8.0.1 and analysed using FlowJo (version 7.6).

Mycobacteria were quantified by flow cytometry, by collecting 10 000 events, gated on standardised $10\mu m$ (nominal diameter) polystyrene fluorescent microsphere counting beads (Flow-Check Fluorospheres, Beckman Coulter). The counting beads were gated on the Fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) channel, thus could be excluded from further analysis on the mCherry channel, to ensure only fluorescent mycobacteria were quantified. Singlets beads were identified, and quantified for a more precise number of beads.

The normalised mycobacterial fluorescence was enumerated by multiplying fluorescence in the mCherry channel with the number of events, then dividing by fluorescence and number of events in the FITC channel, which represented the counting beads. Therefore normalised mycobacterial fluorescence represents number of mycobacteria per counting bead

(mCherry fluorescence FSC x mCherry count)

(Bead FSC x Bead count)/Singlet FSC

Sensitivity of flow cytometric quantitation was assessed by addition of the of the anti-mycobacterial drug, isoniazid used at concentrations of 0.4, 4 and 40ng/ml. Isoniazid was added to Mtb-infected cultures, four hours after inoculation, until 120 hours post infection.

6.8.2 Microscopy of H37Rv mCherry-infected MDM

Cells were processed as above and fixed with 8% Paraformaldehyde (PFA). 0.1% Triton X-100 (Sigma) was used to permeablilse cells, before blocking with 10% goat serum and staining cell nuclei with DAPI (Invitrogen) and macrophage cytoplasm with CD68-FITC (Biolegend).

Hermes WiScan microscope was used to image cells using 10x magnification (75% coverage, 35% density, 26 fields per well) and WiSoft automated software was used to count imaged cells per well.

6.9 ADDITION OF ANTI-TNF THERAPY TO H37RV INFECTED MDM

MDM were prepared as described above in 96 well plates. Adalimumab (Abbott), Etanercept (Pfizer) or natural human IgG1 protein (Abcam) were resuspended in RPMI 1640 with L-Glutamine with 5% ABS, at a concentration of 10μ g/ml and added to MDM for one hour prior to Mtb infection.

Optical density of H37Rv mCherry measured, and prepared for inoculation of MDM in RPMI 1640 with L-Glutamine with 5% ABS with or without adalimumab, etanercept or natural human IgG1. MDM were then infected with H37Rv mCherry at a multiplicity of infection of 1, using the same additive (adalimumab, etanercept, IgG1 or no drug), as had been used prior to infection.

After 4 hours, adherent cells were washed vigorously. Wells for the "4 hours timepoint" were lysed in distilled water and collected in a final concentration of 4% PFA. Remaining wells were replenished with RPMI 1640 with L-Glutamine with 5% ABS with or without adalimumab, etanercept or natural human IgG1 for a further 24 or 120 hours. At later time points, supernatants were collected in a final concentration of 4% PFA, adherent cells were vigorously washed and lysed in distilled water for flow cytometry. Parallel plates were also washed and fixed in 8% PFA for microscopy at 4, 24 and 120 hour timepoints.

7 EVALUATING THE RISK OF NEW INFECTION VERSUS REACTIVATION OF LATENT TUBERCULOSIS IN PATIENTS ON ANTI-TNF THERAPY

7.1 INTRODUCTION

When anti-TNF therapy was approved for use in rheumatoid arthritis (RA) in the United Kingdom (UK) in 2001, a national registry was established as a large prospective cohort study. Clinical trials had proved the efficacy of these drugs for inflammatory arthritis [180-182], compared to standard disease modifying therapy, and were shown to be relatively safe with minimal observed side-effects. However following more general use of TNF inhibitors on a wider population, concerns arose regarding potentially serious infections including tuberculosis (TB) [183], reports of multiple sclerosis [184], and malignancy [185].

Given that patients with RA were already known to have an increased risk of infection [316] and malignancy [195], due to the underlying inflammatory disease and/or the immunosuppressing effect of DMARD therapy, it was not known whether the rate of adverse effects observed with the new anti-TNF drugs were above what would already be expected in patients with RA, or whether RA patients were now at an increased risk. Therefore a national registry, the British Society or Rheumatology Biologics Registry (BSRBR), was established with the main aim of safety monitoring and observing potential toxicities during treatment with biologic therapies, particularly with regard to infection (including active TB), malignancy and other severe co-morbidity. These rates were compared to the observed rates in a simultaneous cohort of RA patients treated with traditional, non-biologic DMARDs. The aim was to recruit all patients starting on anti-TNF therapy in the UK, thereby encompassing a broader range of patients both by age and comorbidity than those recruited in clinical trials, thus more reflective of the UK RA population. Eligibility criteria included a diagnosis of RA (rather than any other inflammatory disease) and patients over the age of 16 years. Data collected included diagnosis (including the presence or absence of those features in the American College Rheumatology diagnostic criteria for RA), age, gender, and year

of disease onset, previous drug history of disease modifying agents, including duration of therapy, significant co-morbidity, all current drug therapy, including more details concerning biologic treatment, disease activity score (DAS28), anthropometric measurements (height and weight), blood pressure, whether they had a chest X-ray prior to starting therapy and questionnaires regarding disability and patient reported health status (HAQ and SF-36) [317].

The registry's initial goal was to recruit 12000 patients on anti-TNF therapy, equally divided between infliximab (IFX), adalimumab (ADA) or etanercept (ETN) and a comparison group of 3900 active RA subjects, treated with conventional non-biological therapies. Patients were recruited to the IFX and ETN cohorts from 2001 onwards, while recruitment to the ADA cohort started in 2003. Recruitment targets were met for the ETN cohort in 2005, IFX in 2007 and ADA in 2008. It was estimated that before recruitment targets were met, > 80% anti-TNF treated patients with RA in the UK, were registered with the BSRBR. After the initial success of the cohort and renewed funding, recruitment restarted at the end of 2011 alongside other newly opened comparison cohorts for further biologic drugs and inflammatory diseases.

This registry aimed to recruit patients from a broad mix of secondary and tertiary hospitals, and a wide mix of socio-economic and geographic diversity, however as numbers of patients on anti-TNF therapy grew, many hospitals were unable to keep up with the paperwork relating to data registration and follow-up, thus lessening the diversity of those recruited. There was also a large gap in recruitment between the first round of recruitment (ending in 2005-8) and second round of recruitment at the end of 2011, by which time fewer patients were registered. The registry is reliant on healthcare professionals and patients reporting outcomes and adverse events, therefore patients may have been lost to follow up, or adverse events not fully recorded.

Other national registries have also been established for a similar purpose. These include Sweden's ARTIS, Germany's RABBIT, Spain's BIODASER and France's RATIO.

Early reports by the BSRBR, other registries and clinical trials, indicated that the majority of cases of active TB occurred soon after initiation of treatment with anti-TNF therapy [183, 186, 187, 318]. It is thought that this is most likely reflecting reactivation of latent TB infection (LTBI), as very few patients had reported recent exposure to TB, were living in countries with a low incidence of TB, and were not recent migrants from countries of high TB burden. Most initial reports of TB during anti-TNF therapy occurred in more developed countries with low TB burden, most likely because it is an expensive drug and was far less available in poorer countries, where TB is more prevalent.

Screening for LTBI prior to starting anti-TNF therapy was therefore introduced, with a program to treat patients found to have LTBI (or at high risk of TB) with TB chemoprophylaxis [306]. Since the introduction of LTBI screening and treatment prior to starting anti-TNF therapy, rates of active TB have significantly reduced [319].

The majority of publications assessed the risk of anti-TNF therapy with respect to TB up to circa 5 years after starting anti-TNF treatment. A recent analysis from the Swedish ARTIS registry compared the number of cases of active TB before and after 2007, and reported a reduced relative risk of TB with longer follow-up (< 5 years HR 7.8 vs > 5 years HR 1.2) [191], which suggested that this supports the notion that anti-TNF therapy reactivates LTBI rather than increases of acquisition of new TB infection. However currently there are no clinical investigations which are able to delineate reactivation of LTBI from new TB infection, therefore it is difficult to ascertain the cause of active TB during anti-TNF therapy. Being able to differentiate between reactivation and acquisition of new TB infection in immunosuppressed individuals is important for risk stratification and monitoring during anti-TNF therapy. If there were evidence that new TB infection is a risk during treatment.

From clinical trials, national registries and case series, it is evident that anti-TNF antibody therapies – IFX and ADA confer a higher risk of active TB (7-17 times higher) than ETN [186, 187]; it is also reported that anti-TNF therapy-associated

TB leads to a high proportion of extrapulmonary and disseminated mycobacterial infection, compared to pulmonary infection [186-188, 190, 320]. As *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* is transmitted via aerosol droplets and inhaled as a respiratory pathogen, it is thought that pulmonary and miliary TB infection are more likely to arise from primary infection or reactivation of LTBI, but we presume that extrapulmonary TB arises exclusively from reactivation of LTBI. Given that rates of new infection are relatively low in developed countries, from which our existing data are derived, assessment of the effect of anti-TNF therapies on acquisition of new infection may only become evident during longer follow up. There are currently no laboratory strategies for distinguishing new infection from reactivation, hence this analysis would give us a new approach to screening for TB and managing patients during treatment with anti-TNF therapy.

We hypothesised that anti-TNF therapy leads to reactivation of LTBI and also increases the risk of newly acquired TB infection. In order to test this hypothesis, we sought to identify all cases of active TB reported to the BSRBR and categorised cases according to the site of infection and time to infection, after starting anti-TNF therapy. By focusing on extrapulmonary infection (and the presumption that all of these cases arise from LTBI), a time course of reactivation of LTBI can be established. If the incidence of pulmonary infections follow this trajectory, then we infer that all incident TB is due to reactivation, but if pulmonary disease continues to occur after extrapulmonary disease stops then we infer that acquisition of new infection also contributes to risk of TB.

7.2 OBJECTIVES

To test whether cases of pulmonary TB continue to occur after cases of extrapulmonary disease during anti-TNF therapy.

7.3 RESULTS

As the UK has a low transmission rate of new cases of TB, assessment of the effect of TNF inhibition on acquisition of new TB infection may only become evident during longer follow-up. Therefore I analysed the BSRBR database to evaluate active TB disease in all RA patients receiving anti-TNF therapy. Up until 2013, long-term registry data had not extended beyond five years [186-188, 321], although more recently the Swedish registry, ARTIS reported on patients receiving anti-TNF therapy for up to 9 years [191]. The BSRBR database to end of 2013, included 64 cases of active TB in patients receiving anti-TNF therapy for a duration of almost 11 years, extending the follow-up data available in previous reports which have reviewed TB cases occurring between 3-9 years after starting anti-TNF therapy.

7.3.1 Anti-TNF therapy incurs a long-term risk of active TB

The demographic data of the cohort are summarised for each anti-TNF agent in the table below (see Table 7.1).

Recruitment of each anti-TNF agent was staggered due to licencing within the UK. Patients may have started anti-TNF therapy up to 12 months before registration with the BSRBR. IFX was the first anti-TNF agent to be licenced in the UK, and therefore was used more readily initially. However, this drug has to be given intravenously as opposed to ETN and ADA, which are given as subcutaneous injections. Intravenous injections are generally less convenient for patients, and incur a higher cost due to additional nursing requirements and infusion facility provision. Therefore once ETN and ADA were licenced, patients tended to be prescribed these drugs, rather than IFX. This is reflected in the number of patients starting each agent, who were registered to the BSRBR (see Figure 7.1 A), that there was an initial surge in IFX usage, which then steadily declined as ETN and ADA prescriptions increased. Following the end of initial recruitment to each group, there was a pause in recruiting new patients to the registry. Patients already recruited continued to be followed up, but no new patients were registered until new ethics was obtained, and recruitment restarted at the end of

2011. As the ETN group was the first to complete recruitment in 2005, there was a much longer break in first and second round recruitment (starting in 2011) compared to the anti-TNF antibody therapies.

Despite the differences in pattern of recruitment, similar numbers of patients were in each group by the end of 2013, when this analysis was performed. Numbers of patients recruited were: IFX – 4231, ADA – 4822, ETN – 4970 and 3774 in the standard treatment (DMARD) comparator group.

No cases of TB occurred in the standard treatment (DMARD) comparator group. However 64 cases (0.46% of the cohort) of active TB were reported across all of the anti-TNF therapy groups. Comparing the cases of active TB that occur in each treatment group, more patients developed active TB whilst taking anti-TNF antibody therapy – IFX (19 cases, 0.45%) and ADA (30 cases, 0.62%), compared to the soluble receptor, ETN (15 cases, 0.30%). The majority of cases (49 of 64 cases, 76.6%) occurred within the first 24 months of anti-TNF therapy (Figure 7.1 B), although active TB continued to present up to 129 months after starting anti-TNF treatment. Cases of active TB occurred in all three treatment groups after 24 months (Figure 7.1 C), although no ADA-related cases occurred after four years of treatment. No significant difference was seen in time to presentation of active TB between each treatment group.

	Infliximab	Etanercept						
Recruitment to cohort, n	4221	4022	4070					
	4231	4022	4970					
Cases of active TB, n (%)	19 (0.45)	30 (0.62)	15 (0.30)					
Female, n (%)	16 (84.21)	26 (86.67)	12 (80.00)					
Age, mean (standard deviation)	62.6 (10.7)	60.5 (13.0)	60.3 (12.2)					
Place of birth, n (%)								
UK	9 (47.2)	17 (56.7)	10 (66.7)					
Non UK	6 (31.5)	8 (26.7)	4 (26.7)					
Unknown	4 (21.1)	5 (16.7)	1 (6.7)					
Ethnicity, n (%)								
White	14 (73.7)	21 (70.0)	10 (66.7)					
Non white	3 (15.8)	5 (16.7)	5 (33.3)					
Unknown	2 (10.5)	4 (13.3)	0 (0)					
Site of TB disease								
Pulmonary, n (%)	5 (26.3)	13 (48.3)	5 (33.3)					
Extrapulmonary, n (%)	10 (52.6)	9 (30.0)	8 (53.3)					
Miliary, n (%)	4 (21.1)	8 (26.7)	2 (13.3)					
Length of anti-TNF treatment until	active TB (months	s)						
Range	1-107	1-48	2-129					
Mean +/- SD	22.4 +/- 34.1	14.8 +/- 11.5	25.6 +/- 33.3					
Treatment with another biologic agent prior to current anti-TNF therapy, n (%)								
Anti-TNF therapy	0	5 (16.6)	4 (26.7)					
Which therapies:	0	0 3 IFX, 2 ETN						
Other biologic	0	0	0					

Table 7.1 Demographics of patients with active TB from the BSRBR



Figure 7.1 Cases of active TB occurring after starting anti-TNF therapy

Patients were recruited to the registry up to 12 months after starting anti-TNF therapy. Date of starting anti-TNF therapy was recorded for each drug **(A)**. Black arrows show end of initial recruitment for each drug and grey arrow shows start of second round recruitment. Cases of active TB were identified from the BSRBR by search terms for "tuberculosis" and "mycobacteria". Time to active TB disease was calculated after starting any anti-TNF agent **(B)**. The dark bars represent number of cases presenting before 24 months of therapy and light bars, after 25 months of therapy. **(C)** The frequency distribution of cases was categorised by the drug, which the patient was receiving at the time of active TB. No significant differences are seen between the time of presentation of active TB for each drug, by a Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunns post test analysis.

7.3.2 Reactivation of latent TB infection is the sole cause of active TB following anti-therapy

On the presumption that pulmonary or miliary TB may arise from primary infection or reactivation of latent infection, but extrapulmonary disease is most likely to be due to reactivation of latent infection [322, 323], I aimed to define the period of risk of reactivation by identifying the longest duration of anti-TNF therapy associated with extrapulmonary disease. By inference, any pulmonary or miliary disease that presents after this time is most likely due to new acquisition of TB infection.

On this basis, I tested the hypothesis that all extrapulmonary TB presents within 24 months of the start of anti-TNF therapy and that any TB cases arising after 24 months were exclusively pulmonary or miliary TB. However, the incident case frequency distribution of pulmonary, miliary and extrapulmonary disease within the registry were almost identical, approximating to zero after 72 months follow up, with albeit very infrequent cases of both patterns of disease between 72-129 months follow-up (Figure 7.2 A). No cases of pulmonary TB occurred after the last cases of extrapulmonary or miliary TB occurred, suggesting all of these cases were due to reactivation of TB.

The median values for pulmonary TB in all three drugs was within 24 months, however those on infliximab with extrapulmonary disease and those taking infliximab or etanercept with miliary TB had longer median times to active TB infection (Figure 7.2 B). These values were not significantly different, but this is likely to be due to the low numbers of cases occurring after 24 months in each group. In the IFX and ETN groups, the majority of cases presented as extrapulmonary TB, but this was not the case for ADA (Table 7.1). Recruitment to the ADA group was started two years later than that of IFX and ETN, by which time physicians had started to screen for LTBI. This may confound the data and influence time to reactivation of LTBI and site of infection, unfortunately information was not collected on TB screening prior to anti-TNF therapy.



Figure 7.2 Time to active TB from start of anti-TNF therapy, determined by site of infection

(A) A smoothed histogram shows the frequency distribution of cases of active TB, determined by the site of infection – pulmonary, extrapulmonary and miliary. The cases were further categorised by the drug which the patient was receiving at the time of active TB infection (B). No significant differences are seen between the time of presentation of TB for each anatomical site by a Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunns post test analysis, or between drug therapies at each site. In (B) each dot represents an individual case with lines indicating median value. The dotted line on the y axis identifies 24 months after starting anti-TNF therapy.

7.3.3 The majority of cases of active TB during anti-TNF therapy occurred in UK-born residents

The majority of active TB in the UK occurs in non-UK born individuals [324], who are largely migrants from high TB incidence countries in areas such as South-East Asia, Africa and Eastern Europe. The high occurrence of TB in this group is principally thought to be caused by reactivation of LTBI [324]. Of those born in the UK, non-White ethnic groups have higher rates of active TB which is likely to reflect the increased risks associated with travel or exposure to people from high TB burden countries. Therefore I wanted to test the hypothesis that extrapulmonary TB (reflecting reactivation of LTBI) occurs exclusively in non-UK born individuals or UK-born, non-White ethnic groups.

Overall, the majority of cases, and in each treatment group, were from the White ethnic group (Figure 7.3 A). A significant proportion of cases of extrapulmonary TB did not have a record of ethnicity or country of birth, however most cases were from the White ethnic group. The pattern of country of birth was very similar between extrapulmonary and pulmonary disease, with the majority of patients being born in the UK, although there were a few individuals born in high TB burden countries (Figure 7.3 B). Unfortunately there was no record of the ethnicity of a large proportion of the infliximab and adalimumab-treated cases with extrapulmonary TB.



Figure 7.3 Ethnicities and Country of Birth of active TB patients from the BSRBR

(A) Ethnicities are shown for each category of drug and site of TB infection. (B) Shows the distribution of country of birth in the world (i) displays those with extrapulmonary TB (red) and miliary TB (green) and (ii) pulmonary TB (blue).

7.4 DISCUSSION

With the increasing use of anti-TNF therapies, the risk of active TB during treatment persists, although screening for LTBI reduces this risk [191], cases of active TB may still occur [325, 326].

Although it has been extensively reported that anti-TNF therapy increases the risk of reactivation of LTBI, it is unclear how long this risk persists for [183, 186, 187, 305, 318, 327, 328]. Registry data from across Europe has followed patients up to 9 years after starting anti-TNF therapy, but it is still not clear whether anti-TNF therapy also increases the risk of new TB infection [329]. The BSRBR now has more than ten years worth of follow-up data, which affords the opportunity to make continual assessment of rates of active TB compared to the general population. By studying this dataset, it is evident that cases of active TB are still occurring even after a decade of anti-TNF therapy. 64 cases were identified in patients with RA who were taking anti-TNF therapy, none were reported in the DMARD cohort. The patients with active TB largely reflected the typical RA population in the UK, with a higher proportion being female, of White ethnic origin and in the fifth to sixth decade of life.

However there were some issues with the dataset which may reduce confidence in the results. Although I was able to quantify numbers of patients in each of the treatment cohorts, there was some cross-over between these groups, as patients switched between agents after initial registration. Therefore patients were reregistered to the new treatment group. Patients with active TB who had switched therapy, were allocated to the treatment group for the drug they were prescribed when the TB occurred.

I would have also liked to calculate the frequency of cases of active TB per personyears of treatment for each group. However the data suggested many patients started and stopped medication, as well as switching. Start and stop dates were either inaccurate or not complete for many patients, which is a result of relying on patient and physicians to report changes in treatment to the registry.

The majority of cases do occur within the first 24 months suggesting that reactivation of LTBI may be the main determinant of active TB in this cohort, with

most extrapulmonary cases occurring within 72 months follow up, and albeit very infrequent cases of both patterns of pulmonary and extrapulmonary disease between 72-129 months follow-up. However no new cases of pulmonary TB occurred after extrapulmonary or miliary cases suggesting that there is no evidence for new infection of TB and these are all due to reactivation of LTBI.

One limitation of this analysis is the low prevalence of new TB infections occurring in the UK. Cases of active TB continued to occur after more than five years of therapy in both the IFX and ETN groups. There were no cases of TB in the ADA group more than four years after therapy; This may be confounded by the fact that recruitment to the ADA group started later than the other groups, therefore followup times were shorter.

One limitation of the BSRBR is the limited amount of data that was collected in relation to risk of TB infection. Data was not collected on details of LTBI screening or TB prophylaxis treatment, or TB risk factors (other than ethnicity, country of birth and whether they had a pre-treatment chest x-ray). Treatment for LTBI reduces the risk of reactivation occurring during treatment with TNF inhibition, but it is not clear what the risk is for patients who continue to be exposed to TB, by visiting countries with a high TB burden or close TB contact after initial screening. Now that a robust LTBI screening programme is in place, it would also be interesting to calculate rates of active TB during anti-TNF therapy and compare these to an age, sex and ethnicity-matched comparator group from the general population, to see whether these rates are now equivalent.

Consistent with the published literature of extrapulmonary and disseminated disease being the mainstay of clinical presentation of reactivation of LTBI in immunocompromised individuals [322, 330-334], this cohort of RA patients on immunomodifying therapy has a higher proportion of particularly miliary TB, compared to the general population in the UK – where rates of pulmonary TB are 52.9%, miliary 2.8% and extrapulmonary 44.3% [335].

Given their analogous antibody structure it is surprising that IFX and ADA have different proportions of pulmonary and extrapulmonary TB, with ADA having a higher preponderance for pulmonary TB. This may be confounded by the fact that

IFX was the first anti-TNF therapy to be licenced in the UK, with ADA arriving several years later, when the risk of TB was more evident and therefore patients receiving ADA were more likely to have undergone LTBI screening. It is unclear what extent LTBI screening had on the earlier patients recruited to the registry, as some may have been screened and some not. Now new patients starting on anti-TNF therapy are unlikely to be prescribed IFX, as it is given intravenously (rather than via subcutaneous injection), thus less convenient for patients, and a higher cost to deliver.

Interestingly in this cohort of active TB patients the most common ethnicity was White and the majority of patients were born in the UK. These are usually regarded as lower risk groups for acquisition of LTBI (compared to the general population where high risk groups include non-UK born individuals from South-East Asia, Africa and Eastern Europe [324], although we do not have information regarding additional social risk factors for TB (current or history of homelessness, imprisonment, drug misuse and alcohol misuse). This may also be a reflection that RA is more common in people of Northern European origin [35].

Those who were born abroad did tend to be from high TB burden areas such as South Africa, South-East Asia and Eastern Europe. Since the introduction of TB screening in 2002, with formal guidance from the British Thoracic Society in 2005 [306], bias may have been introduced to the cohort, as these high risk patients may have been treated with alternative biologic therapies. The registry did not collect information on LTBI screening or TB chemoprophylaxis which may have given us useful insight into the benefit of the screening programme. Screening has been shown to be effective [191], although cases of TB still occur despite an active screening programme [325, 326]. As there is a discrepancy in the patients recruited as to whether they were screened and/or treated for LTBI; those recruited early to the registry before the screening programme was introduced may confound results, as those recruited later should have been screened and treated for LTBI. Those who were deemed as high risk may have had a selection bias towards ETN, with a reported lower TB risk, or a different biologic therapy altogether (with a lower TB risk) – such as B cell depletion (Rituximab). A further concern is the under-reporting of cases to this national registry, thereby underestimating the true TB rate. Initially the registry was set-up to capture 4000 patients per anti-TNF therapy, however those targets were reached between 2005-7. As the number of patients on anti-TNF treatment has increased in each hospital significantly, reporting to the BSRBR has taken a lower priority than clinical management of patients and is often not completed.

7.5 CONCLUSIONS

Therefore we conclude that active TB is caused by reactivation of latent TB infection (based on the presumption that all extrapulmonary TB is caused by reactivation of LTBI), and there is no evidence for acquisition of new TB infection occurring in patients on anti-TNF therapy. Hence our analysis of the BSRBR data does not support a change in screening strategy in patients taking these drugs.

8 IN VIVO ASSESSMENT OF THE IMMUNE RESPONSE TO THE TUBERCULIN SKIN TEST IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS

8.1 INTRODUCTION

Excessive TNF activity contributes to the complex pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis (RA) [95], which is associated with a pro-inflammatory cascade that includes the production of IL1, IL6, IL8, activation of macrophages, neutrophils and eosinophils and ultimately drives tissue destruction through activation of synovial fibroblasts and osteoclasts [73, 96, 105, 106]. High concentrations of TNF and upregulated TNFR expression have been found in the synovial fluid and on the synovial membrane of joints affected by RA [95, 97-101]. Furthermore mice genetically engineered to over-express human TNF, developed a spontaneous inflammatory arthritis with synovial hyperplasia and destruction of cartilage and bone [108], giving evidence for TNF as a key driver in the pathogenesis of inflammatory diseases and inhibiting TNF in these diseases has substantially improved the outcome and clinical course of the disease [109].

The five licensed TNF inhibitors (see The development of anti-TNF therapy and its clinical applications) were developed to competitively inhibit the binding of TNF to its cognate receptors and consequently block its biological activity. However, a comprehensive characterisation of their in vivo inhibitory effect on TNF activity has yet to emerge. Variable effects of TNF inhibition on the level of TNF itself in serum or synovium of RA patients have been described [158-161], which do not necessarily correlate with the clinical response to anti-TNF therapy. In general the level of pro-inflammatory mediators in serum and synovium, and pro-inflammatory cytokine production by peripheral blood mononuclear cells is reduced following anti-TNF therapy [162, 163, 336].

Infliximab has been shown to induce apoptosis of monocytes and activated T cells in vivo and in vitro, which is not seen with etanercept or certolizumab [141-143]. However both etanercept and infliximab induce apoptosis in monocytes and

macrophages in synovial fluid and of monocytes in peripheral blood in vivo [144]. Moreover anti-TNF antibody therapy also reduces the number of infiltrating synovial granulocytes and macrophages in the joint as well as reduced expression of chemokines, IL8 and CCL2 [145]. In vitro, infliximab readily binds tmTNF leading to cell lysis via complement-dependent cytolysis and antibody dependent cell-meditated cytotoxicity [147], whereas etanercept forms less stable complexes with tmTNF. This may be associated with a transient leucopaenia, as four months after starting adalimumab, peripheral blood from RA patients showed a significant reduction in CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ producing IFN γ cells [148], however in another study attenuated Th1 responses are restored after 12 weeks of anti-TNF therapy [149]. Infliximab is also able to restore CD28 expression on activated CD4⁺ T cells, which may lead to dampened sensitivity of co-stimulatory signals in T cell responses [150].

While these data suggest that anti-TNF therapies ameliorate the immunopathogenesis of RA, they provide limited insight as to how they regulate TNF activity. Genome-wide transcriptional profiling has identified a set of genes involved in NF_kB and cAMP signalling after 72 hours (including NFKB1A, IL1B and TNFAIP3), in those responding to etanercept [174] and changes to the peripheral blood transcriptome four weeks after treatment with infliximab, have shown a downregulation of genes involved in inflammation, angiogenesis, T- and B-cell activation, which is thought to represent a dampening of TNF-associated genes, in all patients irrespective of clinical response to treatment [172]

Thus it is not known whether these agents antagonise TNF activity in selected physiological compartments, and whether they equally inhibit steady state TNF activity associated with chronic inflammatory diseases and inducible TNF activity at foci of acute immune responses. Moreover, our group has described at least one indirect mechanism of action, in which anti-TNF antibodies unexpectedly promoted an interaction between membrane bound TNF on monocytes and TNFR2 on regulatory T cells leading to enhanced Treg activity that may contribute to disease control [153].

A well-recognised complication of anti-TNF therapy is increased susceptibility to granulomatous infections, especially with Mtb [183, 328], in which cell mediated immune responses are thought to represent the principal mechanism of host defence [337]. The role of TNF in immune protection against TB was primarily derived from observations in TNF receptor deficient mice, which do not assemble well-formed granuloma [284, 285]. This observation was replicated by administration of anti-TNF agents in wild type mice [277, 338].

Consequently, increased risk of TB associated with anti-TNF therapy is also widely interpreted to be due to deficient TNF activity in cell mediated immune protection, leading to reactivation of LTBI, and indeed in in vitro models of Mtb-infected granuloma anti-TNF therapy can resuscitate dormant mycobacteria, which may lead to LTBI reactivation [295]. Interestingly, anti-TNF antibodies such as IFX and ADA invoke significantly greater risk of active TB in man, than the soluble TNF receptor, ETN [186, 187, 327]. One possible mechanism for the differential risk is reported to be apoptosis of monocytes and activated T cells [141, 142, 144], or depletion of Mtb reactive CD8⁺ T cells by antibody binding to membrane TNF [294].

Our group has previously described transcriptional profiling at the site of the TST to make molecular and systems level assessments of in vivo human immune responses at the site of a standardised experimental challenge [309, 339]. Clinical inflammation in the TST has been widely used as a surrogate for T cell memory for mycobacterial antigens [340], but transcriptional profiling of biopsies from the injection site reflects all the components of integrated innate and adaptive immune responses, each of which can be quantified with independently derived transcriptional modules [309]. Importantly, this approach also revealed immune responses in the absence of clinically evident inflammatory induration, allowing unprecedented sensitivity to measure immune responses that were previously described as anergic [309, 339].

Although genome wide transcriptional data can provide valuable insights into mechanisms of disease and has the potential for biomarker discoveries, the extraction of relevant information from the large amounts of data produced can be

difficult. As such, modules, or gene lists associated with the cell, pathway or cytokine of interest have been used and verified to help process information to further understand pathogens and for biomarker discovery [341].

Genome wide transcriptional processing has been used in RA previously, before and after anti-TNF treatment, to identify potential biomarkers that can stratify patients' response to treatment. Given that TNF-associated genes are downregulated following anti-TNF therapy [172, 174], I hypothesised that TNF activity would be suppressed in the TST of RA patients receiving anti-TNF therapy, compared to healthy volunteers and RA patients only treated with methotrexate. I sought to test this hypothesis by assessing TNF-dependent transcriptional responses in vivo, responses at the site of the TST, and consequently evaluate the role of TNF in genome-wide assessments of cell mediated immune responses.

- 1. To establish the effect of anti-TNF therapy on TNF inducible activity in peripheral blood, both in steady state and in response to a surge in soluble TNF
- 2. To determine whether anti-TNF therapy attenuates inducible TNF activity in vivo at the site of the TST
- 3. To identify effects of anti-TNF therapy on cell-mediated immunity, in vivo at the site of the TST

8.3.1 Derivation of TNF-inducible transcriptional modules

The effects of anti-TNF therapies are not directly reflected by measurement of TNF levels, but require measurement of induced TNF function. TNF exerts its biological functions via stimulation of the TNFRs and intracellular signalling cascades that converge on regulation of transcription factors and consequently gene expression[342]. My first aim was to derive and validate gene expression modules, which could be used to detect and quantify functional TNF activity. In monocyte-derived macrophages (MDM), our group have previously reported one such module that discriminated cellular responses to TNF from a selection of other cytokines including IFN γ , IL4 and IL13, or IL10 – TNF (MDM) [309]. In the present study I reasoned that the transcriptional response to TNF stimulation may be affected by its context and that any individual gene expression module may be inadequate to detect all TNF activity. Therefore I sought to derive novel TNF-inducible gene expression modules by a range of alternative approaches.

On the basis that TNF activity does not occur in isolation, I first sought to identify gene expression attributable to TNF in the presence of other bioactive cytokines. I used innate immune stimulation of MDM with bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) as a prototypic model of a stimulus to invoke secretion of a wide range of immunologically active factors, including TNF, which may contribute to LPS-inducible gene expression by their downstream autocrine and paracrine activity. In order to identify gene expression attributable to LPS-induced TNF, I compared the transcriptome of MDM 24 hours after LPS stimulation in the presence and absence of the soluble TNF receptor fusion protein, ETN. I found significantly lower expression of 76 genes in the presence of ETN, the expression of which I infer to be TNF-dependent – Endogenous TNF (MDM) (Figure 8.1 A).

The ultimate aim was to evaluate TNF activity in response to an in vivo immunological challenge using the TST [339]. Differential transcriptional responses to the same stimulus in different cell types are widely recognised [343]. Therefore, I took advantage of previously published transcriptomic data from keratinocytes stimulated with a selection of cytokines including TNF [311, 312] to

derive a third TNF-specific module in keratinocytes – TNF (KC) (Figure 8.1 B). We were not able to identify specific TNF-inducible genes using 2-fold changes in gene expression, but 4-fold changes did achieve the desired level of specificity. In addition I aimed to investigate the effect of anti-TNF therapies on functional TNF activity in blood. Therefore I derived a fourth TNF gene expression module – TNF (HV WB), by identifying significantly upregulated genes following ex vivo whole blood stimulation with TNF from healthy volunteers (Figure 8.1 C).

Direct comparison of the genes included in each of the four modules associated with TNF activity showed only modest overlap (Figure 8.1 D). The gene lists can be found in Table 8.1. Cross-validation of each gene list in the different experiments which were used to derive them also highlighted the context specificity of functional gene expression modules, such that modules derived in MDM were not enriched in TNF stimulated keratinocytes and modules derived in keratinocytes were not enriched in TNF or LPS stimulated MDM (Figure 8.2 A). Importantly however, independent bioinformatic analysis of predicted upstream regulators of each of these gene lists showed statistically robust associations with TNF (Figure 8.2 B).



Figure 8.1 Derivation of transcriptional modules to measure TNF activity

(A) Volcano plot of the effect of etanercept (ETN) on LPS-induced genes in monocyte derived macrophages (MDM) after 24 hours. Open black circles represent 76 genes that were significantly (p < 0.05 in t test) and at least two-fold attenuated in the presence of ETN and which were combined in the 'Endogenous TNF (MDM)' module. (B) 4-way Venn diagram showing the number and overlap of keratinocyte genes upregulated significantly (p < 0.05 in t test) and at least two-fold (IFN γ , IL22, IL17) or four-fold (TNF) by different cytokines after 24 hours. The 10 TNF-specific genes yielded the 'TNF (KC)' module. (C) Transcriptional response to TNF (10 ng/ml for 24 hours) in ex vivo whole blood (WB) stimulation experiments. Open black circles represent 104 genes that were significantly (p < 0.05 in t test) and at least two-fold upregulated in response to TNF and which were combined in the 'TNF (HV WB)' module. (D) Venn diagram of the number and overlap of genes making up each TNF transcriptional module, derived as described in (A-C) and by Bell al. ('TNF (MDM)'). et



Figure 8.2 Validation of transcriptional TNF-inducible activity modules

Cross-validation of TNF modules in the different experiments which were used to derive them. Module scores were calculated as geometric mean expression of the genes contributing to each module, and are shown as mean + SD (n = 3-5). * p < 0.05 in t tests. **(B)** Statistical prediction of TNF as upstream regulator of each TNF gene module. The dashed line denotes an overlap p value of 0.01.

Table 8.1 Gene lists of TNF-inducible activity modules

Module	Constituent genes
TNE (MDM)	EBI3, SLC2A6, LAD1, LOC440896, IL8, PLEKHG3, SLC7A11, NFKBIA, BIRC3,
	MARCKS, LOC389634, ZNF205, KCTD19, SGPP2, MSC, NKG7
	MYH11, IL2RA, EBI3, ORM1, TNFAIP6, NNMT, NKG7, ORM2, TMEM120A,
Endogenous TNF (MDM)	ADAM19, IL32, SGPP2, SLC39A8, CFB, SIX5, CCL19, MAP1LC3A, CCM2L, ABTB2,
	SOCS3, PPA1, LIMK2, TMEM173, MCOLN2, ITGB8, BATF, CHI3L2, GOS2, RRAD,
	SIGLEC10, CAMK1G, IDO1, PNRC1, LAMB3, RHOH, ADORA2A, C1S, CCL20,
	CLEC4D, LAMP3, MAOA, CCL23, STXBP6, TNFRSF4, CCL14, LAD1, TNIP1,
	PDE4B, DUSP8, IL15RA, PKN3, JMJD7, STAP2, HAPLN3, ULK2, PSTPIP2,
	ZNF445, CD274, CRABP1, SAA2, NAMPT, APOL3, PFKFB3, CCL5, TSPAN33,
	NFKBIA, GRAMD1A, PTPN2, VEGFA, SOCS2, PTGIR, KRTAP10-10, JMJD7-
	PLA2G4B, C1orf122, PLEKHM3, CD82
TNF (KC)	CSF2, MMP9, IGFBP3, NRCAM, SEMA3C, INHBA, TMEFF1, SQSTM1, CD83,
	NFKB2
	KCNJ2-AS1, ATP6AP1, NDUFV2, CCL16, ANP32A, LIMK2, PTAFR, PLEKHM3,
	PI4K2B, INSIG1, PTGES, PDLIM5, RASGEF1B, VAV1, ZHX2, MTF1, DMXL2, FAS,
TNF (HV WB)	ANP32D, ECE1, CCL19, IL36G, IGSF6, ZC3H12C, TNFAIP3, WTAP, DNAJB9,
	BAZ1A, BCL2A1, PIM2, AK2, AZIN1, IL4I1, NFKB1, HIF1A, TTL, ALCAM, TRIP10,
	C3, KCNJ2, XBP1, NBN, SLC15A3, VILL, NFKB2, MIR155HG, RHOV, IVNS1ABP,
	PLK3, CFLAR, CD82, UPB1, SLC39A8, AQP9, SLC7A5, MCTP1, SERPINB9, TNIP1,
	CCL4L2, IRAK3, SAMSN1, BATF3, TCFL5, PLEKHF2, ADORA2A, SOD2, MAFF,
	CLEC4E, RILPL2, SH2D3A, IRAK2, GCH1, EMR1, ACSL1, SLC43A3, RAB21,
	CCM2L, RNF144B, PDE4DIP, CD83, MAP3K8, PIK3AP1, ANKRD33B, IRG1,
	IL1RN, TNFAIP6, NCR3LG1, CLEC4D, PI3, DRAM1, SLAMF7, TRAF1, FMNL3,
	CCL3L3, KRTAP5-11, FSCN1, CLIC4, MFSD2A, GPR84, SGPP2, EBI3, CCL20,
	ORM2, ORM1

8.3.2 Anti-TNF therapy attenuates TNF-inducible gene expression in blood

Numerous reports have interpreted the reduction in circulating pro-inflammatory mediators following initiation of anti-TNF therapies in RA as evidence for inhibition of TNF activity [158, 162, 163, 336]. Therefore I reasoned that anti-TNF therapy would be associated with steady state reduction in levels of TNF-dependent gene expression in blood and attenuate upregulation of these gene expression modules following ex vivo stimulation with TNF. In order to test this hypothesis I quantified expression of each of the four TNF-dependent transcriptional modules following ex vivo TNF stimulation of blood from RA patients treated with anti-TNF therapies and compared these to blood samples from RA patients on methotrexate only. To avoid the confounding of differential disease activity, I restricted recruitment to patients on a stable treatment regimen for at least three months and who showed low levels of background inflammation, using C-reactive Protein (CRP) and the rheumatoid arthritis disease activity score of 28 joints (DAS28) (see Table 8.2).

Baseline levels of TNF-dependent activity were not significantly different in blood from RA patients on anti-TNF therapies compared to that of patients on MTX (Figure 8.3 A). Ex vivo whole blood stimulation with TNF upregulated the expression of each of the TNF-dependent modules in all groups of patients, but this was significantly attenuated in patients on anti-TNF therapies (Figure 8.3 A, B). This observation was more clearly evident in the MDM and blood derived TNF-dependent transcriptional modules, than in the keratinocyte-derived module consistent with context specific associations of each of the modules described above (Figure 8.3 B).

Using Ingenuity Pathway Analysis I searched for regulators predicted to act upstream of the genes significantly attenuated by anti-TNF therapy in TNFstimulated blood. As expected, TNF was amongst the top predicted upstream regulators of these genes, thus validating the modular analysis (Figure 8.3 C). Therefore, I concluded that anti-TNF therapies undoubtedly attenuate the response to circulating TNF, which I modelled by ex vivo stimulation of peripheral blood, consistent with the expected neutralising activity of the anti-TNF agents.

Table 8.2 Summary of demographics, characteristics and laboratory data of the	e TST
study population	

Participant characteristics	TST Saline Controls							
	HV	МТХ	ADA	ETN	HV	МТХ	ADA	ETN
n	10	10	10	8	3	3	3	3
	32.5	61	59.5	62.5	31	76	68	36
Age (median and range)	(28-42)	(53-69)	(38-75)	(30-67)	(29-38)	(57-76)	(66-74)	(31-61)
Gender								
Male (%)	40	20	40	37.5	0	0	33.3	0
Female (%)	60	80	60	62.5	100	100	66.7	100
Ethnicity								
White British (%)	70	100	70	87.5	100	66.7	100	100
White other (%)	20	0	10	0	0	0	0	0
Asian Indian (%)	10	0	0	0	0	33.3	0	0
Other (%)	0	0	20	12.5	0	0	0	0
Rheumatoid factor status								
Positive (%)	n/a	60	40	37.5	n/a	66.7	66.7	33.3
Negative (%)	n/a	40	40	25	n/a	33.3	33.3	33.3
Unknown (%)	n/a	0	20	37.5	n/a	0	0	33.3
			1.0				2.15	0.85
CRP mg/dl		2.3	(<0.6-	3.2		2.4	(<0.6-	(<0.6-
(median and range)	n/a	(<0.6-11)	2.4)	(<0.6-11)	n/a	(2.1-2.5)	3.1)	0.9)
DAS28 score		2.0	2.6	2.3		2.9	3.6	2.4
(median and range)	n/a	(0.6-2.8)	(0.8-3.4)	(1.5-4.3)	n/a	(2.9-3.0)	(1.9-4.2)	(2.3-2.6)
PPD IFNγ ELISpot,	F2.05	40.25	100.05		4.1	10 5		100
(modian and range)	52.25	48.25	130.35	35.5	41	13.5	43.5	100
(meulan and range)	(11-300)	(10-225)	(15-300)	(11-138)	(12-98)	(13-50)	(38-60)	(20-122)



Figure 8.3 Anti-TNF therapy attenuated TNF inducible gene expression in blood

Transcriptional TNF activity, represented by each of four TNF gene expression module scores, in peripheral blood of rheumatoid arthritis patients treated with methotrexate (MTX), monoclonal anti-TNF antibodies (Mab) or etanercept (ETN) at baseline **(A)** and the change in each module score (enrichment score) associated with TNF stimulation (10 ng/mL for 3 hours) **(B)**. Data points were derived from individual experiments. Line represents the median. * p < 0.05 in Mann-Whitney test. **(C)** Inhibition Z-scores and overlap p values for the top five upstream regulators of genes significantly attenuated in TNF-stimulated blood during anti-TNF therapy (Mab and ETN) compared to MTX.

The modules described above (see Derivation of TNF-inducible transcriptional modules) were derived from healthy volunteer data (TNF (MDM), Endogenous TNF (MDM), TNF (HV WB)) and either primary human keratinocytes, TNF (KC).

However in RA, monocyte derived cells are highly activated with increased adhesion [66, 71] and augmented production of proinflammatory cytokines including TNF, IL6 and IL1 β [60]. In addition they massively infiltrate inflammatory sites – such as the synovial membrane [61, 62, 344]. Furthermore TNF and IL6 genes are highly expressed in active RA, together with upregulation of chemokines and acute phase proteins [345].

Therefore I sought to establish whether modules derived from RA whole blood samples were consistent with those derived from healthy volunteers (HV).

In addition to the previously derived module TNF (HV WB), two further modules of TNF inducible activity were developed from peripheral blood of RA patients treated with either MTX or anti-TNF therapy by identifying significantly upregulated genes following ex vivo whole blood stimulation with TNF. Direct comparison of the genes included in each of the three modules associated with TNF activity showed significant overlap of the two modules derived from RA patients, but only modest overlap of RA modules with that derived from healthy volunteers suggesting there is a distinct set of genes which are upregulated in RA (Figure 8.4 A). However despite these differences, a similar pattern of TNF activity was seen in the unstimulated and TNF-stimulated blood (Figure 8.4 B - C), suggesting that the disease from which the modules are derived from is unimportant in this context.



Figure 8.4 Transcriptional TNF activity derived from healthy or RA subjects is equivalent

TNF inducible activity modules developed from blood of RA patients treated with MTX or anti-TNF therapy. **(A)** 3-way Venn diagram shows the number and overlap of genes significantly upregulated at least two-fold (p < 0.05 in t test) in three different TNF modules. **(B)** Transcriptional TNF-inducible activity was measured in peripheral blood before and after 3 hours of ex vivo stimulation with TNF. Enrichment scores were calculated as fold change of TNF activity after TNF stimulation, and are shown with separate data points for each patient (n = 4 per treatment group). * p < 0.05 in Mann-Whitney test. **(C)** Enrichment of TNF activity in TNF-stimulated compared to unstimulated blood. Enrichment scores were calculated as difference between the module scores displayed in (B), and are shown as separate data points for each patient (n = 4 per treatment group) with median indicated. * p < 0.05 in Mann-Whitney test.

8.3.3 Quantitation of TNF activity in the tuberculin skin test (TST) in healthy participants

The TST invokes a complex multivariate immune response, which includes innate immune responses, immune cell recruitment and cytokine responses [309, 339]. In the TST of patients with active tuberculosis, our group has previously reported enrichment of the specific TNF dependent gene expression module derived from TNF stimulation of MDM [309], consistent with the hypothesis that the TST invokes TNF responses. I confirmed the presence of a largely Th1 response and infiltration of myeloid derived cells, so I next sought to consolidate and extend our previous observations in a new cohort of healthy volunteers using all four of the TNF dependent gene expression modules described above.

In line with the application of the TST as a prototypic model of Th1 dependent cell mediated immune responses, I recruited healthy individuals with detectable peripheral blood IFN γ T cell responses to ex vivo stimulation with purified protein derivative (PPD) of Mtb (see Table 8.2). Participants then received an intradermal injection of either saline or PPD and the injection sites were biopsied after 72 hours. Comparison of the genome-wide transcriptome at the site of PPD compared to saline injection revealed processes of significant enrichment of transcripts associated with multiple immune pathways that are known to participate in cell mediated immunity and included enrichment of T cell associated and IFN γ inducible genes as previously described (see Figure 8.5). Importantly, these also included robust enrichment of TNF gene expression (Figure 8.6 A) and all four of the TNF dependent gene expression modules derived from MDM, keratinocytes and blood cells representing a broad range of TNF responsive cells in the context of the TST (Figure 8.6 B).

In order to extend the assessment of TNF activity beyond transcriptional responses to the protein level, I also quantified expression of the matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)9 by immunostaining tissue sections from the site of PPD and saline injections. MMP9 expression has been associated with TNF activity in previous studies [346] and was also a component of the TNF dependent gene expression module derived from keratinocytes, identifying it as specific protein

target in the skin to discriminate between TNF and IFN γ activity. Six of the ten participants undergoing TST injection showed increased MMP9 expression compared to the range seen in participants receiving control saline injections (Figure 8.6 C). In order to consolidate the evidence for the functional relationship between TNF expression and the independently derived TNF dependent transcriptional modules or MMP9 immunostaining, I showed that the variability in TNF modules and MMP9 staining each demonstrated a statistically significant correlation with TNF transcript levels in different individuals (Figure 8.6 D-E).


Figure 8.5 The transcriptional TST response of healthy volunteers

(A) Network graph of the top 10 Reactome pathways enriched amongst the genes upregulated in TST (N=10) compared to saline (N=3) samples from healthy volunteers. Red nodes represent pathways and blue nodes represent genes. Node and label font size denote the significance of the respective pathway and are proportional to its $-\log_{10} p$ value. (B) Transcriptional module scores representing T cell recruitment, IFN γ activity, and responses to *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (Mtb) in each biopsy. (C) Representative immunostaining (scale bar= 500 μ M) of CD3 and MMP9 in skin biopsy samples from the site of TST and saline injections. (D) Quantitation of CD3 immunostaining in each biopsy. Data points represent individual participants and group medians are indicated by red lines. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01 in Mann Whitney tests.



TNF gene expression (log₂)

Figure 8.6 Quantitation of TNF activity in the tuberculin skin test (TST) of healthy volunteers

Skin biopsies from healthy volunteers 72 hours after injection of saline or tuberculin (TST) were analysed for **(A)** log₂ TNF gene expression by gene microarrays, **(B)** module scores of four separate TNF modules derived from genome-wide microarrays, and **(C)** positive immunostaining for MMP9 in skin biopsies from the site of TST (n = 10) or control saline injections (n = 3) in healthy volunteers. Data points represent individual experiments. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, Mann-Whitney test. **(D-E)** Correlation between TNF expression and each of the TNF module scores or positive MMP9 immunostaining. Correlation coefficients (r) and p values were derived from Pearson correlation analyses. **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001.

8.3.4 Functional TNF activity is preserved at the site of an immunological challenge in vivo despite anti-TNF therapy.

My analyses showed that TNF constitutes a component part of the immune response in the TST and that I was able to quantify variability in the TNF response and its downstream biological activity within human tissue at the site of a standardised experimental immune challenge. Therefore, I applied this approach to test the primary hypothesis that anti-TNF therapies will attenuate TNF activity at the site of cell-mediated immune responses in vivo. To this end I compared TSTs in RA patients treated with anti-TNF therapies with those on methotrexate only. Patients in each treatment group were of similar age and ethnic background, all with low background levels of inflammation and low disease activity at the time of the study (see Table 8.2). The participants received an intradermal injection of either saline or PPD, and the injection sites were biopsied after 72 hours for transcriptional profiling and immunohistochemistry.

Firstly, I assessed whether the global TST response was affected by anti-TNF therapy. Through transcriptional profiling of the skin biopsies, I defined an integrated TST signature consisting of 595 genes that were significantly enriched in the TST compared to saline injection sites in at least one of the study groups (Figure 8.7 A). Consistent with the TST response of healthy volunteers, the integrated TST signature in RA patients was enriched for immunological pathways (Figure 8.7 B).

The enrichment of the integrated TST signature showed substantial discordance to the PPD response in blood (see Figure 8.8 A) but showed a statistically significant positive correlation with the extent of clinical induration reflecting inflammation at the site of the TST (see Figure 8.8 B). Of note, several TST biopsies showed enrichment for the integrated TST signature compared to individuals receiving saline injections despite a lack of clinically detectable inflammatory induration (see Figure 8.8 B). This was consistent with our previous observations where we were able to detect transcriptional changes in biopsies from so-called clinically anergic TSTs in healthy volunteers and HIV infected patients [309, 339], and extends the inference that transcriptional profiling afforded greater sensitivity than clinical assessments in RA patients.



Figure 8.7 The transcriptional TST response of rheumatoid arthritis patients

(A) Number and overlap of genes upregulated in TST compared to saline samples in patients treated with MTX, monoclonal anti-TNF antibodies (Mab) or etanercept (ETN). The total number of genes displayed in this Venn diagram was combined in the integrated TST module. (B) Network graph of the top 10 Reactome pathways enriched in the integrated TST signature genes. Red nodes represent pathways and blue nodes represent genes. Node and label font size denote the significance of the respective pathway and are proportional to its $-\log_{10} p$ value. (C) Transcriptional modules representing enrichment of T cells, IFN γ activity and innate immune responses to Mtb in TST compared to saline baseline as shown by \log_2 module enrichment scores. Individual patients are represented with separate data points and group medians are indicated by black lines.



Figure 8.8 The transcriptional TST response in patients with rheumatoid arthritis

The transcriptional TST response after 72 hours in rheumatoid arthritis patients treated with methotrexate (MTX), monoclonal anti-TNF antibodies (Mab) or the soluble TNF receptor etanercept (ETN) was integrated by summarising genes upregulated in the TST compared to saline injections in at least one of the patient groups (see also Figure S2). Correlation plots of the integrated TST module enrichment score with **(A)** IFN γ responses measured by PBMC ELISpot in response to PPD stimulation, and **(B)** skin induration at the site of injection 72 hours after TST. Correlation coefficients (r) and p values were derived from non-parametric Spearman correlation analyses with all data points (n = 28). **(C)** Principal component (PC) analysis of integrated TST signature genes showed no treatment-specific clustering in PC 1 and 2, which together explained 83% of variation in this data set. Data points represent individual experiments.

Principal component analysis (PCA) of the integrated TST signature gene expression levels and their fold increases in TSTs compared to saline injections revealed no treatment-specific clustering of the data from different groups of RA patients (see Figure 8.8 C). Therefore, I concluded that the broad range of transcriptional responses in the TST of RA patients was not affected by anti-TNF therapy. Consistent with this analysis, I found comparable enrichment of a T cell and associated transcriptional signature, comparable enrichment of IFN γ dependent gene expression modules in all RA patients (see Figure 8.7 C). Inter-individual variation exceeded any effect of anti-TNF therapies on cellular recruitment and Th1/IFN γ responses in the TST. The TST response in RA patients included enrichment of TNF gene expression (see Figure 8.9). The extent of TNF induction was similar in all patient groups and therefore not affected by anti-TNF therapy (see Figure 8.10 A). Surprisingly however, comparable levels of the TNF dependent gene expression modules were also observed in all the study groups (see Figure 8.9C and Figure 8.10 B). In accordance with these transcriptional data, the expression of MMP9 was increased to comparable degree in the tuberculininjected skin of all RA patients, independent of anti-TNF therapy (see Figure 8.9 B -C and Figure 8.10 C - D). I conclude that TNF-inducible activity in the TST was not attenuated by anti-TNF therapy in RA patients, and by extension I infer that anti-TNF therapies in humans do not attenuate inducible TNF activity within tissue foci of immunological responses to an in vivo challenge.



Figure 8.9 TNF gene expression and TNF module expression in skin biopsy transcriptomes from the site of TST or saline injections in rheumatoid arthritis patients

(A) TNF gene expression, and TNF activity quantified with **(B)** positive MMP9 immunostaining or **(C)** TNF module gene expression scores in TST and saline samples from rheumatoid arthritis patients on methotrexate (MTX), anti-TNF antibodies (Mab) or etanercept (ETN). Individual patients are represented with separate data points and group medians are indicated by black lines. Data points represent individual experiments. *p<0.05, in Mann-Whitney test.



Figure 8.10 Inducible TNF activity is preserved in the TST of rheumatoid arthritis patients despite anti-TNF therapy

The change in **(A)** TNF gene expression and **(B)** module scores of four separate TNFdependent transcriptional modules derived from genome-wide microarrays, in skin biopsies from the site of TST of rheumatoid arthritis patients treated with methotrexate (MTX, n = 10), monoclonal anti-TNF antibodies (Mab, n = 10) or etanercept (ETN, n = 8), compared to patients receiving saline injections (n = 3 per group). **(C)** Representative images of MMP9 immunohistochemical staining (scale bar represents 500µm) and **(D)** positive MMP9 staining in skin biopsies from the same patients.

Data points are derived from individual experiments. There were no significant differences between anti-TNF therapies (Mab & ETN) and MTX treatment in Mann Whitney tests (p>0.05).

8.4 **DISCUSSION**

The rationale for the development of anti-TNF therapies in RA was based on local expression of TNF at the site of disease, the understanding of its functional role in proinflammatory immune cell recruitment to tissues and data from animal models in which over expression of human TNF caused a chronic inflammatory arthritis which could be ameliorated by anti-TNF therapy [108]. In this context, the unequivocal therapeutic effects of anti-TNF antibodies and ETN in RA led to two conclusions. Firstly, that anti-TNF therapies mediate their beneficial effect by inhibiting TNF activity at the site of disease and consequently, that TNF function makes an essential contribution to the immunopathogenesis of disease. Secondly, the same rationale applied to the detrimental effect of TNF inhibition, as increased risk of certain infections amongst patients on anti-TNF therapies [186, 321], suggested that TNF activity is an essential component of protective immune responses.

Several lines of evidence suggest that despite the wealth of literature supporting these conclusions the effects of anti-TNF agents are not wholly understood. For example, it has become evident that anti-TNF antibodies and ETN have differential biological activity. Although, they mediate similar therapeutic effects in RA, anti-TNF antibodies but not ETN are effective in other chronic inflammatory disease such as Crohn's colitis [347]. Likewise, the use of anti-TNF antibodies incurs significantly greater risk of active tuberculosis than that of ETN [186, 187, 327]. In addition, our group has previously shown that anti-TNF antibodies, but not ETN, induce increased emergence of functionally active regulatory T cells [151]. Counterintuitively, this last example may be mediated by augmentation of TNF function through enhancing the interaction of membrane bound TNF and TNFR2 [153]. Therefore, the biological effects of anti-TNF therapies may extend beyond the canonical view that they block TNF activity at the site of immune responses in tissue.

In order to test this question directly, I adopted a human experimental challenge approach using the TST as a standardised stimulus with which to invoke a focus of cell mediated immune responses [339]. Transcriptional profiling from skin punch biopsies from the site of TST afforded us the opportunity to make comprehensive genome-wide assessments of immune responses at the molecular level with unprecedented sensitivity. I complemented this approach with the derivation of independent experimentally derived TNF-dependent gene expression modules representing the functional bioactivity of TNF. The evaluation of TNF activity at the transcriptional level revealed striking differences between TNF-dependent transcriptional responses in macrophages, blood cells and keratinocytes. The mechanisms underlying the context specificity in the functional activity of TNF likely reflect distinct epigenetic landscapes in different cell types [348]. Despite the limited overlap between each of the four TNF-dependent gene expression modules I derived, in silico bioinformatics analysis that yielded TNF as the top predicted upstream transactivator of each list of genes. These independently derived transcriptional modules associated with different cell types present at the site of the TST, namely keratinocytes, macrophages and recruited blood leukocytes enhanced the sensitivity of my analysis and provided cross-validation.

Disease or treatment-specific modules of TNF activity developed from whole blood of patients with RA demonstrated a distinct set of genes which are upregulated in RA, however despite these differences, a similar pattern of TNF activity was seen in the unstimulated and TNF-stimulated blood suggesting that the disease from which the modules are derived from is unimportant in this context.

In healthy subjects, I showed that TNF expression was enriched in the TST and that the variability in its enrichment correlated with concordant enrichment of each of the four TNF dependent transcriptional modules. In addition, I extended this analysis to the protein level, by showing correlation with MMP9 as a TNF-inducible protein [349]. Taken together these data showed unequivocally that the TST invokes a functional TNF response and that I can quantify variability in TNF bioactivity in situ within this response.

In order to the test the effects of anti-TNF agents I sought to compare RA patients with quiescent disease on methotrexate to those receiving anti-TNF agents. In blood, baseline TNF bioactivity represented by the expression of TNF modules was not significantly different between RA patients on MTX and those on anti-TNF therapies. Therefore, the data suggest that the widely reported diminution of pro-inflammatory mediators in RA patients with quiescent disease following anti-TNF therapy may not be related to a targeted reduction in steady state expression of TNF-dependent gene expression, but could simply represent successful control of active disease in patients on treatment with methotrexate or anti-TNF therapies albeit through possibly divergent mechanisms. Nonetheless, I confirmed that enrichment of TNF-dependent gene expression following ex vivo TNF stimulation of whole blood was significantly attenuated in blood from patients on anti-TNF agents. However, in the same groups of patients, receipt of anti-TNF agents did not attenuate the enrichment of the TNF-dependent transcriptional modules or MMP9 immunostaining within the TST. Hence, I concluded that although anti-TNF agents can inhibit TNF bioactivity in the circulation, but they have no discernable effect on in vivo TNF activity at the site of an acute immune challenge.

The most likely explanation for the observations in skin is that anti-TNF agents do not reach sufficient concentration within the tissue microenvironment to neutralise the level of TNF produced in an acute cell mediated immune response, modelled by the TST. Therefore, I speculate that their therapeutic effects may be achieved by neutralising lower levels of TNF in foci of chronic inflammation or by neutralising the endocrine functions of circulating TNF. The latter would suggest a previously unrecognised model by which TNF may contribute to the pathogenesis of RA or other inflammatory diseases for which anti-TNF agents have been deployed successfully. Although anti-TNF therapies are associated with increased risk of some infectious diseases, the fact that most recipients of anti-TNF therapy do not suffer from recurrent infections, has challenged the view that TNF is a nonredundant component of host-protective immune responses to infection. The data reveal this inference to be false because patients receiving anti-TNF therapies can exhibit normal TNF activity at the site of an acute inflammatory challenge. My findings are consistent with a model in which the contribution of TNF to chronic inflammatory processes is more sensitive to neutralisation by anti-TNF agents than TNF's actions in acute inflammation. The differential sensitivity of acute and chronic inflammation most likely reflects different levels of TNF and generates the therapeutic window in which anti-TNF agents have provided such effective treatments for chronic inflammatory conditions. In such a model, current anti-TNF therapies may be ineffective in acute inflammatory pathology, and strategies that effectively inhibit TNF activity in acute inflammation may incur much greater risk of acute infections.

8.5 CONCLUSION

In conclusion, using modular analysis of TNF inducible bioactivity, I was able to use transcriptional processing of blood and skin to assess the response to an acute inflammatory challenge (either TNF in whole blood, or the TST) in RA patients treated with anti-TNF therapy.

Using the TST as an in vivo challenge model to test the immune response to Mtb, I have established by genome wide transcriptional processing and immunohistochemistry, that cellular infiltration or TNF inducible activity are not attenuated by either RA or anti-TNF therapy, compared to healthy participants. Hence anti-TNF therapy is unable to block a surge in TNF activity following an acute challenge in the skin.

9 THE EFFECT OF ANTI-TNF THERAPY ON MYCOBACTERIAL GROWTH IN MONOCYTE-DERIVED MACROPHAGES

9.1 INTRODUCTION

Immunological protection against *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (Mtb) is dependent on cell mediated immunity, largely though interactions between Mtb-infected macrophages and T cells. Importantly immunological control of mycobacterial growth is thought to be the main determinant in the outcome of Mtb infection [350].

Following ingestion of Mtb, alveolar macrophages become activated and secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines, including TNF, IL6 and IL12 [222]. TNF is a critical cytokine in the host response to Mtb, as it stimulates neutrophils [351] and macrophages [352] to act in an autocrine and paracrine fashion to stimulate apoptosis and release ROS and RNS to augment killing of intracellular mycobacteria in animal models. Upon exposure to Mtb, mouse macrophages are stimulated to produce TNF in a TLR2-dependent manner, which is abolished in TLR2 knockout cells [353]. TNF has also been shown to be important in controlling both early and latent infection in non-human primates (NHP) [282], and is thought to be essential for the formation and maintenance of granulomas, by regulating the tight apposition of macrophages and lymphocytes [284]. High concentrations of TNF have been found in the broncho-alveolar lavage fluid of smear-positive TB patients (with high bacterial burden) [354]. Neutralisation of TNF by anti-TNF antibody therapy in mice and humans, or in TNF-knockout mice increases the susceptibility to granulomatous infections [183, 277, 285].

However the role of TNF in the host response to TB is not entirely clear, as it appears to have varying effects in different animal species. In mouse models, administration of anti-TNF antibodies resulted in a loss of granuloma cellularity and protective function [287, 288] and displayed more disorganised granuloma [277, 289, 291], and rabbits treated with etanercept (ETN) displayed increased bacilliary load and larger granuloma with more extensive necrosis and cavity formation [286]. Moreover latently-infected NHP and zebrafish maintained a normal granuloma structure following TNF neutralisation, with an increased bacterial burden [282, 290], suggesting early granuloma formation is independent of TNF signalling, at least in NHP and zebrafish.

Much of the role of TNF in limiting growth of intracellular Mtb infection can be attributed to the induction of apoptosis in infected cells [355-357]. Indeed, addition of TNF to *Mycobacterium avium*-infected macrophages in vitro reduced *M. avium* growth over seven days, but also destroyed approximately 40% of the cells in culture [358]. TNF itself was innocuous to mycobacteria growing in tissue culture medium or liquid culture (7H9) [358], suggesting that TNF activates the macrophages to kill the mycobacteria, and subsequently the macrophages may undergo apoptosis. However it is not clear whether the apparent killing of mycobacterium is an artefact of macrophage cell death from toxic doses of TNF.

Further to this, Mtb itself has the ability to downregulate host cell TNF production in order to evade the host immune mechanisms. It has been demonstrated that specific Mtb genes encode mycobacterial components that can downregulate macrophage production of TNF [359-361]. Certain mutant Mtb strains deficient in such downregulating elements, have attenuated mycobacterial virulence [359-362].

In vitro addition of anti-TNF antibody therapy, but not ETN, inhibits phagosome maturation of infected macrophages despite pre-treatment with IFN γ [363], implying only anti-TNF antibody therapy is able to inhibit intracellular mycobacterial killing, albeit not directly tested.

Patients with RA are at increased risk of infection [316] and in particular TB risk is 2-4 times higher than the general population [189, 192-194]. The mechanisms for this have not been studied and although RA patients are known to have more highly activated monocytes and macrophages [94, 364], it is not clear whether these monocytes and macrophages are more permissive to infection than those from healthy subjects. Therefore I hypothesised that MDM from RA patients would be more permissive to Mtb infection, and have less control of mycobacterial growth compared to MDM from healthy subjects.

The risk of active TB increases significantly to 7-17 times higher than the general population, when patients are treated with anti-TNF therapy [186, 187, 189, 327]. Although it has been shown that anti-TNF therapy may increase bacillary burden, and is likely to reactivate LTBI by resuscitating dormant intracellular mycobacteria [295], it has not been clearly demonstrated that anti-TNF therapy has a direct effect on intracellular mycobacterial growth in macrophages. Given these findings, I hypothesised that anti-TNF therapy is also able to abrogate intracellular mycobacterial killing, thus leading to an increased total Mtb burden. In order to investigate this I treated Mtb-infected MDM with anti-TNF therapy and quantified mycobacterial growth inside and outside of MDM.

- 1. To determine whether monocyte-derived macrophages (MDM) from rheumatoid arthritis (RA) patients are more permissive to Mtb infection than those from healthy subjects.
- 2. To assess the impact of anti-TNF therapy on intra- and extracellular mycobacterial growth in MDMs and to determine whether the effect differs in MDMs from RA patients and healthy subjects.

9.3.1 Development of methodology to use fluorescent mycobacteria to quantitate intracellular and extracellular mycobacteria

Traditional methods of quantifying mycobacterial load in cell cultures or infected tissues depends largely on seeding bacteria onto culture media (Middlebrook 7H10 or Lowestein Jensen) and counting colony-forming units after weeks of culture. Due to a slow growth rate, methods such as colony counting are potentially biohazardous, laborious, time-consuming and often inaccurate due to mycobacterial clumping.

Together with Dr Elspeth Potton (PhD student in our group), we developed a high throughput flow cytometric assay for quantitation of intracellular mycobacterial growth. Using a virulent strain of Mtb, H37Rv, which constitutively expresses a fluorescent reporter protein mCherry fluorophore (H37Rv mCherry) (a gift from Tanya Parish, QMUL), which is stable and detectable under hypoxic conditions in vitro, non-replicating cells or in low cell density conditions [365].



Figure 9.1 Growing and quantifying Mtb - H37Rv mCherry

(A) H37Rv wild type and H37Rv constitutively expressing an mCherry fluorophore (H37Rv mCherry) were grown simultaneously and measured by optical density (OD) at varying time points after passage to assess log-phase growth. Fluorescence of H37Rv mCherry was quantified by flow cytometry. **(B)** The gating strategy for measuring fluorescence of mycobacteria involves enumerating fluorescent beads and mycobacteria, excluding debris and calculating mycobacteria per bead. **(C)** mCherry fluorescence measured by flow cytometry is proportional to a standard method of quantification – colony forming units (CFU) and with a sensitivity of 100 mycobacteria. **(D)** Growth of intracellular mycobacteria from 4-120hours +/- varying concentrations of isoniazid. Bars represent mean +/- SEM, (n = 4). **(E)** Representative flow cytometry plots to demonstrate inoculum of H37Rv mCherry, supernatant at 4 hours post infection, supernatant after effective washing at 4 hours and extracellular H37Rv mCherry collected from supernatant of infected MDMs at 24 hours, and following lysis of MDM, intracellular mycobacteria, measured at 24 hours.

In order to show that the constitutive expression of mCherry by H37Rv did not affect bacterial fitness, I compared growth curves with wild type H37Rv, measured by optical density (see Figure 9.1 A). I was able to confirm a linear correlation between flow cytometric quantitation of H37Rv mCherry and conventional colony counting for bacteria grown on agar medium (see Figure 9.1 C). This relationship plateaued at ~100 bacteria, representing the lower limit for sensitivity of flow cytometric quantitation. I confirmed that intracellular mycobacterial growth can be quantitated in this assay by showing reduction of intracellular H37Rv mCherry in infected MDM incubated with increasing concentrations of the anti-mycobacterial drug, isoniazid (see Figure 9.1 D). A limitation of this approach remains that we do not know the rate at which fluorescence from dead bacteria decays and were not able to easily evaluate bacterial killing as distinct from lack of bacterial growth.

To confirm that it is possible to discriminate between intra- and extracellular bacteria in Mtb-infected MDM cultures, adherent MDM cultures were infected with H37Rv mCherry at a multiplicity of infection of one (MOI 1) for four hours to allow H37Rv uptake into adherent macrophages. After four hours, extracellular H37Rv mCherry in the supernatant was removed from the culture, and adherent cells were washed thoroughly, demonstrating little evidence of H37Rv mCherry in supernatants after washing (see Figure 9.1 E). Culture medium was replaced and at further time-points (24 or 120 hours), the supernatant of the cell culture was again analysed by flow cytometry, representing extracellular bacteria (see Figure 9.1 E). Adherent MDM were then washed thoroughly again to ensure removal of any remaining extracellular bacteria, and subsequently cells were lysed with distilled water to release intracellular bacilli, which were readily detectable (see Figure 9.1 E).

Plates of infected and uninfected MDMs were also set up in parallel to quantify cell number in each experiment and at each timepoint using microscopy (see Figure 9.2), to assess whether cell number varies over time and subsequently to normalise intracellular mycobacteria to cell number.



Figure 9.2 Imaging of H37Rv mCherry infected monocyte-derived macrophages

H37Rv mCherry infected macrophages were fixed with 8% paraformaldehyde (PFA) before permeabilisation with 0.1% Triton X and nuclear staining with 4', 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI). These are representative plots from healthy MDM at 4, 24 and 120 hours post infection with H37Rv mCherry. DAPI staining is shown as blue, mCherry as red.

9.3.2 Monocyte-derived macrophages from RA patients are not more permissive to Mtb infection compared to healthy controls

It is not fully understood why patients with RA (on standard disease modifying treatment) have a 2-4 times increased risk of TB infection compared to the healthy population [189, 192-194], therefore I tested whether this increased TB infection risk is due to increased permissivity by RA macrophages. I infected MDM from HV and RA patients treated with MTX with H37Rv mCherry and quantified intra- and extracellular TB for an estimate of total TB burden.

Firstly I established that cell number was not significantly affected by either H37Rv mCherry infection, or RA disease (see Figure 9.3 A), by comparison to uninfected MDM cultures from healthy volunteers. However cell numbers in the uninfected, infected, healthy and RA groups were all significantly reduced at 120 hours post infection. As this occurred across all culture conditions, this is likely to be due to technical handling of the cultures (such as the vigorous washing steps to remove extracellular bacteria), rather than a biologically relevant phenomenon.

Intra-, extracellular and total H37Rv mCherry burden was assessed at 4, 24 and 120 hours post infection (see Figure 9.3 C). When H37Rv mCherry is normalised to the inoculum only, RA MDM are more permissive to Mtb infection in the first 24 hours, however this phenomenon does not persist up to 120 hours. In addition, after normalising H37Rv mCherry to cell number in each experiment (see Figure 9.3 B), RA MDM are more permissive to intracellular Mtb within the first 24 hours, compared to healthy volunteers this may be due increased loss of cells at 24 hours in the RA group in individual experiments, (although a significant overall difference between cell number between HV and RA MDM was not seen). However Mtb is a slow-growing pathogen and thus the majority of growth was seen 120 hours post infection, where there was no overall increased permissivity of RA macrophages to Mtb.

Extracellular data could not be measured at 4 hours, as the remaining inoculum that had not been phagocytosed would have confounded this. Significantly more extracellular H37Rv mCherry was seen at 120 hours in both groups, which reflected reduced cell number, probably due to live Mtb being released from dead

or dying cells. However, there was no significant difference in extracellular Mtb between groups, and this overall Mtb burden was not significantly different between RA and HV MDM (see Figure 9.3 C). Therefore RA MDM overall are not more permissive to TB infection than healthy MDM.



Figure 9.3 Monocyte-derived macrophages from RA patients may show an early deficit, but not sustained permissivity to Mtb infection compared to HV

Monocyte-derived macrophages (MDM) from healthy volunteers (HV) and rheumatoid arthritis (RA) patients with stable disease, treated with methotrexate, were infected with H37Rv mCherry at a multiplicity of infection of 1. (A) Adhesive MDM were stained with DAPI and imaged using the Hermes microscope. WiSoft software was used to quantify number of cells per well in Mtb-infected and uninfected samples, 4 hours and 120 hours post infection (24 hours post-infection data also collected, but not shown) in healthy volunteers (n = 6) and RA patients (n = 6) (B) 4 hours post-infection, wells were washed vigorously and lysed with distilled water or replenished with media for 24 or 120 hours, at which point they were lysed to quantitate intracellular bacteria. Intracellular mycobacteria were quantitated using flow cytometry and normalised to infecting inoculum and cell number for each experiment (HV n = 6, RA n = 6). (C) Intracellular bacteria were collected at 4, 24 and 120 hours post infection, and extracellular bacteria were collected and quantified from supernatants of Mtb-infected MDM at 24 and 120 hours post-infection. This was quantified by flow cytometry and normalised to the infecting inoculum (HV n = 6, RA n = 6). Total burden of mycobacteria at 24 and 120 hours post-infection represents the sum of intracellular and extracellular mycobacteria at each time point (normalised to inoculum only). (HV n = 6, RA n = 6). Bars represent mean, and error bars represent standard deviation. P values were derived from a Mann-Whitney test, * p < 0.05.

9.3.3 Anti-TNF therapy reduces number of in vitro Mtb-infected monocytederived macrophages

Anti-TNF antibody therapy has been previously associated with monocyte and T cell apoptosis in vitro in Crohn's disease [141-143], and both IFX and ETN have been shown to increase apoptosis of the monocyte/macrophage population in synovial fluid, but less so in peripheral blood from RA patients [144]. The mechanism of this apoptosis is not clear, but may be mediated by reverse signalling via tmTNF, which is activated by anti-TNF antibody therapy [146].

Therefore in order to assess whether adding in vitro anti-TNF therapy to cell cultures affected cell number, I quantified the number of Mtb-infected and uninfected MDMs in the presence of anti-TNF therapy (ADA or ETN), an isotype control to IgG1 (isotype control for ADA) or no drug in HV and RA (treated with MTX) MDMs.

As seen previously (see Figure 9.3 A), cell number reduced over time in both the healthy and RA groups in both Mtb-infected and uninfected MDM (see Figure 9.4 A – B). In the healthy subjects, neither anti-TNF therapy nor the isotype control alone had any impact on MDM number (see Figure 9.4 A). However, after 120 hours the number of RA MDM that were Mtb-infected and treated with either ADA or ETN, reduced by 54 or 57% respectively, which was significantly reduced compared to the number of uninfected cells treated with anti-TNF therapy, which only reduced by 26 or 25% respectively (see Figure 9.4 B). Although a similar trend was seen in the untreated uninfected and Mtb-infected RA MDM, but this did not reach statistical significance. This suggests that anti-TNF therapy may increase apoptosis of Mtb-infected MDM. Further assays of cell death or apoptosis would need to be studied to confirm this.





RA, but not HV at 120 hours

Monocyte-derived macrophages (MDM) were pretreated with Etanercept (ETN), Adalimumab (ADA), an IgG1 isotype control or media alone, one hour before infecting with H37Rv mCherry (or no infection), at a multiplicity of infection of one. Cells were washed at 4 hours, and either fixed with 8% paraformaldehyde (PFA) or replenished with media (containing ADA, ETN, IgG1 isotype control or nil) for a further 24 or 120 hours at which point cells were fixed with 8% PFA. Adhesive MDM were stained with DAPI and imaged using the Hermes microscope. WiSoft software was used to quantify number of cells per well in Mtb-infected and uninfected samples, in **(A)** healthy subjects (n = 6) and **(B)** RA patients (n = 6). P values were derived from a Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed rank test * p < 0.05. Bars represent mean, and error bars represent standard error of the mean.

9.3.4 In vitro anti-TNF therapy enables greater Mtb growth in RA monocytederived macrophages compared to healthy subjects

In vitro studies have shown that TNF increases the ability of macrophages to phagocytose and kill mycobacteria, which largely thought to be via activation of macrophages and subsequent apoptosis [355-358]. It has been shown that anti-TNF antibody therapy, but not ETN blocks phagosome maturation in macrophages (PMA-differentiated THP-1 cell lines), but did not report whether this impacted on TB growth [363]. Anti-TNF antibody therapy has also been shown to diminish IFN γ effects and stimulate apoptosis of key immune cells, including monocytes [142], CD4⁺ T helper cells [366], and Mtb-reactive CD8⁺ T cells [294]. Therefore it is not clear what effect TNF or TNF blockade has on intracellular mycobacterial growth, and subsequently the total burden of mycobacterial growth if cells do undergo apoptosis.

I have already shown that ETN effectively blocks TNF dependent responses in MDM stimulated with LPS (see Derivation of TNF-inducible transcriptional modules). Therefore to establish whether MDM-derived TNF has a protective role in the immune response to Mtb, I sought to assess Mtb growth in the presence of anti-TNF therapy. I infected MDMs from healthy subjects and RA patients treated with MTX, with H37Rv mCherry, in the presence of anti-TNF therapy (ADA or ETN) or media alone. I sought to assess intracellular, extracellular and total Mtb burden in healthy and RA MDM treated with or without anti-TNF therapy. An isotype control for IgG1 (as a control for ADA) was also used.

Adherent MDM from HV or RA patients treated with MTX were primed with ADA, ETN, an IgG isotype control or no drug for one hour prior to infection with H37Rv mCherry. Cells were then infected with H37Rv mCherry at an MOI 1 for four hours, at which point they were washed and either lysed to collect intracellular Mtb or replenished with media, containing the same drug as previously (ADA, ETN, an IgG isotype control) or no drug for a further 24 or 120 hours.



Figure 9.5 In vitro addition of anti-TNF therapy does not affect mycobacterial growth in MDM from healthy subjects

Monocyte-derived macrophages (MDM) from healthy volunteers were primed with no drug, Adalimumab (ADA), Etanercept (ETN) or an IgG isotype control, one hour prior to infection with H37Rv mCherry for 4 hours (multiplicity of infection of 1). Adherent cells were then washed and appropriate culture medium was replaced for a further 24 or 120 hours. **(A)** Intracellular mycobacterial growth was assessed by flow cytometry from washed and lysed cells at 4, 24 and 120 hours, and extracellular mycobacteria were collected and quantified from supernatants of Mtb-infected MDM at 24 and 120 hours post-infection. Total burden of mycobacteria represents the sum of intracellular and extracellular mycobacteria at each time point, this was quantified by flow cytometry and normalised to the infecting inoculum. n = 6 for each experiment. **(B)** Intracellular mycobacterial growth represented, normalised to inoculum and MDM cell count.

No significant p values were determined with a Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed rank test. Bars represent mean, and error bars represent standard error of the mean.



Figure 9.6 In vitro addition of anti-TNF therapy does not consistently increase mycobacterial growth in MDM from RA patients

MDM from RA patients treated with MTX were primed with no drug, ADA, ETN or an IgG isotype control, one hour prior to infection with H37Rv mCherry for 4 hours (MOI 1). Adherent cells were then washed and appropriate culture medium was replaced for a further 24 or 120 hours. **(A)** Intracellular mycobacterial growth was collected from washed and lysed cells at 4, 24 and 120 hours, and extracellular mycobacteria were collected and quantified from supernatants of Mtb-infected MDM at 24 and 120 hours post-infection by flow cytometry. Total Mtb burden represents the sum of intracellular and extracellular mycobacteria at each time point (n = 6), all normalised to inoculum only. p values were determined by Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed rank test, *p<0.05. Bars represent mean, and error bars represent standard error of the mean. **(B)** Intracellular mycobacterial growth represented, normalised to inoculum and MDM cell count. **(C)** Total Mtb burden at 24 and 120 hours comparing MDM from HV and RA on MTX. No significant differences were found by Mann-Whitney test.

Maximal intracellular H37Rv mCherry growth occurred after 120 hours in MDM from both HV and RA MTX patients. (see Figure 9.5 A – B and Figure 9.6 A – B). Neither of the anti-TNF therapies significantly increased intracellular mycobacterial growth or had an impact on extracellular mycobacterial growth in MDM from HV (see Figure 9.5). However, ETN did significantly increase intracellular H37Rv mCherry growth in RA MDM, but this was not significant once adjusting for number of MDMs per well (see Figure 9.6 A - B). Extracellular and total Mtb growth appeared to be greater following addition of anti-TNF therapy in RA MDMs, but this was not significant (see Figure 9.6).

Total growth of Mtb appeared to be greater in all RA conditions, compared to HV MDM at both 24 and 120 hours, but this was not significantly different (see Figure 9.6 C). Interestingly following addition of the IgG isotype control to Mtb cultures, results were more in keeping with 'no drug' than ADA, suggesting this possible increase in Mtb growth is due to blockade of TNF activity rather than non-specific antibody binding.

9.4 **DISCUSSION**

Mtb has evolved to subvert intracellular killing by macrophages, by preventing acidification of the phagosome and fusion with lysosomes [227]. However, macrophages still play an important role in at least partly containing mycobacterial growth [301, 367, 368].

As traditional methodology for quantifying intracellular mycobacterial growth, such as colony counting, is assumed to be slow and inaccurate, I have established a high throughput flow cytometric assay for quantitating mycobacterial growth, which can be normalised to both infecting inoculum and MDM cell number to provide greater accuracy. This methodology has also enabled me to quantify cell number over time by microscopy, and growth of extracellular mycobacteria by flow cytometry, thereby assessing total mycobacterial burden, which is not usually measured by traditional methods.

The advantages of the flow cytometric assay to quantify fluorescent reporter proteins in H37Rv is that the fluorophore mCherry, grows steadily over time and follows a similar growth curve to wild type H37Rv. H37Rv mCherry is quantifiable by flow cytometry with good sensitivity and this methodology allows the ability to quantify mycobacteria in large numbers of MDM cells, allowing for a high throughput of results. This method also allows for quantifying both intra- and extracellular Mtb, so that total Mtb burden can be assessed.

Once fluorescent mycobacteria die, they no longer fluoresce (as evidenced by Mtbinfected MDM treated with isoniazid), however it is not clear at what point dying mycobacteria lose fluorescence. This is important to establish, to see whether extracellular mycobacteria are in a dying stage. We did initially establish that extracellular H37Rv mCherry did contain live mycobacteria (by colony counting on agar plates – data not shown), but again colony counting does not account for mycobacteria that may be dying. Similarly other methods have been harnessed to quantify mycobacteria; qPCR is unable to discriminate live or dead bacteria, has a poor sensitivity for low numbers of mycobacteria and the thick lipid-rich cell wall of Mtb makes DNA extraction more difficult [369], imaging of fluorescent reporter proteins such as Green Fluorescent Protein (GFP) can estimate viable intracellular pathogens [370] but is better suited to quantifying smaller numbers of infected MDM and colorimetric assays using 3-4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl-2, 5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT) can quantitate intracellular mycobacteria [371], but MDM are usually lysed in the process, therefore it is not possible to quantify extracellular bacteria.

Using this method I have seen that over 120 hours, RA MDM are not more permissive to Mtb infection than HV MDM, despite the increased risk of TB in anti-TNF therapy-naïve RA patients. There is initially an increase in Mtb infection in RA MDM within the first 24 hours, which may give rise to an early permissivity, but this is not sustained and after 120 hours there is no discernable difference in intracellular, extracellular or total Mtb growth between RA and healthy MDM. Therefore the increased susceptibility to Mtb in RA seen in national registry data [189, 194] and from large databases of patients with RA from California [193] and Ontario [192], is not due to macrophage handling of the mycobacterium, but may be due to other immune mechanisms, such as defects in adaptive immunity.

It would have been interesting to characterise the phenotype of the HV and RA MDMs in this model before and after infection, as RA macrophages are thought to be more highly activated [94, 364], with a higher propensity to the CD14^{low}CD16^{high} phenotype and express more tmTNF compared with their healthy counterparts [72]. In this series of experiments, all MDMs were differentiated in macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) for consistency. Extensive functional heterogeneity in macrophages is widely recognised, although it is thought that monocytes differentiated in vitro with M-CSF are thought to have a more anti-inflammatory phenotype, whereas those differentiated in granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) may be more pro-inflammatory and with a similar phenotype to alveolar macrophages [372-374]. Therefore further work might include extension of the current experiments using alternative macrophage models, such as differentiation of MDMs in GM-CSF, to more closely resemble alveolar macrophages. However macrophages are highly plastic cells, and will adapt their phenotype according to a variety of environmental cues, including Mtb infection and therefore the initial differentiation phenotype may be irrelevant.

TNF is an important cytokine in macrophage activation, is released by macrophages once activated and is also thought to be important in granuloma formation [222, 277, 284, 285]. Mycobacterial infection of macrophages induces production of TNF [278, 375, 376], which improves the ability to phagocytotose and kill mycobacteria [358, 377]. Therefore I wanted to establish what effect TNF blockade had on mycobacterial growth, by both adding anti-TNF therapy in vitro and also using MDMs from patients receiving anti-TNF therapy. I had confidence in this methodology, given I have previously shown that ETN is able to block TNF-induced activity in MDM stimulated with LPS (see Derivation of TNF-inducible transcriptional modules). However it would also be interesting to repeat these experiments in the presence of exogenous TNF and also to model T cell contributions, by adding activated T cells to Mtb-infected MDM.

It has also been reported that anti-TNF therapy and ETN can induce apoptosis of monocytes and macrophages in vitro [141-144], hence I measured in vitro cell numbers over time in both Mtb-infected and uninfected MDM. Between the early and late time points there was up to 50% cell loss, but this was independent of infection or drug and seen in both HV and RA MDM. This cell loss is likely to be due to cell death and apoptosis, and also loss of adherence to the plate over time, as dynamic cytokine concentrations in the environment (supernatant) after Mtb infection will have contributed to altered phenotype of the MDMs. However there was a statistically significant decrease in cell number in Mtb-infected RA MDM compared to uninfected when anti-TNF was added in vitro. Mtb-infected MDMs in HV, and those without drug or treated with the IgG isotype control were also lower in number, but did not reach statistical significance, compared to uninfected MDM. Furthermore this cell loss over time highlighted the importance of normalising quantitation of intracellular Mtb to cell number. Further experiments should be conducted to explore the mechanism of cell loss, and whether anti-TNF therapy is contributing to apoptosis of Mtb-infected MDM.

Interestingly anti-TNF therapy had no effect on intra- or extracellular mycobacterial growth in healthy volunteers. However in RA patients, it appeared that anti-TNF therapy did contribute to total mycobacterial burden, but these results did not reach statistical significance. Only six individuals were used per

group, and there was large inter-individual variability between donors that may have contributed to the lack of statistical significance. It would be prudent to repeat these experiments with increased numbers of donors to see whether statistical significance can be reached.

It would also be interesting to examine whether MDM from RA patients treated with anti-TNF therapy behave in the same manner as those where TNF blockade has been added in vitro. This would address whether anti-TNF therapy modulates circulating monocytes (such as increasing tmTNF) and whether these changes are also applicable to monocyte-derived macrophages. I would also like to assess the monocytes and differentiated macrophages for tmTNF levels, in HV and RA patients treated with and without anti-TNF therapy to see whether the increased levels of tmTNF that has previously been reported in monocytes is still seen in macrophages.

9.5 CONCLUSIONS

In conclusion I have established an effective and accurate method of quantifying intracellular and extracellular mycobacteria in vitro, using flow cytometry and microscopy of a virulent strain of Mtb, H37Rv, which constitutively expresses a fluorescent reporter protein mCherry fluorophore (H37Rv mCherry).

I have demonstrated this is a robust method for quantifying intra- and extracellular mycobacteria and for assessing total mycobacterial burden in Mtbinfected MDM. However cell loss occurs with increasing time post-infection. This is increased by anti-TNF therapy in Mtb-infected MDM, although at this point it is not clear whether this is due to technical handling of the cultures or a biological phenomenon.

Furthermore, in vitro anti-TNF therapy does not increase the total burden of Mtb growth in MDM from either HV or RA patients treated with MTX.
10 GENERAL DISCUSSION

10.1 EPIDEMIOLOGY AND ACQUISITION OF TB IN RA PATIENTS ON ANTI-TNF THERAPY

Anti-TNF therapies have transformed the management of RA, since being licenced nearly 20 years ago. They are regarded as relatively safe drugs, given that TNF is thought to play a non-redundant role in the healthy immune system, but there is an increased risk of active tuberculosis (TB) during, and after treatment [183, 186-189, 328]. It appears that this is most likely to be due to reactivation of latent TB infection (LTBI), rather than acquisition of new infection due to the higher risk of extrapulmonary and disseminated disease, and majority of onset being within the first 24 months of therapy [183, 186-189, 328]. Indeed screening for and treating LTBI has significantly reduced the cases of active TB [191]. From the BSRBR dataset that I analysed, I did not find conclusive evidence that *de novo* TB infection, did not become an increasingly bigger proportion of active cases with time on anti-TNF therapy.

Of interest the patients from the BSRBR registry who did develop active TB were mainly white females, aged in their sixties and born in the UK. This is not generally regarded as a high risk LTBI group – as it is more commonly seen in immigrants who have been in the UK less than 5 years, who were born in South-East Asia and Africa [335]. However these patients from the registry with LTBI reflect the demographics for RA patients who have a higher tendency to be female and usually present in the 4th-5th decade of life [35].

I would have also liked to compare the active TB cohort from the BSRBR with Public Health England's (PHE) national TB database, to establish whether the number of cases and case mix are in keeping with TB in the general population. It would have also been interesting to look at age and sex-matched controls and compare outcomes of treatment, and mortality rates. I also wanted to compare what effect guidelines for LTBI screening may have had on incidence of TB in patients on anti-TNF therapy. However, the BSRBR did not collect data on LTBI screening in recruited patients. In addition, once the BSRBR reached their initial recruitment targets, recruitment was stopped for several years, and subsequently recruitment has been poor. This makes true comparisons between BSRBR and PHE very difficult to perform and may not have given an accurate reflection of events, therefore these analyses were not pursued.

Genotyping of Mtb samples has been used in outbreak investigations, long-term surveillance and the detection of laboratory contamination. I wanted to see whether we could identify the genotype from Mtb samples of RA patients by the mycobacterial interspersed repetitive unit-variable number tandem repeats (MIRU-VNTR) strain types, and compare these with cases occurring in the same area during a similar time-period, to assess whether these cases were reactivation of LTBI and/or matched other cases of primary TB infection. However this was not possible, as many of our cases pre-dated MIRU-VNTR strain-typing, and this has not proven useful at identifying transmission chains previously. In addition the risk of new TB infection in most UK populations is low, other than hard to reach groups and some ethnic minority populations – mostly being due to reactivation of LTBI. Therefore this may not have provided us with enough information regarding local clusters of new TB infection to link the RA cases. It may have been that one or two cases had the same or similar MIRU-VNTR, but this could have been due to a common origin, rather than an epidemiological link or transmission between subjects. Therefore identifying MIRU-VNTR strains was not pursued.

10.2 ASSESSING A GENOME WIDE APPROACH TO INDUCIBLE TNF ACTIVITY

Transcriptomic analysis of tissue samples is used widely for an in vivo systems level assessment of multicellular biological processes, providing valuable insights into mechanisms of disease. However large amounts of data generated in this process can be difficult to interpret, therefore I worked together with other members of the laboratory group who have an interest in bioinformatics (Carolin Haas, Gabriele Pollara and Lucy Bell), to develop transcriptional modules to identify different cell types and inducible TNF activity. Subsequently we have validated this method of using transcriptional modules in tissue as well as blood [310].

Four individual modules of inducible TNF activity were developed, derived from our own experiments and published data [311, 312]. Two modules were derived from monocyte-derived macrophages (MDM) – both exogenous TNF stimulation and endogenous TNF production through lipopolysaccharide (LPS) stimulation, one derived from whole blood stimulated with TNF and lastly a module derived from published data from primary human keratinocytes [311, 312] (this was particularly important for the skin samples, as the majority of keratinocytes are found within the epidermis). I also compared a module derived from whole blood of RA patients, and compared this to the whole blood module from HV to show that similar patterns of TNF activity could be seen in the unstimulated and TNFstimulated blood, suggesting that the disease from which the modules are derived from is unimportant in this context. Despite the different methods, cell types and modest overlap between gene lists of modules, a similar pattern of TNF activity was seen and cross-validation of each gene list highlighted the context specificity of the functional gene modules. I would have also liked to test these modules on endogenous production of TNF in whole blood, in the context of general inflammation following stimulation with LPS.

Gene expression profiling of monocytes [170], peripheral blood [171-174] or synovial tissue [175-178], has been used extensively in RA before and after anti-TNF treatment, in order identify biomarkers that may be used to stratify likelihood of beneficial responses to treatment. However in the context of anti-TNF therapy increasing the risk of active TB, it has not been shown that downregulation of TNF activity persists during an acute inflammatory event, in patients with otherwise stable RA disease. Therefore this project aimed to study TNF activity in vivo in RA patients treated with anti-TNF therapy at the site of a standardised experimental challenge (the TST). In order to fully understand what effect anti-TNF therapy has on the immune response to TB, it would have been even better if samples were taken from the pulmonary TB granuloma itself, reflecting the exact cells which are involved in the host response to TB. The TST is a good representation of all of the components of the integrated innate and adaptive immune responses to TB, but the skin and pulmonary resident cells differ, thereby offering slightly different immune responses. Cases of active TB during anti-TNF therapy are now declining, as physicians are more thorough at screening for LTBI [191], and therefore these cases now occur infrequently. The TST is a simple, well-tolerated routine clinical procedure, which is easily amenable to biopsy and thus provided the most appropriate method to study TNF activity.

Peripheral blood samples from RA patients showed that TNF bioactivity represented by the expression of TNF modules was not significantly different between those treated with methotrexate alone, or anti-TNF therapy. Given that these patients all had quiescent RA disease, it is more likely that the reported diminution of pro-inflammatory mediators may simply represent control of active disease and not due to a targeted reduction in steady state expression of TNF-dependent gene expression. However following TNF stimulation of whole blood, significant attenuation of both TNF gene expression and TNF activity was seen across all four transcriptional modules, confirming that TNF activity is reduced in the context of an acute inflammatory challenge.

I would have liked to extend these observations further, by also stimulating whole blood with LPS, to see whether endogenous TNF responses are blocked by anti-TNF therapy, and whether TNF activity is attenuated by anti-TNF therapy, in response to whole blood stimulated with mycobacterial antigens.

10.3 THE EFFECT OF ANTI-TNF THERAPY ON IN VIVO PPD RESPONSES IN THE SKIN

Given that I have confirmed attenuation of TNF activity in peripheral blood of RA patients receiving anti-TNF therapy following TNF stimulation, I wanted to assess whether this altered response was also seen in vivo, at the site of a standardised immunological challenge.

Clinical inflammation in the TST has been widely used as a surrogate for T cell memory for mycobacterial antigens [340], but transcriptional profiling of biopsies from the injection site reflects all the components of integrated innate and adaptive immune responses, each of which can be quantified with independently derived transcriptional modules [309]. Importantly, this approach also revealed

immune responses in the absence of clinically evident inflammatory induration, allowing unprecedented sensitivity to measure immune responses that were previously described as anergic [309, 339].

I selected RA patients on anti-TNF therapies (adalimumab and etanercept), and compared these to patients receiving standard treatment (methotrexate), and to a group of healthy volunteers. Significant ethnic and age differences occurred between the HV and RA patients, which may have confounded the results. HV patients were younger and had a more multicultural demographic. Most RA patients were older and of a White British demographic. It has been previously described that increased age (more than 65 years) may attenuate clinical TST responses [378, 379], but given that our group has previously shown genome wide transcriptional profiling of the TST site is more sensitive for measuring immune responses that clinical responses [309, 339], this gave confidence the methodology.

TNF gene expression was significantly upregulated in the TST of healthy volunteers, which correlated well with modular expression of TNF activity. Matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)9 was chosen as an immunohistochemistry marker of TNF expression, as this is associated with TNF activity [346], and MMP9 featured in the transcriptional TNF module derived from keratinocytes. MMP9 was consistently increased in the TST and was strongly correlated with TNF gene expression, in 60% of healthy participants. These results validated that TNF bioactivity was detectable in the TST.

Interestingly in all RA patients there was upregulation of TNF gene expression, increased modular expression of TNF activity and increased MMP9 expression in the TST, despite treatment with anti-TNF therapy. Given that we have previously seen anti-TNF agents suppress TNF activity in peripheral blood, the most likely explanation is that anti-TNF therapy does not reach sufficient concentration within the tissue microenvironment to neutralise the level of TNF produced in an acute cell mediated immune response, modelled by the TST. It is likely that differential sensitivity of acute and chronic inflammation generates the therapeutic window in which anti-TNF agents have provided such effective treatments for chronic

inflammatory disease. In such a model, current anti-TNF therapies may be ineffective in acute inflammatory pathology, and strategies that effectively inhibit TNF activity in acute inflammation may incur much greater risk of acute infections.

Given that the saline control samples (albeit only three participants in each group), appeared to have a lower level of TNF activity in RA patients on anti-TNF therapy, compared to those treated with methotrexate, it is possible that the therapeutic effects of TNF inhibition may be achieved by neutralising lower levels of TNF in foci of chronic inflammation or by neutralising the endocrine functions of circulating TNF. However as this was not the expected result, only small numbers of control samples were collected per treatment group, and it would be useful to expand these numbers.

The most significant cell type to infiltrate the TST was T cells, which is in keeping with published literature [339]; this was confirmed by cell-specific transcriptional modules and validated by immunohistochemistry to quantify cellular infiltration, giving further confidence to our methods. Further work is also being carried out by other members of the group to look more specifically at CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cell infiltration in the TST, both by transcriptional modular analysis and by histology.

10.4 THE EFFECT OF TNF BLOCKADE ON IN VITRO MYCOBACTERIAL GROWTH

TNF plays an important role in the host response to TB, as it stimulates the production of chemokines (CCL2, 3, 4, 5, and 8) in macrophages and T cells and induces vascular adhesion molecules, promoting a focused accumulation of immune cells at the site of infection [284, 380]. It is also able to increase the phagocytic capacity of macrophages and enhance intracellular killing via the generation of ROS and RNI in mice [381], and aiding mycobacterial control by inducing apoptosis [355-358]. However few studies have looked directly at the effect of TNF blockade on intracellular mycobacterial growth, therefore I used an in vitro model of Mtb-infected macrophages to answer this question.

By establishing a novel assay using flow cytometry and microscopy of fluorescent Mtb, I was able to determine intracellular and extracellular Mtb growth in monocyte-derived macrophages. Together with other members of our laboratory group (Elspeth Potton, Gabriele Pollara, Jennifer Roe and Meera Mehta) this assay was refined to incorporate cell number quantified by microscopy, which was found to decrease over time and potentially confound rates of intracellular mycobacterial growth. As the virulent Mtb (H37Rv mCherry) used to infect macrophages was grown in liquid culture at log-phase, mycobacterial fluorescence was also normalised to the infecting inoculum, which was found to vary slightly between experiments. In this assay I was also able to quantify extra-cellular H37Rv mCherry that had been released by Mtb-infected cells, either as a mechanism of bacterial survival or following macrophage apoptosis. Previously this has not been extensively studied, but was important for quantifying total mycobacterial growth. Extracellular mycobacteria may subsequently infect other cells in the culture, and other members of the group are currently studying this.

It was not clear what effect anti-TNF therapy would have on numbers of Mtbinfected macrophages in culture, given that TNF is known to induce macrophage apoptosis in Mtb-infected cells [355-358] and anti-TNF therapy can stimulate apoptosis of key immune cells, including monocytes [142]. I found that in RA patients, there was significantly more loss after 120 hours which was compounded by Mtb infection and in vitro addition of anti-TNF therapy. I would have liked to further investigate whether this was indeed due to increased apoptosis or due to technical handling of the culture.

Although it appeared that in RA MDM, intracellular and extracellular H37Rv mCherry was greater in the context of TNF blockade, this was not significantly different from the IgG1 isotype control, or the control sample without anti-TNF therapy. This may have been explained by significant variation of Mtb growth and cell number between donors, although six participants were recruited per disease group and results were normalised to cell number and infecting inoculum. It would be useful to repeat these experiments again to see whether the results do reach significance. Interestingly in MDM from HV, anti-TNF therapy had no impact on mycobacterial growth. Although we have confidence that ETN blocks TNF activity in MDM from our transcriptional modules of TNF activity, it may have been useful to quantify serum TNF levels throughout the experiment, and further study Mtb-infected macrophages for TNF activity, after addition of anti-TNF therapy. Thus we

have not found a clear implication that anti-TNF therapy increases intracellular or extracellular mycobacterial growth in HV or RA MDM.

Further investigations of Mtb intracellular growth should also include the addition of TNF to Mtb-infected macrophages to see whether this reduces intracellular and total mycobacterial growth, and what impact this has on cell number.

11 CONCLUSIONS

By studying data from the British Society of Rheumatology Biologics Registry (BSRBR), I have been able to confirm that anti-TNF therapy increases the risk of reactivation of latent TB infection (LTBI) in patients with rheumatoid arthritis, but have not found evidence of increased risk of new active TB infection in these patients.

Anti-TNF therapy does not block TNF gene expression or TNF activity in whole blood of RA patients with stable inflammatory disease. However following about inflammatory response (or in this case, stimulation with TNF), TNF activity is reduced in those receiving TNF inhibitors. During a prototypic cell-mediated immune response at the site of immune challenge in vivo, anti-TNF therapy in RA patients does not inhibit inducible TNF function, suggesting that anti-TNF agents do not reach sufficient concentration within the tissue microenvironment to neutralise the level of TNF produced in an acute cell mediated immune response or their therapeutic effects are limited to regulating TNF activity in chronic inflammation or by alternative non-canonical pathways.

A virulent strain of Mtb constitutively expressing a fluorophore, H37Rv mCherry, can be accurately measured by flow cytometry to measure Mtb growth inside and outside of macrophages. Using this technique, I found that addition of anti-TNF therapy in vitro had no significant effect on mycobacterial growth, but may increase cell death in Mtb-infected cells.

12 FUTURE WORK

12.1 INVESTIGATING INDUCIBLE TNF ACTIVITY IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS PATIENTS TREATED WITH ANTI-TNF THERAPY

Anti-TNF therapy reduced TNF activity in whole blood following TNF stimulation, compared to RA patients treated only with methotrexate. I would like to expand these experiments to incorporate a larger number of subjects, to see if there is a significant difference between ADA and ETN – as ADA did significantly reduce TNF activity whereas ETN did not. This may go some way to explain the increased risk of TB with anti-TNF antibodies. I would also like to induce an endogenous TNF response in the context of a broad inflammatory response, following whole blood stimulation with lipopolysaccharide (LPS), and also to mycobacterial antigens. We have already shown that ETN inhibits TNF activity in MDM, but would be important to demonstrate that endogenous TNF responses can also be blocked in whole blood, as this may have more direct clinical relevance to patients receiving anti-TNF therapy.

If it were possible to study lung biopsy specimens from RA patients receiving anti-TNF therapy with active TB, it would also be important to see whether anti-TNF therapies reach sufficient concentration in the lung to block TNF bioactivity. However, as the rates of active TB during anti-TNF therapy are declining, it may be difficult to access this tissue.

12.2 INVESTIGATING THE EFFECT OF ANTI-TNF THERAPY ON THE IMMUNE RESPONSE TO TB IN VITRO

The role of TNF in the host response to TB is thought to mainly be activation of macrophages, apoptosis of infected macrophages and granuloma formation with the aim of controlling Mtb growth and limiting spread of disease.

However TNF blockade in Mtb-infected macrophages in vitro did not result in any significant change to mycobacterial growth in HV or RA MDM. I would also use this assay to assess whether addition of in vitro TNF limits mycobacterial growth and also to further study whether macrophages are apoptosing once infected.

As our laboratory group has previously described differences in regulatory T cell (Treg) function in patients responding to anti-TNF antibody therapy [86, 94, 151], I would also like to extend experiments in order to co-culture Mtb-infected macrophages with autologous Treg, in the context of anti-TNF therapy to see whether this increases mycobacterial growth further.

Monocyte-derived macrophages which have been differentiated in macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) are thought to have a more anti-inflammatory phenotype, compared to this differentiated in granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF), which are more likely to mimic alveolar macrophages [372-374]. Although macrophages are very plastic, particularly in response to stimulation, I would like to include further experiments using GM-CSF in differentiation media to see if they are able to control intra- and extracellular mycobacterial growth more tightly.

In addition, RA monocytes express increased levels of transmembrane TNF (tmTNF) [72], and our group have demonstrated that when anti-TNF antibody binds to tmTNF on monocytes, it leads to enhanced expression of tmTNF [152, 153], which subsequently drives expansion of regulatory T cells by binding to TNFR2 on their cell surface [153]. It is not clear whether this increase in tmTNF remains after differentiation from monocytes to macrophages and what impact this has on T cell binding and thus control of mycobacterial TB growth. In the first instance it would be interesting to compare whether expression of tmTNF on macrophages is comparable to that of monocytes in rheumatoid arthritis and healthy volunteers.

13 REFERENCES

- 1. Aggarwal BB: **Signalling pathways of the TNF superfamily: a double-edged sword**. *Nature reviews Immunology* 2003, **3**(9):745-756.
- 2. Wajant H, Pfizenmaier K, Scheurich P: **Tumor necrosis factor signaling**. *Cell Death Differ* 2003, **10**(1):45-65.
- 3. Gaur U, Aggarwal BB: **Regulation of proliferation, survival and apoptosis by members of the TNF superfamily**. *Biochemical pharmacology* 2003, **66**(8):1403-1408.
- 4. Miossec P: **An update on the cytokine network in rheumatoid arthritis**. *Current opinion in rheumatology* 2004, **16**(3):218-222.
- 5. Brzustewicz E, Bryl E: The role of cytokines in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis--Practical and potential application of cytokines as biomarkers and targets of personalized therapy. *Cytokine* 2015, 76(2):527-536.
- 6. Tracey D, Klareskog L, Sasso EH, Salfeld JG, Tak PP: **Tumor necrosis factor antagonist mechanisms of action: a comprehensive review**. *Pharmacology & therapeutics* 2008, **117**(2):244-279.
- 7. Ware CF: **Protein therapeutics targeted at the TNF superfamily**. *Adv Pharmacol* 2013, **66**:51-80.
- 8. Friedmann E, Hauben E, Maylandt K, Schleeger S, Vreugde S, Lichtenthaler SF, Kuhn PH, Stauffer D, Rovelli G, Martoglio B: **SPPL2a and SPPL2b promote intramembrane proteolysis of TNFalpha in activated dendritic cells to trigger IL-12 production**. *Nat Cell Biol* 2006, **8**(8):843-848.
- 9. Horiuchi T, Mitoma H, Harashima S, Tsukamoto H, Shimoda T: **Transmembrane TNF-alpha: structure, function and interaction with anti-TNF agents**. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 2010, **49**(7):1215-1228.
- 10. Faustman D, Davis M: **TNF receptor 2 pathway: drug target for autoimmune diseases**. *Nature reviews Drug discovery* 2010, **9**(6):482-493.
- 11. Ware CF: **Network communications: lymphotoxins, LIGHT, and TNF**. *Annual review of immunology* 2005, **23**:787-819.
- 12. Grell M, Douni E, Wajant H, Lohden M, Clauss M, Maxeiner B, Georgopoulos S, Lesslauer W, Kollias G, Pfizenmaier K *et al*: **The transmembrane form of tumor necrosis factor is the prime activating ligand of the 80 kDa tumor necrosis factor receptor**. *Cell* 1995, **83**(5):793-802.
- 13. Pimentel-Muinos FX, Seed B: Regulated commitment of TNF receptor signaling: a molecular switch for death or activation. *Immunity* 1999, 11(6):783-793.
- 14. Upadhyay V, Fu YX: Lymphotoxin signalling in immune homeostasis and the control of microorganisms. *Nature reviews Immunology* 2013, 13(4):270-279.
- 15. Bluml S, Scheinecker C, Smolen JS, Redlich K: **Targeting TNF receptors in rheumatoid arthritis**. *International immunology* 2012, **24**(5):275-281.
- 16. Sabio G, Davis RJ: **TNF and MAP kinase signalling pathways**. *Semin Immunol* 2014, **26**(3):237-245.

- 17. Simmonds RE, Foxwell BM: **Signalling, inflammation and arthritis: NFkappaB and its relevance to arthritis and inflammation**. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 2008, **47**(5):584-590.
- 18. Vallabhapurapu S, Karin M: Regulation and function of NF-kappaB transcription factors in the immune system. Annual review of immunology 2009, 27:693-733.
- 19. Rauert H, Wicovsky A, Muller N, Siegmund D, Spindler V, Waschke J, Kneitz C, Wajant H: **Membrane tumor necrosis factor (TNF) induces p100 processing via TNF receptor-2 (TNFR2)**. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 2010, **285**(10):7394-7404.
- 20. Engelmann H, Novick D, Wallach D: **Two tumor necrosis factor-binding** proteins purified from human urine. Evidence for immunological cross-reactivity with cell surface tumor necrosis factor receptors. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 1990, **265**(3):1531-1536.
- 21. Nophar Y, Kemper O, Brakebusch C, Englemann H, Zwang R, Aderka D, Holtmann H, Wallach D: Soluble forms of tumor necrosis factor receptors (TNF-Rs). The cDNA for the type I TNF-R, cloned using amino acid sequence data of its soluble form, encodes both the cell surface and a soluble form of the receptor. *EMBO J* 1990, **9**(10):3269-3278.
- 22. Aderka D, Engelmann H, Maor Y, Brakebusch C, Wallach D: **Stabilization of the bioactivity of tumor necrosis factor by its soluble receptors**. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 1992, **175**(2):323-329.
- 23. Eissner G, Kolch W, Scheurich P: Ligands working as receptors: reverse signaling by members of the TNF superfamily enhance the plasticity of the immune system. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* 2004, **15**(5):353-366.
- 24. Juhasz K, Buzas K, Duda E: Importance of reverse signaling of the TNF superfamily in immune regulation. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol* 2013, 9(4):335-348.
- 25. Moelants EA, Mortier A, Van Damme J, Proost P: **Regulation of TNF-alpha with a focus on rheumatoid arthritis**. *Immunol Cell Biol* 2013, **91**(6):393-401.
- 26. Medzhitov R, Horng T: **Transcriptional control of the inflammatory response**. *Nature reviews Immunology* 2009, **9**(10):692-703.
- 27. Murr R: Interplay between different epigenetic modifications and mechanisms. *Adv Genet* 2010, **70**:101-141.
- 28. Bates PW, Miyamoto S: **Expanded nuclear roles for IkappaBs**. *Sci STKE* 2004, **2004**(254):pe48.
- 29. Bak RO, Mikkelsen JG: **Regulation of cytokines by small RNAs during skin inflammation**. *J Biomed Sci* 2010, **17**:53.
- 30. Spriggs D, Imamura K, Rodriguez C, Horiguchi J, Kufe DW: **Induction of tumor necrosis factor expression and resistance in a human breast tumor cell line**. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1987, **84**(18):6563-6566.
- 31. von Maltzan K, Tan W, Pruett SB: **Investigation of the role of TNF-alpha converting enzyme (TACE) in the inhibition of cell surface and soluble TNF-alpha production by acute ethanol exposure**. *PLoS One* 2012, **7**(2):e29890.

- 32. Popa C, Netea MG, van Riel PL, van der Meer JW, Stalenhoef AF: **The role of TNF-alpha in chronic inflammatory conditions, intermediary metabolism, and cardiovascular risk**. *Journal of lipid research* 2007, **48**(4):751-762.
- 33. Sethi G, Sung B, Aggarwal BB: **TNF: a master switch for inflammation to cancer**. *Front Biosci* 2008, **13**:5094-5107.
- 34. Falvo JV, Tsytsykova AV, Goldfeld AE: **Transcriptional control of the TNF gene**. *Current directions in autoimmunity* 2010, **11**:27-60.
- 35. Symmons D, Turner G, Webb R, Asten P, Barrett E, Lunt M, Scott D, Silman A: **The prevalence of rheumatoid arthritis in the United Kingdom: new estimates for a new century**. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 2002, **41**(7):793-800.
- 36. Lee DM, Weinblatt ME: **Rheumatoid arthritis**. *Lancet* 2001, **358**(9285):903-911.
- 37. Pitzalis C: Pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis: from systemic autoimmunity to localised joint disease. *Drug discovery today* 2014, **19**(8):1152-1154.
- 38. Aletaha D, Neogi T, Silman AJ, Funovits J, Felson DT, Bingham CO, 3rd, Birnbaum NS, Burmester GR, Bykerk VP, Cohen MD *et al*: **2010 Rheumatoid arthritis classification criteria: an American College of Rheumatology/European League Against Rheumatism collaborative initiative**. *Arthritis Rheum* 2010, **62**(9):2569-2581.
- 39. Smolen JS, Steiner G: **Therapeutic strategies for rheumatoid arthritis**. *Nature reviews Drug discovery* 2003, **2**(6):473-488.
- 40. Gardener GC: **Inflammatory arthritis in the era of the biologics**. *Clinical and Applied Immunology Reviews* 2005, **5**(1):19-44
- 41. Feldmann M, Maini RN: **Anti-TNF alpha therapy of rheumatoid arthritis: what have we learned?** *Annual review of immunology* 2001, **19**:163-196.
- 42. Muller-Ladner U, Pap T, Gay RE, Neidhart M, Gay S: Mechanisms of disease: the molecular and cellular basis of joint destruction in rheumatoid arthritis. *Nature clinical practice Rheumatology* 2005, 1(2):102-110.
- 43. Pettipher ER, Higgs GA, Henderson B: Interleukin 1 induces leukocyte infiltration and cartilage proteoglycan degradation in the synovial joint. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1986, **83**(22):8749-8753.
- 44. Conigliaro P, Chimenti MS, Triggianese P, Sunzini F, Novelli L, Perricone C, Perricone R: **Autoantibodies in inflammatory arthritis**. *Autoimmunity reviews* 2016.
- 45. Kurko J, Besenyei T, Laki J, Glant TT, Mikecz K, Szekanecz Z: **Genetics of rheumatoid arthritis - a comprehensive review**. *Clinical reviews in allergy & immunology* 2013, **45**(2):170-179.
- 46. Silman AJ, Newman J, MacGregor AJ: **Cigarette smoking increases the risk** of rheumatoid arthritis. Results from a nationwide study of diseasediscordant twins. *Arthritis Rheum* 1996, **39**(5):732-735.
- 47. Klareskog L, Malmstrom V, Lundberg K, Padyukov L, Alfredsson L: Smoking, citrullination and genetic variability in the

immunopathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. Semin Immunol 2011, 23(2):92-98.

- 48. Ebringer A, Wilson C: **HLA molecules, bacteria and autoimmunity**. *Journal of medical microbiology* 2000, **49**(4):305-311.
- 49. McInnes IB, Schett G: **The Pathogenesis of Rheumatoid Arthritis**. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2011, **365**:2205-2219.
- 50. Lai NS, Lan JL, Yu CL, Lin RH: Antibody to Mycobacterium tuberculosis 65 kDa heat shock protein in patients with rheumatoid arthritis--a survey of antigen-specific antibody isotypes and subclasses in an endemic area of previous tuberculosis infection. Annals of the rheumatic diseases 1995, 54(3):225-228.
- 51. Lundberg K, Wegner N, Yucel-Lindberg T, Venables PJ: **Periodontitis in RA-the citrullinated enolase connection**. *Nature reviews Rheumatology* 2010, **6**(12):727-730.
- 52. Mikuls TR, Payne JB, Yu F, Thiele GM, Reynolds RJ, Cannon GW, Markt J, McGowan D, Kerr GS, Redman RS *et al*: **Periodontitis and Porphyromonas gingivalis in patients with rheumatoid arthritis**. *Arthritis Rheumatol* 2014, **66**(5):1090-1100.
- 53. Scher JU, Abramson SB: **The microbiome and rheumatoid arthritis**. *Nature reviews Rheumatology* 2011, **7**(10):569-578.
- 54. Scher JU, Littman DR, Abramson SB: Microbiome in Inflammatory Arthritis and Human Rheumatic Diseases. Arthritis Rheumatol 2016, 68(1):35-45.
- 55. Nell-Duxneuner V, Machold K, Stamm T, Eberl G, Heinzl H, Hoefler E, Smolen JS, Steiner G: **Autoantibody profiling in patients with very early rheumatoid arthritis: a follow-up study**. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases* 2010, **69**(1):169-174.
- 56. Harre U, Georgess D, Bang H, Bozec A, Axmann R, Ossipova E, Jakobsson PJ, Baum W, Nimmerjahn F, Szarka E *et al*: **Induction of osteoclastogenesis and bone loss by human autoantibodies against citrullinated vimentin**. *J Clin Invest* 2012, **122**(5):1791-1802.
- 57. Klareskog L, Catrina AI, Paget S: Rheumatoid arthritis. *Lancet* 2009, **373**(9664):659-672.
- 58. Gonzalez A, Icen M, Kremers HM, Crowson CS, Davis JM, 3rd, Therneau TM, Roger VL, Gabriel SE: **Mortality trends in rheumatoid arthritis: the role of rheumatoid factor**. *The Journal of rheumatology* 2008, **35**(6):1009-1014.
- 59. van Gaalen FA, van Aken J, Huizinga TW, Schreuder GM, Breedveld FC, Zanelli E, van Venrooij WJ, Verweij CL, Toes RE, de Vries RR: Association between HLA class II genes and autoantibodies to cyclic citrullinated peptides (CCPs) influences the severity of rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 2004, **50**(7):2113-2121.
- 60. Seitz M, Hunstein W: Enhanced prostanoid release from monocytes of patients with rheumatoid arthritis and active systemic lupus erythematosus. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases* 1985, **44**(7):438-445.
- 61. Burmester GR, Locher P, Koch B, Winchester RJ, Dimitriu-Bona A, Kalden JR, Mohr W: **The tissue architecture of synovial membranes in inflammatory and non-inflammatory joint diseases. I. The localization**

of the major synovial cell populations as detected by monoclonal reagents directed towards Ia and monocyte-macrophage antigens. *Rheumatol Int* 1983, **3**(4):173-181.

- 62. Swirski FK, Nahrendorf M, Etzrodt M, Wildgruber M, Cortez-Retamozo V, Panizzi P, Figueiredo JL, Kohler RH, Chudnovskiy A, Waterman P *et al*: **Identification of splenic reservoir monocytes and their deployment to inflammatory sites**. *Science* 2009, **325**(5940):612-616.
- 63. Laria A, Lurati A, Marrazza M, Mazzocchi D, Re KA, Scarpellini M: **The macrophages in rheumatic diseases**. *J Inflamm Res* 2016, **9**:1-11.
- 64. van der Heijde DM, van 't Hof MA, van Riel PL, Theunisse LA, Lubberts EW, van Leeuwen MA, van Rijswijk MH, van de Putte LB: **Judging disease** activity in clinical practice in rheumatoid arthritis: first step in the development of a disease activity score. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases* 1990, **49**(11):916-920.
- 65. Mulherin D, Fitzgerald O, Bresnihan B: **Synovial tissue macrophage populations and articular damage in rheumatoid arthritis**. *Arthritis Rheum* 1996, **39**(1):115-124.
- 66. Liote F, Boval-Boizard B, Weill D, Kuntz D, Wautier JL: **Blood monocyte** activation in rheumatoid arthritis: increased monocyte adhesiveness, integrin expression, and cytokine release. *Clin Exp Immunol* 1996, 106(1):13-19.
- 67. Kawanaka N, Yamamura M, Aita T, Morita Y, Okamoto A, Kawashima M, Iwahashi M, Ueno A, Ohmoto Y, Makino H: **CD14+,CD16+ blood monocytes and joint inflammation in rheumatoid arthritis**. *Arthritis Rheum* 2002, **46**(10):2578-2586.
- 68. Li J, Hsu HC, Mountz JD: **Managing macrophages in rheumatoid arthritis by reform or removal**. *Current rheumatology reports* 2012, **14**(5):445-454.
- 69. Cook AD, Braine EL, Campbell IK, Rich MJ, Hamilton JA: Blockade of collagen-induced arthritis post-onset by antibody to granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF): requirement for GM-CSF in the effector phase of disease. *Arthritis research* 2001, **3**(5):293-298.
- 70. Roberts CA, Dickinson AK, Taams LS: **The Interplay Between Monocytes/Macrophages and CD4(+) T Cell Subsets in Rheumatoid Arthritis**. *Frontiers in immunology* 2015, **6**:571.
- 71. Torsteinsdottir I, Arvidson NG, Hallgren R, Hakansson L: Monocyte activation in rheumatoid arthritis (RA): increased integrin, Fc gamma and complement receptor expression and the effect of glucocorticoids. *Clin Exp Immunol* 1999, **115**(3):554-560.
- 72. Meusch U, Rossol M, Baerwald C, Hauschildt S, Wagner U: Outside-toinside signaling through transmembrane tumor necrosis factor reverses pathologic interleukin-1beta production and deficient apoptosis of rheumatoid arthritis monocytes. *Arthritis Rheum* 2009, 60(9):2612-2621.
- 73. Choy E: Understanding the dynamics: pathways involved in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 2012, **51** Suppl 5:v3-11.

- 74. Smolen JS, Aletaha D, Koeller M, Weisman MH, Emery P: **New therapies for treatment of rheumatoid arthritis**. *Lancet* 2007, **370**(9602):1861-1874.
- 75. Mellado M, Martinez-Munoz L, Cascio G, Lucas P, Pablos JL, Rodriguez-Frade JM: **T Cell Migration in Rheumatoid Arthritis**. *Frontiers in immunology* 2015, **6**:384.
- 76. Toh ML, Miossec P: **The role of T cells in rheumatoid arthritis: new subsets and new targets**. *Current opinion in rheumatology* 2007, **19**(3):284-288.
- 77. Cope AP: **T cells in rheumatoid arthritis**. *Arthritis research & therapy* 2008, **10 Suppl 1**:S1.
- 78. Prakken B, Ellen W, van Wijk F: **Editorial: Quality or quantity? Unraveling the role of Treg cells in rheumatoid arthritis**. *Arthritis Rheum* 2013, **65**(3):552-554.
- 79. Scheinecker C, Bonelli M, Smolen JS: **Pathogenetic aspects of systemic lupus erythematosus with an emphasis on regulatory T cells**. *Journal of autoimmunity* 2010, **35**(3):269-275.
- 80. Free ME, Bunch DO, McGregor JA, Jones BE, Berg EA, Hogan SL, Hu Y, Preston GA, Jennette JC, Falk RJ *et al*: **Patients with antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-associated vasculitis have defective Treg cell function exacerbated by the presence of a suppression-resistant effector cell population**. *Arthritis Rheum* 2013, **65**(7):1922-1933.
- 81. Wing K, Sakaguchi S: **Regulatory T cells exert checks and balances on self tolerance and autoimmunity**. *Nature immunology* 2010, **11**(1):7-13.
- 82. Jiang S: **Regulatory T cells: From bench to bedside**. International Immunopharmacology 2009, **9**(5):515-517.
- 83. Sansom DM, Walker LS: **The role of CD28 and cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4) in regulatory T-cell biology**. *Immunological reviews* 2006, **212**:131-148.
- 84. Okamura T, Fujio K, Sumitomo S, Yamamoto K: **Roles of LAG3 and EGR2 in** regulatory T cells. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases* 2012, **71 Suppl 2**:i96-100.
- 85. Rapetti L, Chavele KM, Evans CM, Ehrenstein MR: **B cell resistance to Fasmediated apoptosis contributes to their ineffective control by regulatory T cells in rheumatoid arthritis**. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases* 2013.
- 86. Ehrenstein MR, Evans JG, Singh A, Moore S, Warnes G, Isenberg DA, Mauri C: Compromised Function of Regulatory T Cells in Rheumatoid Arthritis and Reversal by Anti-TNFα Therapy. Journal of Experimental Medicine 2004, 200(3):277-285.
- 87. Flores-Borja F, Jury EC, Mauri C, Ehrenstein MR: **Defects in CTLA-4 are associated with abnormal regulatory T cell function in rheumatoid arthritis**. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2008, **105**(49):19396-19401.
- 88. Tivol EA, Borriello F, Schweitzer AN, Lynch WP, Bluestone JA, Sharpe AH: Loss of CTLA-4 leads to massive lymphoproliferation and fatal multiorgan tissue destruction, revealing a critical negative regulatory role of CTLA-4. *Immunity* 1995, **3**(5):541-547.

- 89. Sarkar S, Fox DA: **Regulatory T cell defects in rheumatoid arthritis**. *Arthritis Rheum* 2007, **56**(3):710-713.
- 90. Miyara M, Ito Y, Sakaguchi S: **T-cell therapies for autoimmune rheumatic diseases**. *Nature reviews Rheumatology* 2014.
- 91. Moran EM, Mullan R, McCormick J, Connolly M, Sullivan O, Fitzgerald O, Bresnihan B, Veale DJ, Fearon U: **Human rheumatoid arthritis tissue production of IL-17A drives matrix and cartilage degradation: synergy with tumour necrosis factor-alpha, Oncostatin M and response to biologic therapies.** *Arthritis research & therapy* 2009, **11**(4):R113.
- 92. Bettelli E, Carrier Y, Gao W, Korn T, Strom TB, Oukka M, Weiner HL, Kuchroo VK: Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells. *Nature* 2006, 441(7090):235-238.
- 93. Koenen HJ, Smeets RL, Vink PM, van Rijssen E, Boots AM, Joosten I: **Human** CD25highFoxp3pos regulatory T cells differentiate into IL-17producing cells. *Blood* 2008, 112(6):2340-2352.
- 94. McGovern JL, Nguyen DX, Notley CA, Mauri C, Isenberg DA, Ehrenstein MR: Th17 cells are restrained by Treg cells via the inhibition of interleukin-6 in patients with rheumatoid arthritis responding to antitumor necrosis factor antibody therapy. *Arthritis Rheum* 2012, 64(10):3129-3138.
- 95. Feldmann M, Brennan FM, Maini RN: **Rheumatoid arthritis**. *Cell* 1996, **85**(3):307-310.
- 96. Bose F, Raeli L, Garutti C, Frigerio E, Cozzi A, Crimi M, Caprioli F, Scavelli R, Altomare G, Geginat J *et al*: **Dual role of anti-TNF therapy: enhancement of TCR-mediated T cell activation in peripheral blood and inhibition of inflammation in target tissues**. *Clin Immunol* 2011, **139**(2):164-176.
- 97. Saxne T PJM, Heinegard D, Talal N, Wollheim FA.: Detection of tumor necrosis factor alpha but not tumor necrosis factor beta in rheumatoid arthritis synovial fluid and serum. *Arthritis and Rheumatism* 1988, 31(8):1041-1045.
- 98. Di Giovine FS, Nuki G, Duff GW: **Tumour necrosis factor in synovial exudates**. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases* 1988, **47**(9):768-772.
- 99. Brennan FM, Chantry D, Jackson A, Maini R, Feldmann M: Inhibitory effect of TNF alpha antibodies on synovial cell interleukin-1 production in rheumatoid arthritis. *Lancet* 1989, **2**(8657):244-247.
- 100. Alsalameh S, Winter K, Al-Ward R, Wendler J, Kalden JR, Kinne RW: Distribution of TNF-alpha, TNF-R55 and TNF-R75 in the rheumatoid synovial membrane: TNF receptors are localized preferentially in the lining layer; TNF-alpha is distributed mainly in the vicinity of TNF receptors in the deeper layers. Scandinavian journal of immunology 1999, 49(3):278-285.
- 101. Steiner G, Studnicka-Benke A, Witzmann G, Hofler E, Smolen J: Soluble receptors for tumor necrosis factor and interleukin-2 in serum and synovial fluid of patients with rheumatoid arthritis, reactive arthritis and osteoarthritis. *The Journal of rheumatology* 1995, **22**(3):406-412.
- 102. Tetta C, Camussi G, Modena V, Di Vittorio C, Baglioni C: **Tumour necrosis** factor in serum and synovial fluid of patients with active and severe

rheumatoid arthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases 1990, **49**(9):665-667.

- 103. Beckham JC, Caldwell DS, Peterson BL, Pippen AM, Currie MS, Keefe FJ, Weinberg JB: Disease severity in rheumatoid arthritis: relationships of plasma tumor necrosis factor-alpha, soluble interleukin 2-receptor, soluble CD4/CD8 ratio, neopterin, and fibrin D-dimer to traditional severity and functional measures. *Journal of clinical immunology* 1992, 12(5):353-361.
- 104. Fong KY, Boey ML, Koh WH, Feng PH: **Cytokine concentrations in the** synovial fluid and plasma of rheumatoid arthritis patients: correlation with bony erosions. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* 1994, **12**(1):55-58.
- 105. Braun T, Zwerina J: Positive regulators of osteoclastogenesis and bone resorption in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis research & therapy* 2011, 13(4):235.
- 106. Fox DA: Cytokine blockade as a new strategy to treat rheumatoid arthritis: inhibition of tumor necrosis factor. Archives of internal medicine 2000, 160(4):437-444.
- 107. McInnes IB, Buckley CD, Isaacs JD: **Cytokines in rheumatoid arthritis shaping the immunological landscape**. *Nature reviews Rheumatology* 2016, **12**(1):63-68.
- Keffer J, Probert L, Cazlaris H, Georgopoulos S, Kaslaris E, Kioussis D, Kollias G: Transgenic mice expressing human tumour necrosis factor: a predictive genetic model of arthritis. *EMBO J* 1991, **10**(13):4025-4031.
- 109. Ackermann C, Kavanaugh A: **Tumor necrosis factor as a therapeutic target of rheumatologic disease**. *Expert Opin Ther Targets* 2007, **11**(11):1369-1384.
- 110. Brand DD, Latham KA, Rosloniec EF: **Collagen-induced arthritis**. *Nat Protoc* 2007, **2**(5):1269-1275.
- 111. Cooper WO, Fava RA, Gates CA, Cremer MA, Townes AS: Acceleration of onset of collagen-induced arthritis by intra-articular injection of tumour necrosis factor or transforming growth factor-beta. *Clin Exp Immunol* 1992, **89**(2):244-250.
- 112. Thorbecke GJ, Shah R, Leu CH, Kuruvilla AP, Hardison AM, Palladino MA: Involvement of endogenous tumor necrosis factor alpha and transforming growth factor beta during induction of collagen type II arthritis in mice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 1992, 89(16):7375-7379.
- 113. Williams RO, Feldmann M, Maini RN: Anti-tumor necrosis factor ameliorates joint disease in murine collagen-induced arthritis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 1992, 89(20):9784-9788.
- 114. Joosten LA, Helsen MM, van de Loo FA, van den Berg WB: Anticytokine treatment of established type II collagen-induced arthritis in DBA/1 mice: a comparative study using anti-TNFalpha, anti-IL-1alpha/beta and IL-1Ra. *Arthritis Rheum* 2008, **58**(2 Suppl):S110-122.
- 115. Kollias G: **TNF pathophysiology in murine models of chronic inflammation and autoimmunity**. *Seminars in arthritis and rheumatism* 2005, **34**(5 Suppl1):3-6.

- 116. Cope AP, Liblau RS, Yang XD, Congia M, Laudanna C, Schreiber RD, Probert L, Kollias G, McDevitt HO: **Chronic tumor necrosis factor alters T cell responses by attenuating T cell receptor signaling**. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 1997, **185**(9):1573-1584.
- 117. Clark J, Vagenas P, Panesar M, Cope AP: What does tumour necrosis factor excess do to the immune system long term? Annals of the rheumatic diseases 2005, 64 Suppl 4:iv70-76.
- 118. Horton SC, Walsh CA, Emery P: Established rheumatoid arthritis: rationale for best practice: physicians' perspective of how to realise tight control in clinical practice. Best practice & research Clinical rheumatology 2011, 25(4):509-521.
- 119. Kean WF, Forestier F, Kassam Y, Buchanan WW, Rooney PJ: **The history of gold therapy in rheumatoid disease**. *Seminars in arthritis and rheumatism* 1985, **14**(3):180-186.
- 120. Wessels JAM, Huizinga TWJ, Guchelaar H-J: **Recent insights in the pharmacological actions of methotrexate in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis**. *Rheumatology* 2008, **47**(249-255).
- 121. Spurlock CF, 3rd, Aune ZT, Tossberg JT, Collins PL, Aune JP, Huston JW, 3rd, Crooke PS, Olsen NJ, Aune TM: **Increased sensitivity to apoptosis induced by methotrexate is mediated by JNK**. *Arthritis Rheum* 2011, **63**(9):2606-2616.
- 122. Smolen JS, Landewe R, Breedveld FC, Buch M, Burmester G, Dougados M, Emery P, Gaujoux-Viala C, Gossec L, Nam J *et al*: **EULAR recommendations for the management of rheumatoid arthritis with synthetic and biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs: 2013 update**. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases* 2014, **73**(3):492-509.
- 123. Singh JA, Saag KG, Bridges SL, Jr., Akl EA, Bannuru RR, Sullivan MC, Vaysbrot E, McNaughton C, Osani M, Shmerling RH *et al*: **2015 American College of Rheumatology Guideline for the Treatment of Rheumatoid Arthritis**. *Arthritis Rheumatol* 2016, **68**(1):1-26.
- 124. Uherek C EA, Daelken B, Becker C, Jonuleit H, Wallmeier H, Aigner S, Czeloth N, Holzkaemper T, Kroemer W, Niemann G, Zuber C, Ershova O, Sotnikova T, Orlov-Morozov A, Wartenberg-Demand A, Osterroth F.: **The novel regulatory T cell (Treg) agonistic monoclonal antibody (mAb) tregalizumab (BT-061): further characterization of mechanism of action, epitope binding, and clinical effects in patients with rheumatoid arthritis.** <u>http://www.biotest.de</u> [online] 2011.
- 125. **Deal watch: Boosting TRegs to target autoimmune disease**. *Nature reviews Drug discovery* 2011, **10**(8):566.
- 126. Weinblatt ME, Kavanaugh A, Genovese MC, Musser TK, Grossbard EB, Magilavy DB: **An oral spleen tyrosine kinase (Syk) inhibitor for rheumatoid arthritis**. *The New England journal of medicine* 2010, **363**(14):1303-1312.
- 127. Riese RJ, Krishnaswami S, Kremer J: **Inhibition of JAK kinases in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: scientific rationale and clinical outcomes**. *Best practice & research Clinical rheumatology* 2010, **24**(4):513-526.
- 128. Fleischmann R: Novel small-molecular therapeutics for rheumatoid arthritis. *Current opinion in rheumatology* 2012.

- 129. Kellner H: **Targeting interleukin-17 in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis: rationale and clinical potential**. *Therapeutic advances in musculoskeletal disease* 2013, **5**(3):141-152.
- 130. Tak PP, Thurlings RM, Rossier C, Nestorov I, Dimic A, Mircetic V, Rischmueller M, Nasonov E, Shmidt E, Emery P *et al*: Atacicept in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: results of a multicenter, phase Ib, double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-escalating, single- and repeated-dose study. *Arthritis Rheum* 2008, **58**(1):61-72.
- 131. Cohen SB, Cheng TT, Chindalore V, Damjanov N, Burgos-Vargas R, Delora P, Zimany K, Travers H, Caulfield JP: **Evaluation of the efficacy and safety of pamapimod, a p38 MAP kinase inhibitor, in a double-blind, methotrexate-controlled study of patients with active rheumatoid arthritis**. *Arthritis Rheum* 2009, **60**(2):335-344.
- 132. Emery P, Breedveld FC, Hall S, Durez P, Chang DJ, Robertson D, Singh A, Pedersen RD, Koenig AS, Freundlich B: **Comparison of methotrexate monotherapy with a combination of methotrexate and etanercept in active, early, moderate to severe rheumatoid arthritis (COMET): a randomised, double-blind, parallel treatment trial**. *Lancet* 2008, **372**(9636):375-382.
- 133. Breedveld FC, Weisman MH, Kavanaugh AF, Cohen SB, Pavelka K, van Vollenhoven R, Sharp J, Perez JL, Spencer-Green GT: **The PREMIER study**: **A multicenter, randomized, double-blind clinical trial of combination therapy with adalimumab plus methotrexate versus methotrexate alone or adalimumab alone in patients with early, aggressive rheumatoid arthritis who had not had previous methotrexate treatment**. *Arthritis Rheum* 2006, **54**(1):26-37.
- 134. Bathon JM, Martin RW, Fleischmann RM, Tesser JR, Schiff MH, Keystone EC, Genovese MC, Wasko MC, Moreland LW, Weaver AL *et al*: **A comparison of etanercept and methotrexate in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis**. *The New England journal of medicine* 2000, **343**(22):1586-1593.
- 135. Papp K: Clinical development of onercept, a tumor necrosis factor binding protein, in psoriasis. *Current medical research and opinion* 2010, 26(10):2287-2300.
- 136. Bradley JR: **TNF-mediated inflammatory disease**. *J Pathol* 2008, **214**(2):149-160.
- 137. Henry AI, Gong, H. and Nesbitt, A.M.: Mapping the certolizumab pegol epitope on TNF and comparison with infliximab, adalimumab and etanercept. *Journal of translational medicine* 2011, 9 (suppl 2):43.
- 138. Mukai Y, Nakamura T, Yoshikawa M, Yoshioka Y, Tsunoda S, Nakagawa S, Yamagata Y, Tsutsumi Y: **Solution of the structure of the TNF-TNFR2 complex**. *Sci Signal* 2010, **3**(148):ra83.
- 139. Hu S, Liang S, Guo H, Zhang D, Li H, Wang X, Yang W, Qian W, Hou S, Wang H et al: Comparison of the inhibition mechanisms of adalimumab and infliximab in treating tumor necrosis factor alpha-associated diseases from a molecular view. The Journal of biological chemistry 2013, 288(38):27059-27067.
- 140. Thalayasingam N, Isaacs JD: **Anti-TNF therapy**. *Best practice & research Clinical rheumatology* 2011, **25**(4):549-567.

- 141. ten Hove T, van Montfrans C, Peppelenbosch MP, van Deventer SJ: Infliximab treatment induces apoptosis of lamina propria T lymphocytes in Crohn's disease. *Gut* 2002, **50**(2):206-211.
- 142. Lugering A, Schmidt M, Lugering N, Pauels HG, Domschke W, Kucharzik T: Infliximab induces apoptosis in monocytes from patients with chronic active Crohn's disease by using a caspase-dependent pathway. *Gastroenterology* 2001, **121**(5):1145-1157.
- 143. Nesbitt A, Fossati G, Bergin M, Stephens P, Stephens S, Foulkes R, Brown D, Robinson M, Bourne T: **Mechanism of action of certolizumab pegol (CDP870): in vitro comparison with other anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha agents**. *Inflammatory bowel diseases* 2007, **13**(11):1323-1332.
- 144. Catrina AI, Trollmo C, af Klint E, Engstrom M, Lampa J, Hermansson Y, Klareskog L, Ulfgren AK: Evidence that anti-tumor necrosis factor therapy with both etanercept and infliximab induces apoptosis in macrophages, but not lymphocytes, in rheumatoid arthritis joints: extended report. *Arthritis Rheum* 2005, **52**(1):61-72.
- 145. Taylor PC, Peters AM, Paleolog E, Chapman PT, Elliott MJ, McCloskey R, Feldmann M, Maini RN: **Reduction of chemokine levels and leukocyte traffic to joints by tumor necrosis factor alpha blockade in patients with rheumatoid arthritis**. *Arthritis Rheum* 2000, **43**(1):38-47.
- 146. Davignon JL, Hayder M, Baron M, Boyer JF, Constantin A, Apparailly F, Poupot R, Cantagrel A: **Targeting monocytes/macrophages in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis**. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 2013, **52**(4):590-598.
- 147. Scallon BJ, Moore MA, Trinh H, Knight DM, Ghrayeb J: Chimeric anti-TNFalpha monoclonal antibody cA2 binds recombinant transmembrane TNF-alpha and activates immune effector functions. *Cytokine* 1995, 7(3):251-259.
- 148. Aravena O, Pesce B, Soto L, Orrego N, Sabugo F, Wurmann P, Molina MC, Alfaro J, Cuchacovich M, Aguillon JC *et al*: **Anti-TNF therapy in patients with rheumatoid arthritis decreases Th1 and Th17 cell populations and expands IFN-gamma-producing NK cell and regulatory T cell subsets**. *Immunobiology* 2011, **216**(12):1256-1263.
- 149. Aerts NE, Ebo DG, Bridts CH, Stevens WJ, De Clerck LS: **T cell signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) 4 and 6 are affected by adalimumab therapy in rheumatoid arthritis**. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* 2010, **28**(2):208-214.
- 150. Bryl E, Vallejo AN, Matteson EL, Witkowski JM, Weyand CM, Goronzy JJ: Modulation of CD28 expression with anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha therapy in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 2005, **52**(10):2996-3003.
- 151. Nadkarni S, Mauri C, Ehrenstein MR: Anti-TNFa therapy induces a distinct regulatory T cell population in patients with rheumatoid arthritis via TGF-B. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 2007, **204**(1):33-39.
- 152. Coulthard LR, Geiler J, Mathews RJ, Church LD, Dickie LJ, Cooper DL, Wong C, Savic S, Bryer D, Buch MH *et al*: **Differential effects of infliximab on absolute circulating blood leucocyte counts of innate immune cells in**

early and late rheumatoid arthritis patients. *Clin Exp Immunol* 2012, **170**(1):36-46.

- 153. Nguyen DX, Ehrenstein MR: Anti-TNF drives regulatory T cell expansion by paradoxically promoting membrane TNF-TNF-RII binding in rheumatoid arthritis. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 2016, 213(7):1241-1253.
- 154. Wehrens EJ, Mijnheer G, Duurland CL, Klein M, Meerding J, van Loosdregt J, de Jager W, Sawitzki B, Coffer PJ, Vastert B *et al*: **Functional human regulatory T cells fail to control autoimmune inflammation due to PKB/c-akt hyperactivation in effector cells**. *Blood* 2011, **118**(13):3538-3548.
- 155. Cheng J, Phong B, Wilson DC, Hirsch R, Kane LP: Akt fine-tunes NFkappaB-dependent gene expression during T cell activation. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 2011, **286**(41):36076-36085.
- 156. Wehrens EJ, Vastert SJ, Mijnheer G, Meerding J, Klein M, Wulffraat NM, Prakken BJ, van Wijk F: Anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha targets protein kinase B/c-Akt-induced resistance of effector cells to suppression in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 2013, 65(12):3279-3284.
- 157. Szalay B, Vasarhelyi B, Cseh A, Tulassay T, Deak M, Kovacs L, Balog A: **The impact of conventional DMARD and biological therapies on CD4+ cell subsets in rheumatoid arthritis: a follow-up study**. *Clin Rheumatol* 2014, **33**(2):175-185.
- 158. Edrees AF, Misra SN, Abdou NI: Anti-tumor necrosis factor (TNF) therapy in rheumatoid arthritis: correlation of TNF-alpha serum level with clinical response and benefit from changing dose or frequency of infliximab infusions. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* 2005, **23**(4):469-474.
- 159. Ohshima S, Saeki Y, Mima T, Sasai M, Nishioka K, Ishida H, Shimizu M, Suemura M, McCloskey R, Kishimoto T: Long-term follow-up of the changes in circulating cytokines, soluble cytokine receptors, and white blood cell subset counts in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA) after monoclonal anti-TNF alpha antibody therapy. *Journal of clinical immunology* 1999, **19**(5):305-313.
- 160. Ulfgren AK, Andersson U, Engstrom M, Klareskog L, Maini RN, Taylor PC: Systemic anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha therapy in rheumatoid arthritis down-regulates synovial tumor necrosis factor alpha synthesis. *Arthritis Rheum* 2000, **43**(11):2391-2396.
- 161. Barrera P, Joosten LA, den Broeder AA, van de Putte LB, van Riel PL, van den Berg WB: Effects of treatment with a fully human anti-tumour necrosis factor alpha monoclonal antibody on the local and systemic homeostasis of interleukin 1 and TNFalpha in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases* 2001, **60**(7):660-669.
- 162. Charles P, Elliott MJ, Davis D, Potter A, Kalden JR, Antoni C, Breedveld FC, Smolen JS, Eberl G, deWoody K *et al*: **Regulation of cytokines, cytokine inhibitors, and acute-phase proteins following anti-TNF-alpha therapy in rheumatoid arthritis**. *J Immunol* 1999, **163**(3):1521-1528.
- 163. Schotte H, Schluter B, Willeke P, Mickholz E, Schorat MA, Domschke W, Gaubitz M: Long-term treatment with etanercept significantly reduces

the number of proinflammatory cytokine-secreting peripheral blood mononuclear cells in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology* (*Oxford*) 2004, **43**(8):960-964.

- 164. Paleolog EM: **Angiogenesis: a critical process in the pathogenesis of RA-**-a role for VEGF? *British journal of rheumatology* 1996, **35**(10):917-919.
- 165. Shu Q, Amin MA, Ruth JH, Campbell PL, Koch AE: **Suppression of endothelial cell activity by inhibition of TNFalpha**. *Arthritis research & therapy* 2012, **14**(2):R88.
- 166. Batliwalla FM, Li W, Ritchlin CT, Xiao X, Brenner M, Laragione T, Shao T, Durham R, Kemshetti S, Schwarz E *et al*: **Microarray analyses of peripheral blood cells identifies unique gene expression signature in psoriatic arthritis**. *Mol Med* 2005, **11**(1-12):21-29.
- 167. Nzeusseu Toukap A, Galant C, Theate I, Maudoux AL, Lories RJ, Houssiau FA, Lauwerys BR: **Identification of distinct gene expression profiles in the synovium of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus**. *Arthritis Rheum* 2007, **56**(5):1579-1588.
- 168. van der Pouw Kraan TC, van Gaalen FA, Huizinga TW, Pieterman E, Breedveld FC, Verweij CL: **Discovery of distinctive gene expression profiles in rheumatoid synovium using cDNA microarray technology: evidence for the existence of multiple pathways of tissue destruction and repair**. *Genes and immunity* 2003, **4**(3):187-196.
- 169. van Baarsen LG, Wijbrandts CA, Timmer TC, van der Pouw Kraan TC, Tak PP, Verweij CL: **Synovial tissue heterogeneity in rheumatoid arthritis in relation to disease activity and biomarkers in peripheral blood**. *Arthritis Rheum* 2010, **62**(6):1602-1607.
- 170. Stuhlmuller B, Haupl T, Hernandez MM, Grutzkau A, Kuban RJ, Tandon N, Voss JW, Salfeld J, Kinne RW, Burmester GR: **CD11c as a transcriptional biomarker to predict response to anti-TNF monotherapy with adalimumab in patients with rheumatoid arthritis**. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2010, **87**(3):311-321.
- 171. Lequerre T, Gauthier-Jauneau AC, Bansard C, Derambure C, Hiron M, Vittecoq O, Daveau M, Mejjad O, Daragon A, Tron F *et al*: **Gene profiling in white blood cells predicts infliximab responsiveness in rheumatoid arthritis**. *Arthritis research & therapy* 2006, **8**(4):R105.
- 172. van Baarsen LG, Wijbrandts CA, Gerlag DM, Rustenburg F, van der Pouw Kraan TC, Dijkmans BA, Tak PP, Verweij CL: **Pharmacogenomics of infliximab treatment using peripheral blood cells of patients with rheumatoid arthritis**. *Genes and immunity* 2010, **11**(8):622-629.
- 173. Mesko B, Poliska S, Vancsa A, Szekanecz Z, Palatka K, Hollo Z, Horvath A, Steiner L, Zahuczky G, Podani J *et al*: **Peripheral blood derived gene panels predict response to infliximab in rheumatoid arthritis and Crohn's disease**. *Genome Med* 2013, **5**(6):59.
- 174. Koczan D, Drynda S, Hecker M, Drynda A, Guthke R, Kekow J, Thiesen HJ: Molecular discrimination of responders and nonresponders to anti-TNF alpha therapy in rheumatoid arthritis by etanercept. *Arthritis research & therapy* 2008, **10**(3):R50.
- 175. Lindberg J, af Klint E, Catrina AI, Nilsson P, Klareskog L, Ulfgren AK, Lundeberg J: Effect of infliximab on mRNA expression profiles in

synovial tissue of rheumatoid arthritis patients. *Arthritis research & therapy* 2006, **8**(6):R179.

- 176. van der Pouw Kraan TC, Wijbrandts CA, van Baarsen LG, Rustenburg F, Baggen JM, Verweij CL, Tak PP: **Responsiveness to anti-tumour necrosis factor alpha therapy is related to pre-treatment tissue inflammation levels in rheumatoid arthritis patients**. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases* 2008, **67**(4):563-566.
- 177. Toonen EJ, Gilissen C, Franke B, Kievit W, Eijsbouts AM, den Broeder AA, van Reijmersdal SV, Veltman JA, Scheffer H, Radstake TR *et al*: **Validation study of existing gene expression signatures for anti-TNF treatment in patients with rheumatoid arthritis**. *PLoS One* 2012, **7**(3):e33199.
- 178. Badot V, Galant C, Nzeusseu Toukap A, Theate I, Maudoux AL, Van den Eynde BJ, Durez P, Houssiau FA, Lauwerys BR: Gene expression profiling in the synovium identifies a predictive signature of absence of response to adalimumab therapy in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis research & therapy 2009, 11(2):R57.
- 179. van Baarsen LG, Wijbrandts CA, Rustenburg F, Cantaert T, van der Pouw Kraan TC, Baeten DL, Dijkmans BA, Tak PP, Verweij CL: **Regulation of IFN response gene activity during infliximab treatment in rheumatoid arthritis is associated with clinical response to treatment**. *Arthritis research & therapy* 2010, **12**(1):R11.
- 180. Lipsky PE, van der Heijde DM, St Clair EW, Furst DE, Breedveld FC, Kalden JR, Smolen JS, Weisman M, Emery P, Feldmann M *et al*: Infliximab and methotrexate in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Anti-Tumor Necrosis Factor Trial in Rheumatoid Arthritis with Concomitant Therapy Study Group. *The New England journal of medicine* 2000, 343(22):1594-1602.
- 181. Weinblatt ME, Kremer JM, Bankhurst AD, Bulpitt KJ, Fleischmann RM, Fox RI, Jackson CG, Lange M, Burge DJ: A trial of etanercept, a recombinant tumor necrosis factor receptor:Fc fusion protein, in patients with rheumatoid arthritis receiving methotrexate. *The New England journal of medicine* 1999, **340**(4):253-259.
- 182. Maini R, St Clair EW, Breedveld F, Furst D, Kalden J, Weisman M, Smolen J, Emery P, Harriman G, Feldmann M *et al*: Infliximab (chimeric antitumour necrosis factor alpha monoclonal antibody) versus placebo in rheumatoid arthritis patients receiving concomitant methotrexate: a randomised phase III trial. ATTRACT Study Group. *Lancet* 1999, 354(9194):1932-1939.
- 183. Keane J, Gershon S, Wise RP, Mirabile-Levens E, Kasznica J, Schwieterman WD, Siegel JN, Braun MM: Tuberculosis Associated with Infliximab, a tumor necrosis factor alpha neutralising agent. New England Journal of Medicine 2001, 345(15):1098-1104.
- 184. Mohan N, Edwards ET, Cupps TR, Oliverio PJ, Sandberg G, Crayton H, Richert JR, Siegel JN: **Demyelination occurring during anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha therapy for inflammatory arthritides**. *Arthritis Rheum* 2001, **44**(12):2862-2869.
- 185. Smith KJ, Skelton HG: Rapid onset of cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma in patients with rheumatoid arthritis after starting tumor

necrosis factor alpha receptor IgG1-Fc fusion complex therapy. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology* 2001, **45**(6):953-956.

- 186. Dixon WG, Hyrich KL, Watson KD, Lunt M, Galloway J, Ustianowski A, Consortium. BCC, Symmons DPM, Register. obotBB: Drug-specific risk of tuberculosis in patients with rheumatoid arthritis treated with anti-TNF therapy: results from the British Society for Rheumatology Biologics Register (BSRBR). Annals of Rheumatic Disease 2010, 69:522-528.
- 187. Tubach F, Salmon D, Ravaud P, Allanore Y, Goupille P, Breban M, Pallot-Prades B, Pouplin S, Sacchi A, Chichemanian RM *et al*: **Risk of tuberculosis is higher with anti-tumor necrosis factor monoclonal antibody therapy than with soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor therapy: The three-year prospective French Research Axed on Tolerance of Biotherapies registry**. *Arthritis Rheum* 2009, **60**(7):1884-1894.
- 188. Gomez-Reino JJ, Carmona L, Valverde VR, Mola EM, Montero MD: **Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with tumor necrosis factor inhibitors may predispose to significant increase in tuberculosis risk: a multicenter active-surveillance report.** Arthritis Rheum 2003, **48**(8):2122-2127.
- 189. Askling J, Fored CM, Brandt L, Baecklund E, Bertilsson L, Coster L, Geborek P, Jacobsson LT, Lindblad S, Lysholm J *et al*: **Risk and case characteristics of tuberculosis in rheumatoid arthritis associated with tumor necrosis factor antagonists in Sweden**. *Arthritis Rheum* 2005, **52**(7):1986-1992.
- 190. Wallis RS, Broder MS, Wong JY, Hanson ME, Beenhouwer DO: Granulomatous infectious diseases associated with tumour necrosis factor antagonists. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 2004, **38**(9):1261-1265.
- 191. Arkema EV, Jonsson J, Baecklund E, Bruchfeld J, Feltelius N, Askling J: Are patients with rheumatoid arthritis still at an increased risk of tuberculosis and what is the role of biological treatments? *Annals of the rheumatic diseases* 2015, **74**(6):1212-1217.
- 192. Brode SK, Jamieson FB, Ng R, Campitelli MA, Kwong JC, Paterson JM, Li P, Marchand-Austin A, Bombardier C, Marras TK: **Risk of mycobacterial infections associated with rheumatoid arthritis in Ontario, Canada**. *Chest* 2014, **146**(3):563-572.
- 193. Winthrop KL, Baxter R, Liu L, Varley CD, Curtis JR, Baddley JW, McFarland B, Austin D, Radcliffe L, Suhler E *et al*: **Mycobacterial diseases and antitumour necrosis factor therapy in USA**. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases* 2013, **72**(1):37-42.
- 194. Carmona L, Hernandez-Garcia C, Vadillo C, Pato E, Balsa A, Gonzalez-Alvaro I, Belmonte MA, Tena X, Sanmarti R: **Increased risk of tuberculosis in patients with rheumatoid arthritis**. *The Journal of rheumatology* 2003, **30**(7):1436-1439.
- 195. Thomas E, Brewster DH, Black RJ, Macfarlane GJ: **Risk of malignancy among patients with rheumatic conditions**. *Int J Cancer* 2000, **88**(3):497-502.
- 196. Winthrop KL, Siegel JN, Jereb J, Taylor Z, Iademarco MF: **Tuberculosis** associated with therapy against tumor necrosis factor alpha. *Arthritis Rheum* 2005, **52**(10):2968-2974.

- 197. Organisation WH: **Global Tuberculosis Report 2014**. In. World Health Organisation, Geneva, Switzerland; 2014.
- 198. Sakamoto K: **The pathology of Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection**. *Vet Pathol* 2012, **49**(3):423-439.
- 199. Barry CE, 3rd, Lee RE, Mdluli K, Sampson AE, Schroeder BG, Slayden RA, Yuan Y: **Mycolic acids: structure, biosynthesis and physiological functions**. *Prog Lipid Res* 1998, **37**(2-3):143-179.
- 200. Tiemersma EW, van der Werf MJ, Borgdorff MW, Williams BG, Nagelkerke NJ: Natural history of tuberculosis: duration and fatality of untreated pulmonary tuberculosis in HIV negative patients: a systematic review. *PLoS One* 2011, **6**(4):e17601.
- 201. Lin PL, Flynn JL: **Understanding latent tuberculosis: a moving target**. *J Immunol* 2010, **185**(1):15-22.
- 202. Fattorini L, Piccaro G, Mustazzolu A, Giannoni F: **Targeting Dormant Bacilli to Fight Tuberculosis**. *Mediterranean journal of hematology and infectious diseases* 2013, **5**(1):e2013072.
- 203. Honer zu Bentrup K, Russell DG: **Mycobacterial persistence: adaptation to a changing environment**. *Trends in microbiology* 2001, **9**(12):597-605.
- 204. Rohde KH, Veiga DF, Caldwell S, Balazsi G, Russell DG: Linking the transcriptional profiles and the physiological states of Mycobacterium tuberculosis during an extended intracellular infection. *PLoS pathogens* 2012, **8**(6):e1002769.
- 205. Kumar A, Toledo JC, Patel RP, Lancaster JR, Jr., Steyn AJ: Mycobacterium tuberculosis DosS is a redox sensor and DosT is a hypoxia sensor. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2007, 104(28):11568-11573.
- 206. Mariotti S, Pardini M, Gagliardi MC, Teloni R, Giannoni F, Fraziano M, Lozupone F, Meschini S, Nisini R: **Dormant Mycobacterium tuberculosis** fails to block phagosome maturation and shows unexpected capacity to stimulate specific human T lymphocytes. *J Immunol* 2013, 191(1):274-282.
- 207. Lin PL, Ford CB, Coleman MT, Myers AJ, Gawande R, Ioerger T, Sacchettini J, Fortune SM, Flynn JL: **Sterilization of granulomas is common in active and latent tuberculosis despite within-host variability in bacterial killing**. *Nat Med* 2014, **20**(1):75-79.
- 208. Russell DG: Mycobacterium tuberculosis: here today, and here tomorrow. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2001, **2**(8):569-577.
- 209. Elkington PT: **Tuberculosis: time for a new perspective?** *J Infect* 2013, **66**(4):299-302.
- 210. Smith I: Mycobacterium tuberculosis pathogenesis and molecular determinants of virulence. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 2003, **16**(3):463-496.
- 211. Yates RM, Hermetter A, Taylor GA, Russell DG: Macrophage activation downregulates the degradative capacity of the phagosome. *Traffic* 2007, 8(3):241-250.
- 212. Cambier CJ, Falkow S, Ramakrishnan L: Host evasion and exploitation schemes of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Cell* 2014, **159**(7):1497-1509.

- 213. Cosma CL, Sherman DR, Ramakrishnan L: **The secret lives of the pathogenic mycobacteria**. *Annual review of microbiology* 2003, **57**:641-676.
- 214. Frieden TR, Sterling TR, Munsiff SS, Watt CJ, Dye C: **Tuberculosis**. *Lancet* 2003, **362**(9387):887-899.
- 215. Nunes-Alves C, Booty MG, Carpenter SM, Jayaraman P, Rothchild AC, Behar SM: **In search of a new paradigm for protective immunity to TB**. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 2014, **12**(4):289-299.
- 216. Pieters J: Mycobacterium tuberculosis and the macrophage: maintaining a balance. *Cell Host Microbe* 2008, **3**(6):399-407.
- 217. Brennan PJ, Nikaido H: **The envelope of mycobacteria**. *Annual review of biochemistry* 1995, **64**:29-63.
- 218. Caron E, Hall A: Identification of two distinct mechanisms of phagocytosis controlled by different Rho GTPases. *Science* 1998, 282(5394):1717-1721.
- 219. Liu PT, Modlin RL: **Human macrophage host defense against Mycobacterium tuberculosis**. *Current opinion in immunology* 2008, **20**(4):371-376.
- 220. Mortaz E, Adcock IM, Tabarsi P, Masjedi MR, Mansouri D, Velayati AA, Casanova JL, Barnes PJ: Interaction of Pattern Recognition Receptors with Mycobacterium Tuberculosis. *Journal of clinical immunology* 2015, 35(1):1-10.
- 221. Hossain MM, Norazmi MN: Pattern recognition receptors and cytokines in Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection--the double-edged sword? *BioMed research international* 2013, **2013**:179174.
- 222. Brightbill HD, Libraty DH, Krutzik SR, Yang RB, Belisle JT, Bleharski JR, Maitland M, Norgard MV, Plevy SE, Smale ST *et al*: **Host defense mechanisms triggered by microbial lipoproteins through toll-like receptors**. *Science* 1999, **285**(5428):732-736.
- 223. Delbridge LM, O'Riordan MX: Innate recognition of intracellular bacteria. *Current opinion in immunology* 2007, **19**(1):10-16.
- 224. Wang J, Li BX, Ge PP, Li J, Wang Q, Gao GF, Qiu XB, Liu CH: **Mycobacterium tuberculosis suppresses innate immunity by coopting the host ubiquitin system**. *Nature immunology* 2015, **16**(3):237-245.
- 225. Schaible UE, Sturgill-Koszycki S, Schlesinger PH, Russell DG: Cytokine activation leads to acidification and increases maturation of Mycobacterium avium-containing phagosomes in murine macrophages. J Immunol 1998, 160(3):1290-1296.
- 226. MacMicking JD, North RJ, LaCourse R, Mudgett JS, Shah SK, Nathan CF: Identification of nitric oxide synthase as a protective locus against tuberculosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1997, **94**(10):5243-5248.
- 227. Vergne I, Chua J, Deretic V: **Tuberculosis toxin blocking phagosome maturation inhibits a novel Ca2+/calmodulin-PI3K hVPS34 cascade**. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 2003, **198**(4):653-659.
- 228. van der Wel N, Hava D, Houben D, Fluitsma D, van Zon M, Pierson J, Brenner M, Peters PJ: **M. tuberculosis and M. leprae translocate from the**

phagolysosome to the cytosol in myeloid cells. *Cell* 2007, **129**(7):1287-1298.

- 229. Leemans JC, Juffermans NP, Florquin S, van Rooijen N, Vervoordeldonk MJ, Verbon A, van Deventer SJ, van der Poll T: Depletion of alveolar macrophages exerts protective effects in pulmonary tuberculosis in mice. J Immunol 2001, 166(7):4604-4611.
- 230. Leemans JC, Thepen T, Weijer S, Florquin S, van Rooijen N, van de Winkel JG, van der Poll T: Macrophages play a dual role during pulmonary tuberculosis in mice. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2005, **191**(1):65-74.
- 231. Jordao L, Vieira OV: **Tuberculosis: new aspects of an old disease**. *Int J Cell Biol* 2011, **2011**:403623.
- 232. Gutierrez MG, Master SS, Singh SB, Taylor GA, Colombo MI, Deretic V: Autophagy is a defense mechanism inhibiting BCG and Mycobacterium tuberculosis survival in infected macrophages. *Cell* 2004, **119**(6):753-766.
- 233. Singh SB, Davis AS, Taylor GA, Deretic V: **Human IRGM induces autophagy to eliminate intracellular mycobacteria**. *Science* 2006, **313**(5792):1438-1441.
- 234. Zhang L, Zhang H, Zhao Y, Mao F, Wu J, Bai B, Xu Z, Jiang Y, Shi C: Effects of Mycobacterium tuberculosis ESAT-6/CFP-10 fusion protein on the autophagy function of mouse macrophages. DNA Cell Biol 2012, 31(2):171-179.
- 235. Romagnoli A, Etna MP, Giacomini E, Pardini M, Remoli ME, Corazzari M, Falasca L, Goletti D, Gafa V, Simeone R *et al*: **ESX-1 dependent impairment of autophagic flux by Mycobacterium tuberculosis in human dendritic cells**. *Autophagy* 2012, **8**(9):1357-1370.
- 236. Tan T, Lee WL, Alexander DC, Grinstein S, Liu J: **The ESAT-6/CFP-10** secretion system of Mycobacterium marinum modulates phagosome maturation. *Cellular microbiology* 2006, **8**(9):1417-1429.
- 237. Guo S, Xue R, Li Y, Wang SM, Ren L, Xu JJ: **The CFP10/ESAT6 complex of Mycobacterium tuberculosis may function as a regulator of macrophage cell death at different stages of tuberculosis infection**. *Med Hypotheses* 2012, **78**(3):389-392.
- 238. Flynn JL, Chan J: **Immunology of tuberculosis**. *Annual review of immunology* 2001, **19**:93-129.
- 239. Schluger NW, Rom WN: **The host immune response to tuberculosis**. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1998, **157**(3 Pt 1):679-691.
- 240. Baena A, Porcelli SA: **Evasion and subversion of antigen presentation by Mycobacterium tuberculosis**. *Tissue antigens* 2009, **74**(3):189-204.
- 241. Caruso AM, Serbina N, Klein E, Triebold K, Bloom BR, Flynn JL: Mice deficient in CD4 T cells have only transiently diminished levels of IFN-gamma, yet succumb to tuberculosis. *J Immunol* 1999, **162**(9):5407-5416.
- 242. Mogues T, Goodrich ME, Ryan L, LaCourse R, North RJ: **The relative importance of T cell subsets in immunity and immunopathology of airborne Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection in mice**. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 2001, **193**(3):271-280.

- 243. Scanga CA, Mohan VP, Yu K, Joseph H, Tanaka K, Chan J, Flynn JL: **Depletion** of CD4(+) T cells causes reactivation of murine persistent tuberculosis despite continued expression of interferon gamma and nitric oxide synthase 2. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 2000, **192**(3):347-358.
- 244. Flory CM, Hubbard RD, Collins FM: **Effects of in vivo T lymphocyte subset depletion on mycobacterial infections in mice**. *Journal of leukocyte biology* 1992, **51**(3):225-229.
- 245. Lin PL, Rutledge T, Green AM, Bigbee M, Fuhrman C, Klein E, Flynn JL: CD4 T cell depletion exacerbates acute Mycobacterium tuberculosis while reactivation of latent infection is dependent on severity of tissue depletion in cynomolgus macaques. *AIDS research and human retroviruses* 2012, 28(12):1693-1702.
- 246. Yao S, Huang D, Chen CY, Halliday L, Wang RC, Chen ZW: **CD4+ T cells contain early extrapulmonary tuberculosis (TB) dissemination and rapid TB progression and sustain multieffector functions of CD8+ T and CD3- lymphocytes: mechanisms of CD4+ T cell immunity**. *J Immunol* 2014, **192**(5):2120-2132.
- 247. Lazarevic V, Flynn J: **CD8+ T cells in tuberculosis**. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2002, **166**(8):1116-1121.
- 248. Kamath AB, Woodworth J, Xiong X, Taylor C, Weng Y, Behar SM: **Cytolytic CD8+ T cells recognizing CFP10 are recruited to the lung after Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection**. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 2004, **200**(11):1479-1489.
- 249. Stenger S, Mazzaccaro RJ, Uyemura K, Cho S, Barnes PF, Rosat JP, Sette A, Brenner MB, Porcelli SA, Bloom BR *et al*: **Differential effects of cytolytic T cell subsets on intracellular infection**. *Science* 1997, **276**(5319):1684-1687.
- 250. Stenger S, Hanson DA, Teitelbaum R, Dewan P, Niazi KR, Froelich CJ, Ganz T, Thoma-Uszynski S, Melian A, Bogdan C *et al*: **An antimicrobial activity of cytolytic T cells mediated by granulysin**. *Science* 1998, **282**(5386):121-125.
- 251. Serbina NV, Lazarevic V, Flynn JL: **CD4(+) T** cells are required for the development of cytotoxic CD8(+) **T** cells during Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. *J Immunol* 2001, **167**(12):6991-7000.
- 252. Cooper AM: **Cell-mediated immune responses in tuberculosis**. *Annual review of immunology* 2009, **27**:393-422.
- 253. Hussain Bhat K, Mukhopadhyay S: Macrophage takeover and the hostbacilli interplay during tuberculosis. *Future microbiology* 2015, 10(5):853-872.
- 254. Jasenosky LD, Scriba TJ, Hanekom WA, Goldfeld AE: **T cells and adaptive immunity to Mycobacterium tuberculosis in humans**. *Immunological reviews* 2015, **264**(1):74-87.
- 255. Harari A, Rozot V, Enders FB, Perreau M, Stalder JM, Nicod LP, Cavassini M, Calandra T, Blanchet CL, Jaton K *et al*: **Dominant TNF-alpha+ Mycobacterium tuberculosis-specific CD4+ T cell responses discriminate between latent infection and active disease**. *Nat Med* 2011, **17**(3):372-376.

- 256. Pollock KM, Whitworth HS, Montamat-Sicotte DJ, Grass L, Cooke GS, Kapembwa MS, Kon OM, Sampson RD, Taylor GP, Lalvani A: T-cell immunophenotyping distinguishes active from latent tuberculosis. The Journal of infectious diseases 2013, 208(6):952-968.
- 257. Day CL, Abrahams DA, Lerumo L, Janse van Rensburg E, Stone L, O'Rie T, Pienaar B, de Kock M, Kaplan G, Mahomed H *et al*: **Functional capacity of Mycobacterium tuberculosis-specific T cell responses in humans is associated with mycobacterial load**. *J Immunol* 2011, **187**(5):2222-2232.
- 258. Jouanguy E, Doffinger R, Dupuis S, Pallier A, Altare F, Casanova JL: **IL-12** and **IFN-gamma in host defense against mycobacteria and salmonella in mice and men**. *Current opinion in immunology* 1999, **11**(3):346-351.
- 259. Takeda K, Kawai T, Nakazawa Y, Komuro H, Shoji K, Morita K, Katsuta T, Yamamoto M, Miyairi I, Ohya Y *et al*: **Augmentation of antitubercular therapy with IFNgamma in a patient with dominant partial IFNgamma receptor 1 deficiency**. *Clin Immunol* 2014, **151**(1):25-28.
- 260. Patel SY, Ding L, Brown MR, Lantz L, Gay T, Cohen S, Martyak LA, Kubak B, Holland SM: Anti-IFN-gamma autoantibodies in disseminated nontuberculous mycobacterial infections. J Immunol 2005, 175(7):4769-4776.
- 261. Cooper AM, Dalton DK, Stewart TA, Griffin JP, Russell DG, Orme IM: **Disseminated tuberculosis in interferon gamma gene-disrupted mice**. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 1993, **178**(6):2243-2247.
- 262. Herbst S, Schaible UE, Schneider BE: Interferon gamma activated macrophages kill mycobacteria by nitric oxide induced apoptosis. *PLoS One* 2011, 6(5):e19105.
- 263. Newport MJ, Awomoyi AA, Blackwell JM: Polymorphism in the interferon-gamma receptor-1 gene and susceptibility to pulmonary tuberculosis in The Gambia. *Scandinavian journal of immunology* 2003, 58(4):383-385.
- 264. Jouanguy E, Lamhamedi-Cherradi S, Lammas D, Dorman SE, Fondaneche MC, Dupuis S, Doffinger R, Altare F, Girdlestone J, Emile JF *et al*: A human IFNGR1 small deletion hotspot associated with dominant susceptibility to mycobacterial infection. *Nat Genet* 1999, **21**(4):370-378.
- 265. Dorman SE, Holland SM: **Mutation in the signal-transducing chain of the interferon-gamma receptor and susceptibility to mycobacterial infection**. *J Clin Invest* 1998, **101**(11):2364-2369.
- 266. Carlos D, Frantz FG, Souza-Junior DA, Jamur MC, Oliver C, Ramos SG, Quesniaux VF, Ryffel B, Silva CL, Bozza MT *et al*: **TLR2-dependent mast cell activation contributes to the control of Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection**. *Microbes and infection / Institut Pasteur* 2009, **11**(8-9):770-778.
- 267. Geldmacher C, Zumla A, Hoelscher M: Interaction between HIV and Mycobacterium tuberculosis: HIV-1-induced CD4 T-cell depletion and the development of active tuberculosis. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* 2012, 7(3):268-275.
- 268. Saraiva M, O'Garra A: **The regulation of IL-10 production by immune cells**. *Nature reviews Immunology* 2010, **10**(3):170-181.

- 269. Beamer GL, Flaherty DK, Assogba BD, Stromberg P, Gonzalez-Juarrero M, de Waal Malefyt R, Vesosky B, Turner J: Interleukin-10 promotes Mycobacterium tuberculosis disease progression in CBA/J mice. J Immunol 2008, 181(8):5545-5550.
- 270. McNab FW, Ewbank J, Howes A, Moreira-Teixeira L, Martirosyan A, Ghilardi N, Saraiva M, O'Garra A: **Type I IFN induces IL-10 production in an IL-27independent manner and blocks responsiveness to IFN-gamma for production of IL-12 and bacterial killing in Mycobacterium tuberculosis-infected macrophages**. *J Immunol* 2014, **193**(7):3600-3612.
- 271. Moore KW, de Waal Malefyt R, Coffman RL, O'Garra A: **Interleukin-10 and the interleukin-10 receptor**. *Annual review of immunology* 2001, **19**:683-765.
- 272. Gazzinelli RT, Oswald IP, James SL, Sher A: **IL-10 inhibits parasite killing and nitrogen oxide production by IFN-gamma-activated macrophages**. *J Immunol* 1992, **148**(6):1792-1796.
- 273. Redpath S, Ghazal P, Gascoigne NR: **Hijacking and exploitation of IL-10 by intracellular pathogens**. *Trends in microbiology* 2001, **9**(2):86-92.
- 274. O'Leary S, O'Sullivan MP, Keane J: **IL-10 blocks phagosome maturation in mycobacterium tuberculosis-infected human macrophages**. *American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology* 2011, **45**(1):172-180.
- 275. Cilfone NA, Ford CB, Marino S, Mattila JT, Gideon HP, Flynn JL, Kirschner DE, Linderman JJ: **Computational modeling predicts IL-10 control of lesion sterilization by balancing early host immunity-mediated antimicrobial responses with caseation during mycobacterium tuberculosis infection**. *J Immunol* 2015, **194**(2):664-677.
- 276. Wallis RS, Amir-Tahmasseb M, Ellner JJ: **Induction of interleukin 1 and tumor necrosis factor by mycobacterial proteins: the monocyte western blot**. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1990, **87**(9):3348-3352.
- 277. Flynn JL, Goldstein MM, Chan J, Triebold KJ, Pfeffer K, Lowenstein CJ, Schreiber R, Mak TW, Bloom BR: **Tumor necrosis factor-alpha is required in the protective immune response against Mycobacterium tuberculosis in mice.** *Immunity* 1995, **2**(6):561-572.
- 278. Keane J, Shurtleff B, Kornfeld H: **TNF-dependent BALB/c murine** macrophage apoptosis following Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection inhibits bacillary growth in an IFN-gamma independent manner. *Tuberculosis (Edinb)* 2002, **82**(2-3):55-61.
- 279. Algood HM, Lin PL, Yankura D, Jones A, Chan J, Flynn JL: **TNF influences chemokine expression of macrophages in vitro and that of CD11b+ cells in vivo during Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection**. *J Immunol* 2004, **172**(11):6846-6857.
- 280. Saunders BM, Frank AA, Orme IM: Granuloma formation is required to contain bacillus growth and delay mortality in mice chronically infected with Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Immunology* 1999, 98(3):324-328.
- 281. Schreiber T, Ehlers S, Aly S, Holscher A, Hartmann S, Lipp M, Lowe JB, Holscher C: **Selectin ligand-independent priming and maintenance of T**

cell immunity during airborne tuberculosis. *J Immunol* 2006, **176**(2):1131-1140.

- 282. Lin PL, Myers A, Smith L, Bigbee C, Bigbee M, Fuhrman C, Grieser H, Chiosea I, Voitenek NN, Capuano SV *et al*: **Tumor necrosis factor neutralization results in disseminated disease in acute and latent Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection with normal granuloma structure in a cynomolgus macaque model**. *Arthritis Rheum* 2010, **62**(2):340-350.
- 283. Egen JG, Rothfuchs AG, Feng CG, Winter N, Sher A, Germain RN: Macrophage and T cell dynamics during the development and disintegration of mycobacterial granulomas. *Immunity* 2008, 28(2):271-284.
- 284. Roach DR, Bean AGD, Demangel C, France MP, Briscoe H, Britton WJ: **TNF** regulates chemokine induction essential for cell recruitment, granuloma formation, and clearance of mycobacterial infection. *Journal of Immunology* 2002, **168**(9):4620-4627.
- 285. Bean AGD, Roach DR, Briscoe H, France MP, Korner H, Sedgwick JD, Britton WJ: Structural Deficiencies in Granuloma Formation in TNF Gene-Targeted Mice Underlie the Heightened Susceptibility to Aerosol Mycobacterium tuberculosis Infection, Which Is Not Compensated for by Lymphotoxin. *The Journal of Immunology* 1999, **162**:3504-3511.
- 286. Tsenova L, O'Brien P, Holloway J, Peixoto B, Soteropoulos P, Fallows D, Kaplan G, Subbian S: **Etanercept exacerbates inflammation and pathology in a rabbit model of active pulmonary tuberculosis**. *Journal of interferon & cytokine research : the official journal of the International Society for Interferon and Cytokine Research* 2014, **34**(9):716-726.
- 287. Kindler V, Sappino AP, Grau GE, Piguet PF, Vassalli P: **The inducing role of tumor necrosis factor in the development of bactericidal granulomas during BCG infection**. *Cell* 1989, **56**(5):731-740.
- 288. Chakravarty SD, Zhu G, Tsai MC, Mohan VP, Marino S, Kirschner DE, Huang L, Flynn J, Chan J: **Tumor necrosis factor blockade in chronic murine tuberculosis enhances granulomatous inflammation and disorganizes granulomas in the lungs**. *Infect Immun* 2008, **76**(3):916-926.
- 289. Mohan VP, Scanga CA, Yu K, Scott HM, Tanaka KE, Tsang E, Tsai MM, Flynn JL, Chan J: Effects of tumor necrosis factor alpha on host immune response in chronic persistent tuberculosis: possible role for limiting pathology. *Infect Immun* 2001, 69(3):1847-1855.
- 290. Clay H, Volkman HE, Ramakrishnan L: **Tumor necrosis factor signaling** mediates resistance to mycobacteria by inhibiting bacterial growth and macrophage death. *Immunity* 2008, **29**(2):283-294.
- 291. Algood HM, Lin PL, Flynn JL: **Tumor necrosis factor and chemokine interactions in the formation and maintenance of granulomas in tuberculosis.** Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America 2005, **41 Suppl 3**:S189-193.
- 292. Saliu O, Sofer C, Stein DS, Schwander SK, Wallis RS: **Tumor-Necrosis-Factor Blockers: Differential Effects on Mycobacterial Immunity**. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 2006, **194**:486-492.
- 293. Hamdi H, Mariette X, Godot V, Weldingh K, Hamid AM, Prejean M-V, Baron G, Lemann M, Puechal X, Breban M *et al*: **Inhibition of anti-tuberculosis T-**

lymphocyte function with tumour necrosis factor antagonists. *Arthritis Research and Therapy* 2006, **8**(4).

- 294. Bruns H, Meinken C, Schauenberg P, Harter G, Kern P, Modlin RL, Antoni C, Stenger S: **Anti-TNF immunotherapy reduces CD8+ T cell-mediated antimicrobial activity against Mycobacterium tuberculosis in humans**. *J Clin Invest* 2009, **119**:1167-1177.
- 295. Kapoor N, Pawar S, Sirakova TD, Deb C, Warren WL, Kolattukudy PE: **Human granuloma in vitro model, for TB dormancy and resuscitation**. *PLoS One* 2013, **8**(1):e53657.
- 296. Chan J, Xing Y, Magliozzo RS, Bloom BR: **Killing of virulent Mycobacterium tuberculosis by reactive nitrogen intermediates produced by activated murine macrophages**. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 1992, **175**(4):1111-1122.
- 297. Lee PP, Chan KW, Jiang L, Chen T, Li C, Lee TL, Mak PH, Fok SF, Yang X, Lau YL: **Susceptibility to mycobacterial infections in children with X-linked chronic granulomatous disease: a review of 17 patients living in a region endemic for tuberculosis**. *The Pediatric infectious disease journal* 2008, **27**(3):224-230.
- 298. Roca FJ, Ramakrishnan L: **TNF dually mediates resistance and** susceptibility to mycobacteria via mitochondrial reactive oxygen species. *Cell* 2013, **153**(3):521-534.
- 299. Tobin DM, Vary JC, Jr., Ray JP, Walsh GS, Dunstan SJ, Bang ND, Hagge DA, Khadge S, King MC, Hawn TR *et al*: **The lta4h locus modulates susceptibility to mycobacterial infection in zebrafish and humans**. *Cell* 2010, **140**(5):717-730.
- 300. Tsenova L, Bergtold A, Freedman VH, Young RA, Kaplan G: **Tumor necrosis factor alpha is a determinant of pathogenesis and disease progression in mycobacterial infection in the central nervous system**. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1999, **96**(10):5657-5662.
- 301. Flynn JL, Chan J, Lin PL: Macrophages and control of granulomatous inflammation in tuberculosis. *Mucosal immunology* 2011, **4**(3):271-278.
- 302. Bekker LG, Moreira AL, Bergtold A, Freeman S, Ryffel B, Kaplan G: Immunopathologic effects of tumor necrosis factor alpha in murine mycobacterial infection are dose dependent. *Infect Immun* 2000, 68(12):6954-6961.
- 303. Ehlers S, Benini J, Held HD, Roeck C, Alber G, Uhlig S: Alphabeta T cell receptor-positive cells and interferon-gamma, but not inducible nitric oxide synthase, are critical for granuloma necrosis in a mouse model of mycobacteria-induced pulmonary immunopathology. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 2001, **194**(12):1847-1859.
- 304. Newton SM, Mackie SL, Martineau AR, Wilkinson KA, Kampmann B, Fisher C, Dutta S, Levin M, Wilkinson RJ, Pasvol G: **Reduction of chemokine** secretion in response to mycobacteria in infliximab-treated patients. *Clinical and Vaccine Immunology* 2008, **15**(3):506-512.
- 305. Wallis RS, Broder M, Wong J, Lee A, Hoq L: **Reactivation of latent** granulomatous infections by infliximab. *Clinical infectious diseases : an*

official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America 2005, **41** Suppl 3:S194-198.

- 306. Ormerod LP, Milburn HJ, Gillespie S, Ledingham J, Rampton D: **BTS** recommendations for assessing risk and for managing Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection and disease in patients due to start anti-TNF-a treatment. *Thorax* 2005, **60**:800-805.
- 307. Ehlers S: Role of tumour necrosis factor (TNF) in host defence against tuberculosis: implications for immunotherapies targeting TNF. Annals of the rheumatic diseases 2003, 62 Suppl 2:ii37-42.
- 308. Chain B, Bowen H, Hammond J, Posch W, Rasaiyaah J, Tsang J, Noursadeghi M: Error, reproducibility and sensitivity: a pipeline for data processing of Agilent oligonucleotide expression arrays. *BMC bioinformatics* 2010, 11:344.
- 309. Bell LC, Pollara G, Pascoe M, Tomlinson GS, Lehloenya RJ, Roe J, Meldau R, Miller RF, Ramsay A, Chain BM *et al*: In Vivo Molecular Dissection of the Effects of HIV-1 in Active Tuberculosis. *PLoS pathogens* 2016, 12(3):e1005469.
- 310. Pollara G, Murray MJ, Heather JM, Byng-Maddick R, Guppy N, Ellis M, Turner CT, Chain BM, Noursadeghi M: Validation of Immune Cell Modules in Multicellular Transcriptomic Data. *PLoS One* 2017, **12**(1):e0169271.
- 311. Nograles KE, Zaba LC, Guttman-Yassky E, Fuentes-Duculan J, Suarez-Farinas M, Cardinale I, Khatcherian A, Gonzalez J, Pierson KC, White TR *et al*: **Th17** cytokines interleukin (IL)-17 and IL-22 modulate distinct inflammatory and keratinocyte-response pathways. *The British journal* of dermatology 2008, **159**(5):1092-1102.
- 312. Zaba LC, Suarez-Farinas M, Fuentes-Duculan J, Nograles KE, Guttman-Yassky E, Cardinale I, Lowes MA, Krueger JG: Effective treatment of psoriasis with etanercept is linked to suppression of IL-17 signaling, not immediate response TNF genes. *The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology* 2009, **124**(5):1022-1010 e1021-1395.
- 313. Tomlinson GS, Bell LC, Walker NF, Tsang J, Brown JS, Breen R, Lipman M, Katz DR, Miller RF, Chain BM *et al*: **HIV-1 infection of macrophages dysregulates innate immune responses to Mycobacterium tuberculosis by inhibition of interleukin-10**. J Infect Dis 2014, **209**(7):1055-1065.
- 314. Tomlinson GS, Booth H, Petit SJ, Potton E, Towers GJ, Miller RF, Chain BM, Noursadeghi M: Adherent human alveolar macrophages exhibit a transient pro-inflammatory profile that confounds responses to innate immune stimulation. *PLoS One* 2012, **7**(6):e40348.
- 315. Penuelas-Urquides K, Villarreal-Trevino L, Silva-Ramirez B, Rivadeneyra-Espinoza L, Said-Fernandez S, de Leon MB: **Measuring of Mycobacterium tuberculosis growth. A correlation of the optical measurements with colony forming units**. *Braz J Microbiol* 2013, **44**(1):287-289.
- 316. Doran MF, Crowson CS, Pond GR, O'Fallon WM, Gabriel SE: **Frequency of infection in patient with rheumatoid arthritis compared with controls: a populations-based study**. *Arthritis and Rheumatism* 2002, **46**(9):2287-2293.

- 317. Watson K, Hyrich K: **The role of the British Society for Rheumatology Biologics Register (BSRBR) and the NICE guidelines for anti-TNF therapy**. *Musculoskeletal Care* 2003, **1**(1):58-64.
- 318. Gomez-Reino JJ, Carmona L, Angel Descalzo M: **Risk of tuberculosis in** patients treated with tumor necrosis factor antagonists due to incomplete prevention of reactivation of latent infection. *Arthritis Rheum* 2007, **57**(5):756-761.
- 319. Carmona L, Gomez-Reino JJ, Rodriguez-Valverde V, Montero D, Pascual-Gomez E, Mola EM, Carreno L, Figueroa M: Effectiveness of recommendations to prevent reactivation of latent tuberculosis infection in patients treated with tumor necrosis factor antagonists. *Arthritis Rheum* 2005, **52**(6):1766-1772.
- 320. Kisacik B, Pamuk ON, Onat AM, Erer SB, Hatemi G, Ozguler Y, Pehlivan Y, Kilic L, Ertenli I, Can M *et al*: **Characteristics Predicting Tuberculosis Risk under Tumor Necrosis Factor-alpha Inhibitors: Report from a Large Multicenter Cohort with High Background Prevalence**. *The Journal of rheumatology* 2016, **43**(3):524-529.
- 321. Galloway JB, Hyrich KL, Mercer LK, Dixon WG, Fu B, Ustianowski AP, Watson KD, Lunt M, Symmons DP, Consortium BCC *et al*: **Anti-TNF therapy** is associated with an increased risk of serious infections in patients with rheumatoid arthritis especially in the first 6 months of treatment: updated results from the British Society for Rheumatology Biologics Register with special emphasis on risks in the elderly. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 2011, **50**(1):124-131.
- 322. Musellim B, Erturan S, Sonmez Duman E, Ongen G: **Comparison of extrapulmonary and pulmonary tuberculosis cases: factors influencing the site of reactivation**. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2005, **9**(11):1220-1223.
- 323. Kruijshaar ME, Abubakar I: Increase in extrapulmonary tuberculosis in England and Wales 1999-2006. *Thorax* 2009, 64(12):1090-1095.
- 324. **Tuberculosis in England 2105 report: presenting data to end of 2014**. In. Public Helath England; 2015.
- 325. Lee JW, Choi CH, Park JH, Kim JW, Kang SB, Koo JS, Kim YH, Kim YS, Joo YE, Chang SK: **Clinical features of active tuberculosis that developed during anti-tumor necrosis factor therapy in patients with inflammatory bowel disease**. *Intest Res* 2016, **14**(2):146-151.
- 326. Munoz L, Casas S, Juanola X, Bordas X, Martinez C, Santin M: **Prevention of** anti-tumor necrosis factor-associated tuberculosis: a 10-year longitudinal cohort study. *Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America* 2015, **60**(3):349-356.
- 327. Salmon-Ceron D, Tubach F, Lortholary O, Chosidow O, Bretagne S, Nicolas N, Cuillerier E, Fautrel B, Michelet C, Morel J *et al*: **Drug-specific risk of nontuberculosis opportunistic infections in patients receiving anti-TNF therapy reported to the 3-year prospective French RATIO registry**. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases* 2011, **70**(4):616-623.
- 328. Wallis RS, Broder MS, Wong JY, Hanson ME, Beenhouwer DO: Granulomatous infectious diseases associated with tumor necrosis
factor antagonists. *Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America* 2004, **38**(9):1261-1265.

- 329. Chen DY, Shen GH, Chen YM, Chen HH, Hsieh CW, Lan JL: **Biphasic** emergence of active tuberculosis in rheumatoid arthritis patients receiving TNFalpha inhibitors: the utility of IFNgamma assay. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases* 2012, **71**(2):231-237.
- 330. Braun MM, Byers RH, Heyward WL, Ciesielski CA, Bloch AB, Berkelman RL, Snider DE: Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome and extrapulmonary tuberculosis in the United States. Archives of internal medicine 1990, 150(9):1913-1916.
- 331. Yang Z, Kong Y, Wilson F, Foxman B, Fowler AH, Marrs CF, Cave MD, Bates JH: **Identification of risk factors for extrapulmonary tuberculosis**. *Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America* 2004, **38**(2):199-205.
- 332. Peto HM, Pratt RH, Harrington TA, LoBue PA, Armstrong LR: **Epidemiology** of extrapulmonary tuberculosis in the United States, 1993-2006. *Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America* 2009, **49**(9):1350-1357.
- 333. Chan CK, Alvarez Bognar F, Wong KH, Leung CC, Tam CM, Chan KC, Ho CF, Chan WK, Mak IK: The epidemiology and clinical manifestations of human immunodeficiency virus-associated tuberculosis in Hong Kong. Hong Kong Med J 2010, 16(3):192-198.
- 334. Ergun I, Ekmekci Y, Sengul S, Kutlay S, Dede F, Canbakan B, Erbay B: **Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection in renal transplant recipients.** *Transplantation proceedings* 2006, **38**(5):1344-1345.
- 335. England PH: **Tuberculosis in England 2015 report: presenting data to end of 2014**. In.; 2015.
- 336. Schuerwegh AJ, Van Offel JF, Stevens WJ, Bridts CH, De Clerck LS: Influence of therapy with chimeric monoclonal tumour necrosis factor-alpha antibodies on intracellular cytokine profiles of T lymphocytes and monocytes in rheumatoid arthritis patients. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 2003, **42**(4):541-548.
- 337. van Crevel R, Ottenhoff TH, van der Meer JW: Innate immunity to Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 2002, **15**(2):294-309.
- 338. Plessner HL, Lin PL, Kohno T, Louie JS, Kirschner D, Chan J, Flynn JL: Neutralization of tumor necrosis factor (TNF) by antibody but not TNF receptor fusion molecule exacerbates chronic murine tuberculosis. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2007, **195**(11):1643-1650.
- 339. Tomlinson GS, Cashmore TJ, Elkington PTG, Yates J, Lehloenya RJ, Tsang J, Brown M, Miller R, Dheda K, Katz DR *et al*: **Transcriptional profiling of innate and adaptive human immune responses to mycobacteria in the tuberculin skin test**. *European Journal of Immunology* 2011, **41**:3253-3260.
- 340. Dye C, Scheele S, Dolin P, Pathania V, Raviglione MC: **Consensus statement. Global burden of tuberculosis: estimated incidence, prevalence, and mortality by country. WHO Global Surveillance and Monitoring Project**. *JAMA* 1999, **282**(7):677-686.

- 341. Chaussabel D, Quinn C, Shen J, Patel P, Glaser C, Baldwin N, Stichweh D, Blankenship D, Li L, Munagala I *et al*: **A modular analysis framework for blood genomics studies: application to systemic lupus erythematosus**. *Immunity* 2008, **29**(1):150-164.
- 342. Kalliolias GD, Ivashkiv LB: **TNF biology, pathogenic mechanisms and emerging therapeutic strategies**. *Nature reviews Rheumatology* 2016, **12**(1):49-62.
- 343. Ishihara K, Hirano T: Molecular basis of the cell specificity of cytokine action. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2002, **1592**(3):281-296.
- 344. Kinne RW, Brauer R, Stuhlmuller B, Palombo-Kinne E, Burmester GR: **Macrophages in rheumatoid arthritis**. *Arthritis research* 2000, **2**(3):189-202.
- 345. Stuhlmuller B, Ungethum U, Scholze S, Martinez L, Backhaus M, Kraetsch HG, Kinne RW, Burmester GR: **Identification of known and novel genes in activated monocytes from patients with rheumatoid arthritis**. *Arthritis Rheum* 2000, **43**(4):775-790.
- 346. Tsai CL, Chen WC, Hsieh HL, Chi PL, Hsiao LD, Yang CM: **TNF-alpha induces** matrix metalloproteinase-9-dependent soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 release via TRAF2-mediated MAPKs and NF-kappaB activation in osteoblast-like MC3T3-E1 cells. *J Biomed Sci* 2014, 21:12.
- 347. Sandborn WJ, Hanauer SB, Katz S, Safdi M, Wolf DG, Baerg RD, Tremaine WJ, Johnson T, Diehl NN, Zinsmeister AR: **Etanercept for active Crohn's disease: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial**. *Gastroenterology* 2001, **121**(5):1088-1094.
- 348. Varley KE, Gertz J, Bowling KM, Parker SL, Reddy TE, Pauli-Behn F, Cross MK, Williams BA, Stamatoyannopoulos JA, Crawford GE *et al*: **Dynamic DNA methylation across diverse human cell lines and tissues**. *Genome research* 2013, **23**(3):555-567.
- 349. Aota K, Azuma M: Targeting TNF-alpha suppresses the production of MMP-9 in human salivary gland cells. *Arch Oral Biol* 2013, **58**(12):1761-1768.
- 350. Lesley R, Ramakrishnan L: Insights into early mycobacterial pathogenesis from the zebrafish. *Current opinion in microbiology* 2008, 11(3):277-283.
- 351. Kisich KO, Higgins M, Diamond G, Heifets L: **Tumor necrosis factor alpha** stimulates killing of Mycobacterium tuberculosis by human neutrophils. *Infect Immun* 2002, **70**(8):4591-4599.
- 352. Ciaramella A, Cavone A, Santucci MB, Amicosante M, Martino A, Auricchio G, Pucillo LP, Colizzi V, Fraziano M: **Proinflammatory cytokines in the course of Mycobacterium tuberculosis-induced apoptosis in monocytes/macrophages**. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2002, **186**(9):1277-1282.
- 353. Underhill DM, Ozinsky A, Smith KD, Aderem A: **Toll-like receptor-2 mediates mycobacteria-induced proinflammatory signaling in macrophages**. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1999, **96**(25):14459-14463.
- 354. Fenhalls G, Wong A, Bezuidenhout J, van Helden P, Bardin P, Lukey PT: In situ production of gamma interferon, interleukin-4, and tumor

necrosis factor alpha mRNA in human lung tuberculous granulomas. *Infect Immun* 2000, **68**(5):2827-2836.

- 355. Fratazzi C, Arbeit RD, Carini C, Balcewicz-Sablinska MK, Keane J, Kornfeld H, Remold HG: **Macrophage apoptosis in mycobacterial infections**. *Journal of leukocyte biology* 1999, **66**(5):763-764.
- 356. Spira A, Carroll JD, Liu G, Aziz Z, Shah V, Kornfeld H, Keane J: Apoptosis genes in human alveolar macrophages infected with virulent or attenuated Mycobacterium tuberculosis: a pivotal role for tumor necrosis factor. American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology 2003, 29(5):545-551.
- 357. Keane J, Balcewicz-Sablinska MK, Remold HG, Chupp GL, Meek BB, Fenton MJ, Kornfeld H: Infection by Mycobacterium tuberculosis promotes human alveolar macrophage apoptosis. *Infect Immun* 1997, **65**(1):298-304.
- 358. Denis M: Tumor necrosis factor and granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor stimulate human macrophages to restrict growth of virulent Mycobacterium avium and to kill avirulent M. avium: killing effector mechanism depends on the generation of reactive nitrogen intermediates. *Journal of leukocyte biology* 1991, **49**(4):380-387.
- 359. Kurtz S, McKinnon KP, Runge MS, Ting JP, Braunstein M: **The SecA2** secretion factor of Mycobacterium tuberculosis promotes growth in macrophages and inhibits the host immune response. *Infect Immun* 2006, **74**(12):6855-6864.
- 360. Reed MB, Domenech P, Manca C, Su H, Barczak AK, Kreiswirth BN, Kaplan G, Barry CE, 3rd: A glycolipid of hypervirulent tuberculosis strains that inhibits the innate immune response. *Nature* 2004, **431**(7004):84-87.
- 361. Olsen A, Chen Y, Ji Q, Zhu G, De Silva AD, Vilcheze C, Weisbrod T, Li W, Xu J, Larsen M et al: Targeting Mycobacterium tuberculosis Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha-Downregulating Genes for the Development of Antituberculous Vaccines. mBio 2016, 7(3).
- 362. Stanley SA, Raghavan S, Hwang WW, Cox JS: Acute infection and macrophage subversion by Mycobacterium tuberculosis require a specialized secretion system. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2003, **100**(22):13001-13006.
- 363. Harris J, Hope JC, Keane J: **Tumor necrosis factor blockers influence macrophage responses to Mycobacterium tuberculosis**. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2008, **198**(12):1842-1850.
- 364. Evans HG, Gullick NJ, Kelly S, Pitzalis C, Lord GM, Kirkham BW, Taams LS: In vivo activated monocytes from the site of inflammation in humans specifically promote Th17 responses. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2009, 106(15):6232-6237.
- 365. Carroll P, Schreuder LJ, Muwanguzi-Karugaba J, Wiles S, Robertson BD, Ripoll J, Ward TH, Bancroft GJ, Schaible UE, Parish T: **Sensitive detection of gene expression in mycobacteria under replicating and nonreplicating conditions using optimized far-red reporters**. *PLoS One* 2010, **5**(3):e9823.

- 366. van den Brande J, Hommes DW, Peppelenbosch MP: **Infliximab induced T lymphocyte apoptosis in Crohn's disease**. *The Journal of rheumatology Supplement* 2005, **74**:26-30.
- 367. Theus SA, Cave MD, Eisenach KD: Intracellular macrophage growth rates and cytokine profiles of Mycobacterium tuberculosis strains with different transmission dynamics. The Journal of infectious diseases 2005, 191(3):453-460.
- 368. Boechat N, Bouchonnet F, Bonay M, Grodet A, Pelicic V, Gicquel B, Hance AJ: Culture at high density improves the ability of human macrophages to control mycobacterial growth. *J Immunol* 2001, **166**(10):6203-6211.
- 369. Pathak S, Awuh JA, Leversen NA, Flo TH, Asjo B: **Counting mycobacteria in infected human cells and mouse tissue: a comparison between qPCR and CFU**. *PLoS One* 2012, **7**(4):e34931.
- 370. Kong Y, Yao H, Ren H, Subbian S, Cirillo SL, Sacchettini JC, Rao J, Cirillo JD: **Imaging tuberculosis with endogenous beta-lactamase reporter enzyme fluorescence in live mice**. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2010, **107**(27):12239-12244.
- 371. T M: Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival: application to proliferation and cytotoxicity assays. J Immunol Methods 1983, 65:55-63.
- 372. Andreesen R, Brugger W, Scheibenbogen C, Kreutz M, Leser HG, Rehm A, Lohr GW: **Surface phenotype analysis of human monocyte to macrophage maturation**. *Journal of leukocyte biology* 1990, **47**(6):490-497.
- 373. Vogel DY, Glim JE, Stavenuiter AW, Breur M, Heijnen P, Amor S, Dijkstra CD, Beelen RH: **Human macrophage polarization in vitro: maturation and activation methods compared**. *Immunobiology* 2014, **219**(9):695-703.
- 374. Akagawa KS: Functional heterogeneity of colony-stimulating factorinduced human monocyte-derived macrophages. International journal of hematology 2002, **76**(1):27-34.
- 375. Balcewicz-Sablinska MK, Keane J, Kornfeld H, Remold HG: **Pathogenic Mycobacterium tuberculosis evades apoptosis of host macrophages by release of TNF-R2, resulting in inactivation of TNF-alpha**. *J Immunol* 1998, **161**(5):2636-2641.
- 376. Roach TI, Barton CH, Chatterjee D, Blackwell JM: Macrophage activation: lipoarabinomannan from avirulent and virulent strains of Mycobacterium tuberculosis differentially induces the early genes cfos, KC, JE, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha. J Immunol 1993, 150(5):1886-1896.
- 377. Havell EA: **Evidence that tumor necrosis factor has an important role in antibacterial resistance**. *J Immunol* 1989, **143**(9):2894-2899.
- 378. Perez-Guzman C, Vargas MH, Torres-Cruz A, Villarreal-Velarde H: **Does** aging modify pulmonary tuberculosis?: A meta-analytical review. *Chest* 1999, **116**(4):961-967.
- 379. Dorken E, Grzybowski S, Allen EA: **Significance of the tuberculin test in the elderly**. *Chest* 1987, **92**(2):237-240.

- 380. Mulligan MS, Vaporciyan AA, Miyasaka M, Tamatani T, Ward PA: **Tumor necrosis factor alpha regulates in vivo intrapulmonary expression of ICAM-1**. *The American journal of pathology* 1993, **142**(6):1739-1749.
- 381. Bekker LG, Freeman S, Murray PJ, Ryffel B, Kaplan G: **TNF-alpha controls** intracellular mycobacterial growth by both inducible nitric oxide synthase-dependent and inducible nitric oxide synthase-independent pathways. *J Immunol* 2001, **166**(11):6728-6734.